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ABSTRACT

This thesis deals with the study of Indian Banking system in the post reforms phase. With the
onset of 2003, the Indian financial sector would be entering its 12th year of reforms. During
this decade, the reforms have touched upon almost every segment of the financial sector.
Strengthening of the financial sector and improving the functioning of financial markets can
be described as the core principles of financial sector reforms in India. The central plank is a
set of prudential norms that are aimed at imparting strength to banks and financial
institutions, and inducing greater accountability and market discipline. This study tries to
answer the fundamental question to what extent has the domestic impetus, i.e., financial-
sector policy reforms during the nineties, made banks in India more efficient? . It asses. 2s
whether the reform program has been successful so far in restructuring public-sector banks
and if so, what elements of the program have contributed. In what way has the reform
program affected the behavior of public-sector banks? To what extent have foreign and new
domestic banks contributed to the performance of the whole banking sector? Has India’s

gradual approach to the privatization of banks been successful? What policy implications can

we derive from India’s experience?

With the restructuring and consolidation being witnessed in the banking industry, it is Lut
natural that emphasis has shifted to newer parameters for analyzing banks performance. The
traditional method to benchmark efficiency in the banking sector through the ratio analysis of
different financial parameters like Return on Assets or Return on Investment which give one
dimensional, incomplete picture of the process and fail to account for the interaction and trade
off between the various parameters. Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) has been used in the
present study to measure efficiency performance of different banks. In the banking sector, it
has been applied to benchmark performance of different banks or study the efficiency
estimates of different branches of a particular bank. In the first test, to measure efficiency as
directly as possible, that is, management’s success in controlling costs and generating
revenues, two input and two output variables, namely, interest expenses, non-interest
expenses/operating expense (inputs) and net interest income/spread and non-interest income

(outputs) have been used. A second DEA analysis was run with deposits and staff numbers as
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known as Customer Relationship Management. The study looks in to the new possibilities
created in this arena by looking at the efforts being made by Indian banks to develop and

foster a life long relationship with their customers.

Finally, with the huge shifts in ground realities for the Indian banking industry with
liberalization and other developments, what does the future holds for banks is tried to be
visualized in the study. With particular reference to Indian banking sector, an attempt is made

to put in pieces a broad picture of the future of banking. Some future banking models are

forecasted.
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Chapter1
INTRODUCTION

1.1 MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS

Financial systems worldwide are undergoing structural transformation. Technological
innovation, deregulation of financial services at the national level, external financial
liberalization, and organizational changes in the corporate world are some of the global
factors driving the transformation. Banking and finance in emerging economies is also
caught up in this change. In these economies, in addition to global developments,
country-specific factors are motivating the structural shifts. Consequently, two separate
directions of reform are evident. There is an expansion of the financial system due to
vacation of policy interventions in entry, exit and operations, the application of new
advances in information technology and in general, a greater emphasis on competition
and market-based outcomes. Almost contemporaneously, there is a strong drive towards

consolidation in a quest for exploiting core competitiveness and for developing “niche”

strategies.

Indian banks have a chequered history. The British legacy left behind a host of large and
small privately held banks. The late 60s saw the nationalization of banks, leading to the
emergence of the public sector banks. The 90s saw the banking industry embracing
technology in a massive way, led in particular by the new private banks and foreign
banks. Among these series of technology innovations, Internet banking for the retail
segment is a recent phenomenon that has generated a lot of interest in the Indian banking
industry. Private and foreign banks have been the early adopters while the Public Sector
banks are also beginning to latch on to the bandwagon (Ram, 2002). In other words we
can say Indian banking is at cross roads today. Trite as it may sound, this characteristic is
perhaps, more valid today than before. The banking sector constitutes the core of the
Indian financial system, which has been subject to far reaching changes as an integral part

of the overall programme of economic reforms. Following the unprecedented crisis in mid

1991, a series of policy initiatives have been taken in the last 10 years which have come to

be collectively known as new economic policy. As part of the financial sector reforms,



prudential norms have been prescribed for banks and financial institutions. Moreover
phased provisioning for non-performing assets is strengthening banks. These reforms will
not only bring greater flexibility in operations for banks with respect to deployment of
resources but also bring greater transparency in operations and strengthen the balance

sheets of these organizations.

With the onset of 2003, the Indian financial sector would be entering its 12th year of
reforms. During this decade, the reforms have touched upon almost every segment of the
financial sector. Strengthening of the financial sector and improving the functioning of
financial markets can be described as the core principles of financial sector reforms in
India. The central plank is a set of prudential norms that are aimed at imparting strength
to banks and financial institutions, and inducing greater accountability and market
discipline. These norms include capital adequacy, asset classification and provisioning
and also accounting standards, exposure and disclosure norms and guidelines for
investment, risk management and asset-liability management (Jalan, 2002). Our approach
has been to benchmark our norms against international standards. Nevertheless, it is the
banking sector, which experienced major reforms. A retrospect of the events clearly
indicates that the Indian banking sector has come far away from the days of
nationalization. Increase in the number of banks due to the entry of new private and
foreign banks, increase in the transparency of the banks’ balance sheets through the

introduction of prudential norms and increase in the role of the market forces due to the



1.2 A DECADE AFTER REFORMS

The future of Indian Banking represents a unique mixture of unlimited opportunities
amidst insurmountable challenges. On the one hand we see the scenario represented by
the rapid process of globalization presently taking shape bringing the community of
nations in the world together, transcending geographical boundaries, in the sphere of
trade and commerce, and even employment opportunities of individuals. All these
indicate newly emerging opportunities for Indian Banking. But on the darker side we see
the accumulated morass, brought out by three decades of controlled and regimented
management of the banks in the past (Kannan, 2002). It has siphoned profitability of the
Government owned banks, accumulated bloated Non Performing Assets and threatens
capital adequacy of the banks and their continued stability. Nationalized banks are
heavily over-staffed. The recruitment, training, placement and promotion policies of the

banks leave much to be desired. In the nutshell the problem is how to shed the legacies of

the past and adopt to the demands of the new age.
On the brighter side are the opportunities on account of :

e The advent of economic reforms, the deregulation and opening of the Indian
economy to the global market, brings opportunities over a vast and unlimited
market to business and industry in our country, which directly brings added
opportunities to the banks.

e The advent of Reforms in the Financial & Banking Sectors (the first phase in
the year 1992 to 1995) and the second phase in 1998 heralds a new welcome
development to reshape and reorganize banking institutions to look forward
to the future with competence and confidence. The complete freeing of
Nationalized Banks (the major segment) from administered policies and
Government regulation in matters of day-to-day functioning heralds a new era
of self-governance and a scope for exercise of self-initiative for these banks.
There will be no more directed lending, pre-ordered interest rates, or

investment guidelines as per dictates of the Government or RBI. Banks are to



prudential norms have been prescribed for banks and financial institutions. Moreover
phased provisioning for non-performing assets is strengthening banks. These reforms will
not only bring greater flexibility in operations for banks with respect to deployment of
resources but also bring greater transparency in operations and strengthen the balance

sheets of these organizations.

With the onset of 2003, the Indian financial sector would be entering its 12th year of
reforms. During this decade, the reforms have touched upon almost every segment of the
financial sector. Strengthening of the financial sector and improving the functioning of
financial markets can be described as the core principles of financial sector reforms in
India. The central plank is a set of prudential norms that are aimed at imparting strength
to banks and financial institutions, and inducing greater accountability and market
discipline. These norms include capital adequacy, asset classification and provisioning
and also accounting standards, exposure and disclosure norms and guidelines for
investment, risk management and asset-liability management (Jalan, 2002). Our approach
has been to benchmark our norms against international standards. Nevertheless, it is the
banking sector, which experienced major reforms. A retrospect of the events clearly
indicates that the Indian banking sector has come far away from the days of
nationalization. Increase in the number of banks due to the entry of new private and
foreign banks, increase in the transparency of the banks’ balance sheets through the
introduction of prudential norms and increase in the role of the market forces due to the
deregulated interest rates have all significantly affected the operational environment of
the Indian banking sector. As the international standards became prevalent, banks had to
unlearn their traditional operational methods of directed credit, directed investments and
fixed interest rates, all of which led to deterioration in the quality of loan portfolios,
inadequacy of capital and the erosion of profitability. Gone are the days of directed credit

and directed investment, banks have now an entirely different game to play and their

success will be measured on realities.
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investment guidelines as per dictates of the Government or RBI. Banks are to



be managed by themselves, as independent corporate organizations, and not
as extensions of government departments.

e Acceptance of prudential norms with regards to Capital Adequacy, Income
Recognition and Provisioning are welcome measures of self regulation
intended to fine-tune growth and development of the banks. It introduces a
new transparency, and the balance sheets of banks now convey both their

strength and weakness. Capital Adequacy and provisioning norms are

intended to provide stability to the Banks and protect them in times of crisis.

These equally induce a measure of corporate accountability and responsibility

for good management on the part of the banks

e Large scale switching to hi-tech banking by Indian Scheduled Commercial

Banks (SCBs) through the application of Information Technology and
computerization of banking operations, will revolutionalise customer service.
The age-old method of ‘pen and ink’ systems is over. Banks now will have

more employees available for business development and customer service

freed from the needs of bookkeeping and for casting or tallying balances, as it

was earlier.

All these welcome changes towards competitive and constructive banking could not

however, deliver quick benefits on account insurmountable carried over problems of

the past three decades. The role of the public sector banks has come under close
scrutiny in the recent period. It is necessary to recognize that these banks have played
a critical role in the development of the Indian economy in the period 1969-90,
particularly in the spread of banking and monetisation of the economy; the
mobilization of savings and their allocation by plan priorities. For all economies in the
early and intermediate stages of development, credit markets face a persistent excess
demand, reflecting the existing resource constraints. Moreover, market processes can
well exclude the genuine credit needs of the weaker sections of society, which do not
have the competitive strength to bid for funds in the market for bank credit. Public

ownership in Indian banking was intended to address both concerns i.e., the rationing



of credit in the face of excess demand not cleared by the market, and the channeling of
bank credit flow to the economically disadvantaged sections of society. Since the 70s
the SCBs of India functioned totally as captive capsule units cut off from international
banking and unable to participate in the structural transformations, the sweeping
changes, and the new type of lending products emerging in the global banking
Institutions. Our banks are over-staffed. The personnel lack training and knowledge
resources required to compete with international players. The prevalence of
corruption in public services of which PSBs are an integral part and the chaotic
conditions in parts of the Indian Industry have resulted in the accumulation of non-
productive assets in an unprecedented level. The future of Indian Banking is
dependent on the success of its efforts as to how it shakes off these accumulated past
legacies and carried forward ailments and how it regenerates itself to avail the new

vistas of opportunities to be able to turn Indian Banking to International Standards.

(Kamesan, 2002).

1.3 STRUCTURAL CHANGES IN BANKING SYSTEM

With the restructuring and consolidation being witnessed in the banking industry, it is
but natural that emphasis has shifted to newer parameters for analyzing banks
performance. The traditional method to benchmark efficiency in the banking sector
was the ratio analysis of different financial parameters (like ROA or ROI). However,
these ratios give one dimensional, incomplete picture of the process and fail to account
for the interaction and trade off between the various parameters. Particularly, factors
like assets, profits, number of employees, customer satisfactions etc. are exiremely
important in identifying the productivity of a bank. Thus a multidimensional
perspective is essential and these financial ratios in many cases, ends up with self-
contradictory results and it is impossible to draw a meaningful conclusion. Data
Envelopment Analysis (DEA) has also been widely used to measure efficiency
performance of different financial institutions like banks, insurance, and mutual funds.

Particularly in the banking sector, it has been applied to benchmark performance of



different banks or study the efficiency estimates of different branches of a particular

bank. (Bhattacharya et. al, 1997).

Broadly efficiency in the financial sector is normally measured in terms of technical and
economic efficiency. Technical cfficiency (more common in Public sector banks) would
be where a bank minimizes its inputs given the outputs ie. trying to reduce its
operating expense to maintain its growth whereas Economic efficiency (more in Private
banks) involves maximizing output given the inputs i.e. trying to attain growth through
limited inputs employing superior technology and service standards. The entry of
private banks has changed the very definition of banking that have given a totally new
dimension to banks performance analysis. Being big could be actually a problem now if
you don’t follow modern practices. The point is, by merely using standard ratios for
banks analysis could sometime reach to false conclusions. More and more banks are
talking about Intermediation costs, employee and branch productivity, non-interest
income, and market capitalization to total income etc., parameters which were never
discussed a decade ago. There is a growing need to look into newer parameters and

techniques of analysis of banks to comment on efficiency and productivity.

1.4 TRANSPARENCY AND MARKET DISCIPLINE

There is now a wider appreciation that high quality financial reporting — described as
the ‘cornerstone of market discipline’ - is essential for the efficiency and stability of the
financial system. Structural changes underway in the financial system have only served
to raise the premium on market disclosure. Globalization has brought with it stringent
quality criteria as the emphasis is increasingly on comparability of information.
Financial innovations have made the interpretation of disclosures more difficult, testing
severely existing measurement techniques (Jalan, 2002). At the same time, availability of
information is vital since it is the basis on which perceptions and expectations are
formed, which ultimately drive markets and even business cycles. Information
conveyed by the balance sheet, income and cash flow statements is the bread and butter

of traditional accounting. Risk information is supplied primarily through



supplementary risk disclosures. Both are important for an efficient allocation of
resources and financial discipline. We have been intensifying ongoing efforts to make
the balance sheet and profit and loss accounts of banks more reflective of their true

financial health.

From March 2003 banks would be required to conform to Accounting Standards issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Banks are also required to make
additional disclosures in notes to accounts on risk features such as movement in
provisions held towards non-performing assets and depreciation of investments, capital
market exposures and loans subject to corporate debt restructuring. These requirements
are applicable to financial institutions as well. In the April, 2002 Monetary and Credit
Policy Statement banks have been required to announce the maximum spread over their
prime lending rates (PLR) along with their PLR announcements, the minimum and
maximum rates charged to borrowers, deposit rates, the effective annualized return to
the depositor and processing and service charges. These disclosures serve the interests
of customers, besides fostering healthy competition among banks. The Reserve Bank,

too, is expanding its disclosure to the markets, even while setting for itself exacting

standards of quality and timeliness.

L5 TECHNOLOGY, PAYMENT AND SETTLEMENT SYSTEM

Information technology is playing an active role in improving the productivity in all

spheres including panking. The information technology revolution has brought about a

fundamental transformation ushering in, as Alvin Toffler describes it, the fourth wave.

Perhaps no other sector has been affected by advances in technology as much as

banking and finance. It has become the most important factor for dealing with the

intensifying competition and the rapid proliferation of financial innovations. It has

enabled, in general, raising the efficiency of financial intermediation in the face of ever-

rising volumes of transactions, falling margins and more empowered customer

expectations. In particular, there are four or five key areas in which the financial system

has experienced the benefits of the technology revolution: product development, market



infrastructure, risk control and market reach. The interaction of technology with
globalization has contributed to the expansion of financial markets beyond national
borders, heralding the end of geography. In the process, technology has changed the
contours of three major functions of financial intermediaries: access to liquidity,

transformation of assets and monitoring of risks. (Jalan, 2002).

The world of banking has assumed a new dimension at the dawn of 215 century with
the advent of technology banking. The emerging electronic economy and computer
technology are causing a paradigm shift in the way businesses are done and banks are
increasingly leveraging technology for increasing their competitiveness through
product differentiation, price reduction and value addition from improvement in
speed and accuracy of transactions (Rangarajan, 2000). The need to introduce risk

management and the need to provide IT- enabled services to stay competitive in the

liberalized scenario, and the pressure on margins are forcing bank to look at

technology for increasing efficiency and also to beat competition in the dynamic

atmosphere. From the banks point of view, this development has enabled them to

view a customer across multiple channels like branch, Internet, ATM, call centers etc

and at the same time these self servicing channels would improve their bottom line as
the cost of electronic transaction is much less than a physical paper based transaction.

With competition increasing manifold, technology oriented service is a clear

differentiating factor that creates a sustained brand image.

Adequate security is a prerequisite for a modern, technology-intensive payment and

settlement system, especially one functioning in a highly networked environment.

Information Systems Audit is another area, which needs to be adequately addressed.

Some progress has been made in defining what we need but implementation would

require a system—wide collaboration to obtain the best results. It is with this objective

that the Reserve Bank has recently circulated the recommendations of its Working
Group on Information Systems Security for the Banking and Financial Sector among all
banks and financial institutions. Legal changes to deal with electronic data interchange

and legal wherewithal for participants in the payment system are on the anvil. These



changes are intended to enable the benchmarking of our payment and settlement
system against international standards such as the Core Principles for Systemically
Important Payment Systems of the Bank for International Settlements. The future of
banking and finance hinges around exploiting the opportunities thrown up by the

technology explosion. This requires the combined efforts of all participants in the

financial system. (Jalan, 2002)

1.6 THE NON PERFORMING ASSETS SAGA

It is imperative to have a look at some gloomy aspects of liberalization in banking .The
Non performing assets (NPAs) problem is one of the foremost and formidable problem
that has shaken the entire banking industry. At the macro level, NPAs have choked of
the supply line of credit to the potential borrowers, thereby having a deleterious effect
on capital formation and arresting the economic activity in the country. At the micro
level the unsustainable level of NPAs has eroded the profitability of banks through
reduced interests income and provisioning requirements, besides restricting the
recycling of funds leading to serious asset liability mismatches. The malady of high level
of NPAs is not confined to public sector banks alone, it is equally hammering the
bottom line of old as well as new generation private sector banks and foreign banks.
This is of particular concern because the private sector banks have been here only for a
decade and already they have accumulated huge level of NPAs; almost an average of
8% is the level of Net NPAs of private sector banks. NPAs of schedule commercial bank
totaled Rs.70, 904 crores as on March 31st 2002, which forms 10.4% of our gross bank
credit, about 15.75 % of our annual budget and 3% of our GDP (RBI Bulletin, 2001). It is
equivalent of our annual defence budget. The government and the banks had put in lots
of effort to address the serious problem posed by NPAs by setting up Debt Recovery
Tribunals and One Time Settlement Schemes but they did not go to the extent of solving
the problem. Just when things were reaching to a critical level the government came up
with a comprehensive piece of legislation called the Securitization Act. The act

empowers to change or takeover the management or even takes possession of secured



assets of borrowers and sell or lease out their assets. Can it really solve the NPA

problem for Indian banks remains to be seen.

1.7 CUSTOMER CENTRIC BANKING

Customer has always been at the center stage of any business organization. Its capacity
to keep the lifeline running of business houses can never be undermined. But, of late, as
an aftermath of opening up of economy and liberalization the customer is getting more
and more attention and focus of all businesses is now on customer's satisfaction. With
hot winds of competition blowing across the Indian banking industry, developing a
close, symbiotic relationship with customers has become highly important than ever
before. Banks have to come out with innovative measures to satisfy the needs of their
present customers, acquire new ones and at the same time adopt procedures to win
back the lost customers. This problem gets compounded as customer expectations for
quality, service and value are increasing rapidly on a continuous basis. Thanks to the
development of IT and Internet, which are changing the possibilities in terms of
customer contact, service and insight, today banks can aim at meeting this expectation
by adopting a strategy that is commonly known as Customer Relationship Management
(CRM). Banks can leverage on these new inventions of science to develop, design and
implement CRM strategies in their business processes. Most of the Indian banks are
now turning to CRM as they are increasingly realizing that the cost of acquiring new
customer is far higher than the cost of retaining existing ones. Their quest for more
effective ways to woo and retain customers ends with the implementation of CRM
models in their business practices. They no longer see CRM as an optional and

expensive add-on but as a ‘must’ to survive in this ever-increasing competitive market,

1.8 FUTURE OF BANKING
How should we look at the future of Indian Banking in the new millennium? One way

is to continue doing what we are doing now, but try and do it little better. The other and
more exciting challenge, is to set ourselves in pursuit of a more dynamic business model

which incorporates the current trends of multiple delivery channels and stresses on
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more cost effectiveness and customer relationships. The need for change in the banking
industry is clear. The onslaught of new technologies, increasing competition, and
evermore demanding customers are forcing retail banks to rethink their product
offerings and distribution channel designs. Banks are looking more towards alliances
and outsourcing. They need to outsource non-core operations and ally with partners to
maintain focus on core business, invest in new technologies to capture growth
opportunities and lower the cost of processing and shift to greater reliance on non-
interest income to decrease market cyclicality on earnings. To remain competitive in this
changing financial services landscape, banks must simultaneously increase their
product lines, add new delivery channels, develop more effective marketing systems
and enhance their service quality levels. Banks must look beyond traditional banking
products to expand and deepen customer relationships. Insurance and investment offer

bank significant opportunities to innovate along product and service dimension,

increasing customer retention and profitability.

1.9 OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY:
The present study primarily aims to analyze and evaluate the operations and

performance of private banks in India in the post liberalization era and through a study
of the technological innovations in the field of banking suggest an ideal banking model,

which will find it competitive in the New Millennium. The specific objectives of the

study are:

a) To assess the overall effect of banking reforms started in 1991 in India in terms of
quality of assets, revenue generation, capital adequacy, asset liability
management, cost and profitability and levels of technological advancements.

b) To make detailed comparative financial analysis of major public and private banks

in India in the post liberalization phase using various financial tools.
¢) To analyze the various technological developments that have taken place in the

last decade in the banking industry making banks look more customer friendly
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and the advent of on-line banking or virtual banking and its implications for the
existing physical banking structure.

d) To suggest a banking model which will incorporate all the changes that have taken
place or going to take place in the next decade. A model, which will be generally

replacing all the existing banking models and will lead to optimization of scarce

resources.

1.10 HYPOTHESES IN THE STUDY:
The hypotheses tested in this study follow from the objectives:

1. Indian banking industry has survived the challenges of liberalization through

restructuring, realignment and has performed more efficiently prior to

liberalization.

2. The private sector banks have outperformed their public sector counterparts
through better asset management, lower overheads and administrative costs which

in turn has lead to consistent performance way ahead of public sector banks.

3. The problem of NPA is more acute in Public sector banks than their counterparts in
the private sector and the various methods initiated by the government to solve this

menace has helped the banking sector in improving its bottom line.

4. Indian banks by and large are following and are likely to follow the paths of
adoption of new technology, extensive use of banking softwares, product

innovations, mergers etc in response to the changing environment.

5. The private sector banks and some public sector banks have joined the bandwagon
of internet banking and have begun offering various financial services to the
customers on line because they believe that internet banking is the cheapest mode

of banking and this alternative channel will improve their bottomlines.
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6. The customer has gradually become the most important person for a bank and
banks are going all out to woo them by using customer centric strategies and

technologies like CRM.

7. Given the drastic changes in the banking industry, traditional and existing models
of banking are finding themselves highly inadequate and there is a pressing need
to develop future models with more emphasis on technology, cost effectiveness,

customer retention, outsourcing and strategic alliances to leverage brand equity.

1.11 METHODOLOGY:

The research methodology to be adopted for the study is primarily based on
secondary data available from various sources including annual report of RBI on
banking, annual report of various private sector banks, web sites of major banks, other
economic and banking reports, journals and newspapers, sites on the net related with
banking like Indian Banking Association, National Institute of Bank Management,
RBI, Indiainfoline etc. Looking at the objective of the study, the processed data has to
be analyzed in detail by using various economic and financial parameters that are
more relevant in the modern competitive environment and are gaining wider
acceptability. The data collected have been analyzed using Statistical tools of
Regression Analysis and other linear programming techniques like (DEA) Data

Envelopment Analysis etc.

Although the required data for financial analysis of the private banks is widely
available and is mostly of secondary character in form of annual reports, Bulletins or
on the net but this information is not complete for detailed study or Research purpose

and other economic reports brought out by government, RBI, IBA, NIBM etc. have to

be referred to.
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1.12 CHAPTERISATION:
The study has been divided into the following chapters:

The first chapter is the Introduction, where we talk about the background of the

research, objectives and hypotheses being tested in the study.

In the second chapter, we take a general view of deregulation and integration of global
financial markets and its effects on the Indian Banking system in particular. The Indian
Banking sector has already witnessed a decade of financial reforms involving major
restructuring and consolidation since 1991 and with the onset of second generation of

reforms; attempt has been made to test the efficacy of reforms.

In the third chapter we go one step further down from where we left in the second
chapter and carry out a comprehensive performance analysis of major new generation
private sector banks in India, both on traditional and newer parameters. As already
discussed, with the change in the basic banking structure, it is no longer meaningful to
do performance analysis only on traditional parameters; an attempt is made to
introduce some newer parameters. We also try to compare private banks performance
with public sector banks and try to figure out who is the winner actually and in what

ways lessons can be learnt by each other’s performances.

After the efficacy and efficiency being analyzed, we start looking at some strategic

issues confronting the banking sector. In the fourth chapter we take a look at one of the

most serious problem confronting the banking industry in India, the issue of Non
Performing Assets. The growing menace of NPA, which is threatening every financial
system of the world and had badly crippled the efficiency of Indian banks also. We look

into some specific reasons, current 1ssues and the concepts of Asset Reconstruction
Company and the Securitization Act, 2002. Whether the private banks have fared better

than their public sector counterparts when it comes to NPA levels will also be analyzed.
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Information Technology (IT) has played a major role in shaping the future of major
industries and banking is no exception. In the fifth chapter the application and avenues
that IT has provided in the Indian Banking sector is highlighted. The advent of Internet
Banking, related issues, security concerns and what it means specifically in the Indian
context is discussed in detail. What is the status of Internet banking in India and why
are banks going for an additional channel is looked into through a survey. Is it really
profitable to go for an additional delivery channel and how to successfully integrate this
new channel in the current model and how to go around implementing a successful e

banking strategy has been discussed.

Lastly but not the least, the growing significance of the customer and reducing customer
loyalty has also thrown up lot of implications for banks as such. In the sixth chapter we
talk about how banks like most of the other industries have come to realize the
importance of the customer and how they are actually spending crores of rupees into
developing an effective CRM strategy. How CRM has completely revolutionized the
manner in which banking was done earlier, what does CRM means for Indian banks,

the cost factor and technology imperatives have been my issues of focus.

Indian Banking is passing through a transition phase with lots of restructuring and
reengineering going on every day. In the last chapter, we try to bring out the driving
forces behind these changes, which are forcing banks to rethink their strategy; we talk
about possible future banking scenarios and some emerging models that could be used
by Indian banks. With competition intensifying and development of newer delivery
channels and ever-demanding customer, there is a pressing need for banks to

restructure their system, develop appropriate survival strategies and help building a

more vibrant banking system.
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Chapter 2
IMPACT OF BANKING SECTOR REFORMS

2.1 INTRODUCTION & LITERATURE REVIEW

Strengthening financial systems has been one of the central issues facing emerging
markets and developing economies. This is because sound financial systems serve as an
important channel for achieving economic growth through the mobilization of financial
savings, putting them to productive use and transforming various risks (Loayza et. al,
1999; Rajan et. al, 1998; Demirgiig-Kunt et. al, 1998; Strahan et. al, 1996). Many countries
adopted a series of financial sector liberalization measures in the late 1980s and early
1990s that included interest rate liberalization, entry deregulations, reduction of reserve
requirements and removal of credit allocation. When the Indian Financial sector entered
the last decade of the twentieth century, things have almost gone out of control and the
financial sector was on the verge of collapse with the reserves going down to two weeks
of imports. Their effects on the banking sector were quite a damaging one and problems
had mounted from all possible arenas, which brought down the profitability of banks to
unimaginable lows (Jalan, 2001. Some of them include high Cash Reserve Ratio,
Stafutory Liquidity Ratio and directed credit programmes; cross subsidization,

politicization, poor legal system to recover loans and lack of transparency in the balance

sheets of Banks. All these led to:

*» Deterioration of financial health, integrity, autonomy, flexibility and vibrancy.
= Distortion of resource allocation, portfolio quality, productivity, efficiency and

profitability.
*  Poor customer service, outdated work technology and very high transaction

costs
» Low capital base and faulty accounting scenarios.

The crisis was preceded by massive, unhedged, short-term capital inflows, which then
aggravated double mismatches (a currency mismatch coupled with a maturity
mismatch) and undermined the soundness of the domestic financial sector. A maturity
Mismatch is generally inherent in the banking sector since commercial banks accept

short-term deposits and converts them into relatively longer-term, often illiquid, assets.
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Nevertheless, massive, predominantly short-term capital inflows - largely in the form of
inter-bank loans - shortened banks’ liabilities, thus expanding the maturity mismatch.
Further, a currency mismatch was aggravated since massive capital inflows
denominated in foreign currency were converted into domestic currency in order to
finance the cyclical upturn of domestic investment in manufacturing equipment, real
estate and stocks (Asian Policy Forum 2000 and Yoshitomi et. al, 2000). The major causes
of this scenario were policy-induced rigidities, excessive degree of centralized
administrative direction and investments, massive branch expansion, overstaffing and

union pressure and above all, political intervention. (Reddy, 2000)

2.2 INDIAN BANKING SCENARIO IN 1991

Government intervention in the banking sector had its origin in nationalistic thinking.
Colonial banking was perceived to be biased in favor of working capital loans to trade
and large capitalist enterprises, and against rural areas and ‘the common man’. This
legacy combined with socialist ideology culminated in the nationalization of all the large
banks in 1969. The nationalized banks were explicitly set quantitative targets to expand
their network in rural areas and to direct credit to priority sectors. Over time, they also
became a major source of lending to the government and thus of financing fiscal deficits.
Considering the post independence history of Indian banking, the surprise thing is not
the evident weaknesses of Indian banking but the fact that hey were nevertheless some
notable achievements. There was a dramatic expansion of banks through out the country
and while many bank branches were unprofitable, they did play a positive role in
increasing financial savings. The worst elements of ‘financial repression’ were avoided,
largely because inflation remained largely low and real interest rates were mildly
negative. But while performance was satisfactory in resource mobilization, it was very
unsatisfactory as regards resource allocation. The low productivity of investment in

India has many causes, but inefficient credit allocation by the banking sector was

undoubtedly one of them.

By 1991, the country had erected an unprofitable, inefficient and financially unsoung

Banking sector. A few facts will suffice. The profitability of Indian banks wag extremely
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low in spite of rapid growth of deposits. The average return on assets in the second half
of 1980s was about 0.15 per cent, an extraordinarily low figure by world standards.
Return on equity was higher (about 9.5 per cent) but that was simply a reflection of low
capitalization of Indian banks. Capital and reserves averaged about 1.5 percent of assets,
compared to 4-6 per cent in other Asian countries (Kamesan, 2002) .The true picture was
even worse because these figures were not based on applying the correct income
recognition and provisioning criteria. Not only were the banks financially unsound but,
by universal agreement, they also provided an abysmal quality of service. Further, in
1992/93, non-performing assets (NPAs) of 27 public-sector banks amounted to 24 per
cent of total credit, only 15 public-sector banks achieved a net profit, and half of the
public-sector banks faced negative net worth (Joshi et. al, 1996). Given that global

accounting standards were not applied, even these indicators are likely to have

exaggerated the banks’ true performance.

2.3 NEED FOR REFORMS

So we can reasonably summarize the Indian financial system of the pre-reform period
essentially catered to the needs of planned development in a mixed-economy framework
where the government sector had a predominant role in economic activity. As part of
planned development, the macro-economic policy in India moved from fiscal neutrality
to fiscal activism (Reddy, 2000). Such activism meant large developmental expenditures,
much of it to finance long-gestation projects requiring long-term finance. The sovereign
was also expected to raise funds at fine rates, and understandably at below the market
rates for private sector. In order to facilitate the large borrowing requirements of the
government, interest rates on government securities were artificially pegged at low
levels, which were unrelated to market conditions. The Government securities market,
as a result, lost its depth as the concessional rates of interest and maturity period of
securities essentially reflected the needs of the issuer (Government) rather than the
perception of the market. The provision of fiscal accommodation through ad hoc treasury
bills (issued on tap at 4.6 per cent) led to high levels of monetisation of fiscal deficit

during the major part of the eighties. In order to check the monetary effects of such
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large-scale monetisation, the cash reserve ratio (CRR) was increased frequently to

control liquidity (Reddy, 2000).

The environment in the financial sector in these years was thus characterized by
segmented and underdeveloped financial markets coupled with paucity of instruments.
The existence of a complex structure of interest rates arising from economic and social
concerns of providing concessional credit to certain sectors resulted in “cross
subsidization” which implied that higher rates were charged from non-concessional
borrowers. The regulation of lending rates, led to regulation of deposit rates to keep cost
of funds to banks at reasonable levels, so that the spread between cost of funds and
return on funds is maintained. The system of administered interest rates was
characterized by detailed prescription on the lending and the deposit side leading to
multiplicity and complexity of interest rates. (Asian Policy Forum, 2000). The directed
and concessional availability of bank credit with respect to certain sectors resulted not
only in distorting the interest rate mechanism, but also adversely affected the viability
and profitability of banks. The lack of recognition of the importance of transparency,

accountability and prudential norms in the operations of the banking system led also to

a rising burden of nonperforming assets.

In sum, there was a de facto joint family balance sheet of Government, RBI and
commercial banks, with transactions between the three segments being governed by
Plan priorities rather than sound principles of financing inter-institutional transactions
(Reddy, November 2000). There was a widespread feeling that this joint family
approach, which sought to enhance efficiency through coordinated approach, actually
led to loss of transparency, of accountability and of incentive to measure or seek
efficiency_ The policies pursued did have many benefits, although the issue of the higher
costs incurred to realize the laudable objectives remains. Thus, the post-nationalization
Phase witnessed significant branch expansion to mobilize savings and there was a
Visible increase in the flow of bank credit to important sectors like agriculture, small-
scale industries, and exports. However, these achievements have to be viewed against

the macro-economic imbalances as well as gross inefficiencies at the micro Jeve] in the
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financial sector compounded by non-transparent accounting of intra-public sector

financial transactions.

2.4 THE BANKING REFORMS: A CLOSE LOOK

The banking sector reforms in India, initiated since 1992 in the first phase has provided
necessary platform to the banking sector to operate on the basis of operational flexibility
and functional autonomy, thereby enhancing efficiency, productivity and profitability.
The reforms brought out structural changes in the financial sector, eased external
constraints in their working, introduced transparency in reporting procedures,
restructuring and recapitalisation of banks and have increased the competitive element

in the market (Kannan, 2002). The salient features of these reforms include:

* Phasing out of statutory pre-emption - The SLR requirement have been brought
down from 38.5% to 25% and CRR requirement from 7.50% to 5.75%.

¢ Deregulation of interest rates - All lending rates except for lending to small
borrowers and a part of export finance have been de-regulated. Interests on all
deposits are determined by banks except on savings deposits.

* Capital adequacy - CAR of 9 % prescribed with effect from March 31, 2000.

o Other prudential norms - Income recognition, asset classification and
provisioning norms has been made applicable. The provisioning norms are more
prudent, objective, transparent, uniform and designed to avoid subjectivity.

s Debt Recovery Tribunals - 22 DRTs and 5 DRATSs have already been set up and 7
more DRTs will be set up during the current financial year. Comprehensive
amendment in the Act have been made to make the provisions for adjudication,
enforcement and recovery more effective.

e Transparency in financial statements - Banks have been advised to disclose
certain key parameters such as CAR, percentage of NPAs, provisions for NPAs,
net value of investment, Return on Assets, profit per employee and interest

income as percentage to working funds.
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Entry of new private sector banks - 9 new private sector banks have been set up
with a view to induce greater competition and for improving operational
efficiency of the banking system. Competition has been introduced in a
controlled manner and today we have nine new private sector banks and 36
foreign banks in India competing with the public sector banks both in retail and
corporate banking.

Functional autonomy - The minimum prescribed Government equity was
brought to 51%. Nine nationalized banks raised Rs.2855 crores from the market
during 1994-2001. Banks Boards have been given more powers in operational
matters such as rationalization of branches, credit delivery and recruitment of
staff.

Hiving off of regulatory and supervisory control - Board for financial supervision

was set up under the RBI in 1994 bifurcating the regulatory and supervisory

functions.
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2.5 ASSESSMENT OF INDIA’S BANKING SECTOR REFORMS

After having discussed in detail the Indian Banking scenario in 1991 and what exactly
were the reasons behind the crisis situation that prompted the then Indian government
to launch a series of reforms and also pointing out in detail the major reforms (both first
and second generation), their institutional aspect, it is but obvious that we now have to
look at the efficacy of reforms. After more than a decade of reforms, various researchers
and economists are making attempts to understand the implications of these reforms,
have they really produced the results for which they were meant, have the targets been
achieved? In other words it is time to look back and carefully assess the reforms for
future directions and provide an ideal platform for the launch of next generation of
reforms. This study tries to answer the fundamental question to what extent has the
domestic impetus, i.e., financial-sector policy reforms during the nineties, made banks in
India more efficient? There are two ways in which this analysis has been approached.
The first study tries to use some specific parameters in the banking sectors and using
them it tries to test some hypothesis related to reforms while the second study takes help

of some specific ratios directly and takes a close look at them over a period of time.

This study focuses on India’s banking sector, which has been attracting increasing
attention since 1991 when a financial reform program was launched. It assesses whether
the reform program has been successful so far in restructuring public-sector banks and if
s0, what elements of the program have contributed. This study also tackles the following
fundamental questions. In what way has the reform program affected the behavior of
public-sector banks? To what extent have foreign and new domestic banks contributed
to the performance of the whole banking sector? Has India’s gradual approach to the

Privatization of banks been successful? What policy implications can we derive from

India’s experience?
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2.5.1 Main Issues

2.5.1(a) India’s pre-reform period and financial reform

Since 1991, India has been engaged in banking sector reforms aimed at increasing the
profitability and efficiency of the then 27 public-sector banks that controlled about 90
per cent of all deposits, assets and credit. Prior to the reforms, India’s financial sector
had long been characterized by prevalence of reserve requirements, interest rate
controls, and allocation of financial resources to priority sectors. As a result of the
reforms, the number of banks increased rapidly. In 1991, there were 27 public-sector
banks and 26 domestic private banks with 60,000 branches, 24 foreign banks with 140
branches, and 20 foreign banks with a representative office.4 Between January 1993 and
March 1998, 24 new private banks (nine domestic and 15 foreign) entered the market;
the total number of scheduled commercial banks, excluding specialized banks such as
the Regional Rural Banks rose from 75 in 1991/92 to 99 in 1997 /98. Entry deregulation
was accompanied by progressive deregulation of interest rates on deposits and
advances. From October 1994, interest rates were deregulated in a phased manner and
by October 1997, banks were allowed to set interest rates on all term deposits of

maturity of more than 30 days and on all advances exceeding Rs 200,000.

2.5.1 (b) Drastic versus gradual privatization approaches

While India’s financial reforms have been comprehensive and in line with global trends,
one unique feature is that, unlike with other former planned economies such as
Hungary and Poland, the Indian Government did not engage in a drastic privatization
of public-sector banks. Rather, it chose a gradual approach toward restructuring these
banks by enhancing competition through entry deregulation of foreign and domestic
banks. This reflects the view of the Narasimham Committee that ensuring the integrity
and autonomy of public-sector banks is the more relevant issue and that they could
Improve profitability and efficiency without changing their ownership if competition
Were enhanced. Since this approach was introduced, some criticisms have been
expressed (Joshi, 1996). First, public-sector banks continue to be dominant thanks to
their better branch coverage, customer base, and knowledge of the market compared

with newcomers. Second, public-sector banks would find it more difficult to reduce
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personnel expenditure because of the strong trade unions. Third, the government would
find it difficult to accept genuine competition within public-sector banks. In response to
these concerns, the government decided to gradually expand private-sector equity
holdings in public-sector banks, but still avoided the transformation of their ownership.
The 1994 amendment of the Banking Act allowed banks to raise private equity up to 49
per cent of paid-up capital. Consequently, public-sector banks, which used to be fully
owned by the government prior to the reform, were now allowed to increase non-
government ownership. So far, only eight public-sector banks out of 27 have diversified

ownership.

Meanwhile, a consensus is emerging that state ownership of banks is bad for financial
sector development and growth (World Bank 2001). Based on data from the 10 largest
commercial and development banks in 92 countries for 1970-1995, (La Porta et. al, 2000)
have found that greater state ownership of banks in 1970 was associated with less
financial sector development, lower growth, lower productivity, and that these effects
were greater at lower levels of income. (Barth et. al, 2001) have shown that greater state
ownership of banks tends to be associated with higher interest rate spreads, less private
credit, less activity on the stock exchange, and less non-bank credit, even after taking
into account other factors that could influence financial development. This suggests that
greater state ownership tends to be anti-competitive, reducing competition from both
banks and non-banks. Moreover, (Caprio et. al, 2000) have shown that greater state
Ownership at the start of 1980 was associated with a greater probability of a banking
Crisis and higher fiscal costs. With respect to privatizing banks, moreover, the (World
Bank, 2001) takes the view that privatization can yield real benefits to economies
Provided that an appropriate accounting, legal and regulatory infrastructure is in place.
It should be noted that premature privatization might give rise to banking crises. (Clarke
et. al, 1998) have demonstrated that Argentina promoted the privatization of public-

sector banks in a reasonably developed regulatory and infrastructure environment, and

thus privatized banks improved productivity remarkably.

Considering the implications derived from the above studies, this chapter examines

whether India’s gradual approach has been successful so far by examining whether

24



public-sector (commercial) banks have improved their performance (profitability,
efficiency and soundness) in the reform period. Three types of performance indicators
have been used: (a) profitability, (b) cost efficiency, and (c) earnings efficiency. It tests
this hypothesis by analyzing trend patterns and empirically testing the performance of

public-sector banks.

2.5.1 (c) Diversification of banking activities

The other discussed feature of India’s banking sector is that the Reserve Bank of India
has permitted commercial banks to engage in diverse activities such as securities related
transactions (for example, underwriting, dealing and brokerage), foreign exchange
transactions and leasing activities. The 1991 reforms lowered the CRR and SLR, enabling
banks to diversify their activities. Diversification of banks’ activities can be justified for
at least five reasons. First, entry deregulation and the resulting intensified competition
may leave banks with no choice but to engage in risk-taking activities in the fight for
their market share or profit margins. As a result, risk-taking would reduce the value of
banks’ future earnings and associated incentives to avoid bankruptcy (Allen et. al, 2000).
Second, banks need to obtain implicit rents in order to provide discretionary, repetitive
and flexible loans. In addition, banks attempt to reduce the extent of information
asymmetry by processing inside information on their clients and monitoring their
performance. Diversification of banking activities helps banks to mitigate the two

problems raised above by providing them with an opportunity to gain non-interest

income and thereby sustain profitability.

Third, banks can stabilize their income by engaging in activities whose returns are
imperfectly correlated, thereby reducing the costs of funds and thus lending and
underwriting costs. Fourth, diversification promotes efficiency by allowing banks to
utilize inside information arising out of long-term lending relationships. Thanks to this
advantage, banks are able to underwrite securities at lower costs than non-bank
underwriters. Firms may also obtain higher prices on their securities underwritten by
banks because of their perceived monitoring advantages. Further, banks can exploit

economies of scope from the production of various financial services since they can
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spread fixed physical (i.e., branches and distribution channels) and human capital costs
(Steinherr et. al, 1990). Fifth, diversification may improve bank performance by diluting
the impact of direct lending (through requiring banks to allocate credit to priority
sectors). Direct lending reduces the banks’ incentives to conduct information processing
and monitoring functions. As a result, this not only lowers banks’ profitability by
limiting financial resources available to more productive usages, but also results in a

deterioration of efficiency and soundness by discouraging banks from functioning

properly. (Gilson et. al, 1990).

However these five advantages can be offset by the following limitations. First, public-
sector banks’ engagement in the securities business may promote a concentration of
power in the banking sector since the asset size of banks expands. This is partly because
banks have a natural tendency to promote lending over securities, thereby indirectly
deterring the development of capital markets. Further, the reputation and informational
advantages enjoyed by public-sector banks put them in an even more favorable position,
preventing other banks and investment firms from competing on a level playing field.
Second, the engagement of banks in underwriting services may lead to conflicts of
interest between banks and investors. Banks may decide to underwrite securities for
troubled borrowers so that the proceeds of the issue of securities can be used to pay off
these banks’ own claims to the companies. Further, banks may impose tie-in deals on
Customers by using their lending relationships with firms to pressure them to purchase

their underwriting services (for example, using the threat of increased credit costs or

non-renewal of credit lines).

Third, diversification may expose banks to various new risks. For example, banks may
end up buying the securities they underwrite. They may also face greater market risks as
they increase their share of securities holdings and market-making activities. Further,
derivatives involve higher speed and greater complexity, which may reduce the
solvency and transparency of banking operations. The presence of these three potential
disadvantages suggests that measures are needed to balance the advantages and
disadvantages. (Kashyap et. al, 1990). The Reserve Bank of India tries to cope with the

disadvantages by encouraging banks to engage in securities business through
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subsidiaries, thereby putting in place firewalls between traditional banking and
securities services. The Reserve Bank of India also prohibits cross-holdings with

industrial groups to minimize “connected lending” — one of the causes of the East Asian

crisis.

To assess the overall impact of banks’ activities, this chapter examines whether
diversification improves bank performance. In particular, the impact of disadvantages
can be assessed indirectly by examining how soundness is associated with
diversification. It is also important to examine whether diversification has led to even
greater dominance of public-sector banks by examining whether banks’ asset portfolios
differ between public sector and private banks. Does banks’ engagement in foreign
exchange and securities business improves their performance. Has investment in
government securities worsened banks’ performance since it limits the realization of

the diversification effect and finally has lending to the priority sectors and the public

sector lowered banks’ performance.
2.5.1 (d) Impact of foreign and private domestic banks

One interesting feature of India’s banking sector is that some large public-sector banks
appear to have been performing reasonably well in the post-reform period. This could
be attributed to (a) the import of better risk management skills from foreign and private
domestic banks, (b) intensified competition, (c) the diversification effect described
above, (d) reorganization (for example, mergers and acquisitions), and (e) goodwill. In
India, however, given the virtual absence of an exit policy, large-scale mergers and
acquisitions among problematic banks have not occurred so far. It is generally thought
that the entry of well-capitalized new banks is likely to improve the quality and variety
of services, efficiency of bank management, and prudential supervisory capacity (Levine
1996; Walter et. al, 1983; Gelb et. al, 1990). The entry of foreign banks tends to lower

interest margins, profitability, and the overall expenses of domestic banks (Clarke et. al,

2000; Claessens et. al, 2000).
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Further, (Claessens et. al, 2000) have reported that the number of entrant’s matters
compared with their market share, indicating that foreign banks affect local bank
competition upon entry rather than after they have gained a substantial market share.
Moreover, these banks may be able to provide a source of new capital for enterprises
and thus reduce government restructuring costs, especially when the domestic banking
sector is devastated in the aftermath of a crisis. Some studies also find that foreign banks
tend to go for higher interest margins and profitability than domestic banks in
developing countries, while the opposite is true in developed countries. On the other
hand, premature deregulation and foreign entry may cause some downside effects. First,
they may increase the risk of a banking crisis if there is macroeconomic or regulatory
weakness, as was experienced in Argentina, Brazil and Chile in the 1970s (Demirgiic-
Kunt et. al, 1998). Second, foreign banks may exhibit a home country bias, leading them
to retreat promptly and massively at the first sign of difficulty. In the East Asian crisis,
for example, it is widely believed that foreign banks, such as Citibank, played a major
role in supporting the capital outflow without consideration as to the national damage

caused.

This chapter assesses whether their performance shows statistically different results
from that of public-sector banks through three steps: (a) analyzing trend patterns, (b)
testing the hypotheses that the average level of each indicator is the same between
public-sector and foreign and private domestic banks, and (c) using ordinary least
Squares regression. We also try to see whether foreign and private domestic banks have
performed better than public-sector banks, and thus have contributed to an

improvement in overall banking sector performance.
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THE HYPOTHESES

In order to find out the overall impact of financial reforms on the Indian banking sector,
we have developed few hypotheses, which will try to test the issues discussed above.
= The first hypothesis is that the degree of concentration in the banking sector
has been declining in the reform period.
= The second hypothesis is that the performance of public-sector banks may have
deteriorated initially during the adjustment period, but performance improved
later on.
* The third hypothesis is that banks’ engagement in foreign exchange and

securities business improves their performance

* The fourth hypothesis is that investment in government securities has
worsened banks’ performance since it limits the realization of the

diversification effect.
*» The fifth hypothesis is that lending to priority sectors and the public-sector has

lowered banks’ performance.

* The sixth hypothesis is that foreign and private domestic banks have
performed better than public-sector banks, and thus have contributed to an
improvement in overall banking sector performance.

* The seventh hypothesis is that new banks perform better.

2.5.2 Appraisal of the Performance of the Banking Sector

India’s financial market has been gradually developing, but still remains bank-
dominated in the reform period. The extent of financial deepening measured by total
deposits in GDP has risen only modestly from 30 per cent in 1991 to 38 per cent in 1999,
Capital market development has also been quite sluggish. Outstanding government and
corporate bonds as a share of GDP rose from 14 per cent in 1991 to 18 per cent in 1999
and from only 0.7 per cent in 1996 to 2 per cent in 1998, respectively, while equity
market capitalization dropped from 37 per cent in 1995 to 28 per cent in 1999,
Nevertheless, the government’s commitment on restructuring the highly regulateq

banking sector appears strong. Since financial reforms were launched in 1991 and
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particularly when the entry of new banks was permitted in 1993, public-sector banks
appear to have become more conscious of the need for greater profitability and
efficiency, suggesting that the reform has had a favorable impact on India’s financial
market. According to an analysis of the overall performance of state-owned, domestic
and foreign banks based on trend patterns in 1993-2000, the overall performance of
public sector banks appears comparable with foreign and private domestic banks in
general, foreign banks performed better than domestic banks (public-sector and private
domestic banks) in terms of cost, earnings efficiency and soundness. However, domestic
banks overtook foreign banks in terms of profitability in 1999-2000. Moreover, all banks

are comparable in terms of the scale of medium- to long-term credit and liquidity. The

results are summarized below.

2.5.2 (a) Profitability

Foreign banks’ profitability (defined as the ratio of profits after tax to average assets
[ROAA] exceeded that of private domestic and public-sector banks in 1996-2001, despite
a declining trend. However, private domestic banks have become more profitable than
foreign banks in 2000-2001. International Monetary Fund (2001) has also reported that
forcign and new private domestic banks maintained higher profitability (about 1-2 per
cent) than public-sector and old private domestic banks (0.6-0.8 per cent) during the
period 1995/96-1999/2000. Profits from securities and foreign transactions, and
brokerage/ commission services have also increasingly contributed to profitability for
all banks, suggesting that the diversification effect is positive. For example, the average

profitability of Standard Chartered Bank in 1994-2000 was 1.38 per cent, well above that

of the State Bank of India at 0.7 per cent.
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Table2.1 Performance Indicator of the banking sector

,; [1996 [1997 [1998 [1999 [2000 |2001 [ 2002 | 2003
| [ROAA
i | All banks -0.1 0.2 13 07 [11 1.2 0.6 05
Foreign 20 20 2.0 16 |15 1.2 03 -0.1
' | Private 0.2 0.4 1.3 14 1.2 14 0.8 1.2
: Public sector -11 -1.8 04 0.6 04 0.7 03 0.8
| COST
" All banks 78.5 74.4 746 |[777 [828 [753 81.3 74.6
' Foreign 64.5 61.4 76.7 | 784 [804 |655 79.6 74.8
Private 838 81.7 79.6 78.4 80.2 81.1 844 79.6
Public sector 89.4 90.2 886 |876 [825 |88 84.4 84.9
. | INCOME ,
| All banks 11.7 10.8 101|109 [114 [117 10.8 11.0
| Foreign 13.8 13.2 127 129 131 |134 12.6 124
Private 10.9 9.8 9.1 108 [11.2 [114 10.7 10.5
Public sector 9.7 9.3 9.1 103 [106 [10.7 10.1 9.8
INCOME ,
All banks 7.4 7.2 5.2 54 5.9 6.2 5.1 4.2
Foreign 11.8 8.9 6.8 4.9 6.0 6.2 6.4 4.1
Private 49 6.9 43 4.7 5.9 5.6 4.6 3.8
. Public sector 33 4.8 43 53 5.7 4.8 44 3.8
| DIVERSE
wks 1.2 1.1 13 1.4 1.6 2.2 1.6 1.7
Foreign 20 1.7 15 1.7 1.8 31 2.2 2.3
W 11 0.8 11 |12 |11 [14 1.2 13
| Public sector 12 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.1 1.2 1.1 1.2
 GBOND
All banks 21.7 22.7 204 |197 [211 |217 22.8 23.6
P———— M .
Foreign 18.7 23.8 225 [158 178 |189 20.7 21.6
Private 20.8 20.2 168 |172 202 |21.0 21.2 22.8
| Public sector 222 24.9 237 [243 257 |264 26.9 27.4
PROV
| All banks 23 2.1 17 (13 09 |11 1.3 1.6
| Foreign — 3.9 3.1 26 1.9 23 18 26 2.8
Private 09 1.2 1.3 1.0 0.8 0.9 0.6 0.8
' Public soct : 7 |11 |09 1.0 0.8
- Public sector 1.9 24 13 |1 - : . .
EQUITY
All banks 39 4.3 7.6 128 [137 126 11.9 11.2
| Foreign — 7.5 8.1 164 | 224 | 256 |262 | 247 22.1
Private 1.8 2.4 3.3 3.1 4.1 4.6 4.3 4.1
bl : 8 |102 |68 |58 47 6.1
Mor 34 3.7 5. : : . . .

ROAA=PAT/Avg.Assets, COST=0OPER.EXP/OPER.INC, INCOME;-OPER.INC /
ASSETS, INCOMEz= Lend1ng—Depos1t Rates, DIVERSE=Non Interest Income / Assets
GBOND=Investment in G Secs/ Assets, PROV=Provision for NPA/ Assets,

EQUITY=Equity plus Reserves/ Total Assets
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2.5.2 (b) Cost And Earnings Efficiency
Foreign and private domestic banks are generally more cost-efficient than public sector
banks. The ratio of operating expenditure to operating income [COST] in 2000 was 72
per cent for foreign banks, 80-85 per cent for domestic banks, and 84 per cent for public-
.sector banks. While foreign banks are more cost-efficient, their efficiency level has
somewhat deteriorated. Instead, domestic and public-sector banks improved efficiency
over the sample period. As for earning capacity, foreign banks are generally better
performers. The earning indicator proxied by the ratio of income to assets [INCOME ]
shows that foreign banks have consistently performed better than private domestic and
public sector banks. However, foreign banks’ income-generating capacity deteriorated
somewhat from 13.8 per cent in 1997 to 12.4 per cent in 2003, while the two other types
of banks maintained their performance at a level of about 11 per cent. The inferior
performance of domestic banks relative to foreign banks can be attributed to (a) the
larger share of credit extended to the public-sector, (b) more stringent requirements

imposed on direct lending, (c) a lesser degree of diversification, and (d) lower interest

ratc margins.

Implicit interest rate spread (defined as the difference between implicit lending and
deposit rates) [INCOME 2] has been shrinking for all banks over the sample period.
While foreign banks have received higher interest rate spreads than private domestic
banks and public-sector banks, their margins have become comparable in 2001. An
alternative indicator (the difference between interest income and expenditure) shows
that while all types of banks reduced interest rate margins over the sample period, those
of public-sector and private domestic banks have generally remained negative and
recently even worsened. This suggests that domestic banks must obtain income from

other activities to maintain profitability and thus extend credit to the private sector.

2.5.2 (c) Capital, Asset Quality, Management and Liquidity

The balance sheets of foreign banks appear to be more structurally sound than those of
domestic and public-sector banks based on the following criteria: capital adequacy, asset
quality, management and liquidity. First, on the capital adequacy ratio proxied by

equity plus reserves over total liabilities or total assets [EQUITY], the ratio of foreign
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banks increased from 7 per cent in 1996 to 20 percent in 2001. While the ratios increased
moderately for domestic banks, it still remains small. This suggests that foreign banks
have greater incentives to lend prudently and remain well capitalized than the two other
kinds of banks. This reflects the fact that foreign banks steadily reduced their deposit
dependence ratio from 67 per cent of liability in 1996 to 47 per cent in 2003, while the
two other tvpes maintained their dependence ratio at about 85 per cent throughout the
sample period. Nevertheless, the IMF report (2001) indicates that the risk-weighted
capital ratio has been comparable among all banks and has improved from 1996/97 to
1999/2000: from 10.4 per cent to 11.9 per cent for foreign banks, from 11.7 per cent to
12.4 per cent for old private domestic banks, and from 10 per cent to 10.7 per cent for

public sector banks, while that of new private domestic banks declined from 15.3 per

cent to 13.4 per cent.

Second, by contrast, the assessment on asset quality based on (a) the ratio of contingent
liabilities to assets, (b) asset growth, (c) the ratio of investment in securities to assets, (d)
the ratio of provisions for NPA to assets and (e) the ratio of medium- and long-term
credit to assets reveal mixed results. The first indicator reports that the ratio of foreign
banks (at around 25-30 per cent) has been greater than that of domestic banks and
public-sector banks. While this indicates that foreign banks are more exposed to high
potential losses in cases of default, this outcome may simply show that foreign banks
provide more complex and sophisticated services than the two other types of banks,

given that their activities are concentrated on urban areas, wholesale markets and large

clients.

The second indicator reports that foreign and private domestic banks faced rapid credit
growth in 1996-2001, signaling some kind of risk-taking behavior. However, this may be
explained simply by their early stage of establishment. The third indicator shows that al]
three banks invested about 30-40 per cent of assets in securities in response to the SLR,
indicating that all of them have a large cushion against NPAs. In particular, public sector
and private domestic banks increased their share of investment in government bonds in

assets in 1994-2001 from 21 per cent to 23 per cent and from 21 per cent to 27 per cent,
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respectively [GBONDJ. This may be due to their preference for more liquid, safe assets

as the Basle Accord was applied.

The fourth indicator reports that foreign banks generally allocated greater provisions for
NPAs [PROV]. Given that more stringent accounting and auditing standards of their
mother countries are applied to foreign banks, the foreign banks are more resilient to
adverse shocks. IMF (2001) has reported that foreign and new private domestic banks
maintained small NPA ratios (about 2-4 per cent) during the period 1995-2000 - below
the level of public-sector and old domestic banks, with the former declining from 9.2 per
cent in 1996/95 to 7.4 per cent in 1999/2001 and the latter remaining at around 7 per
cent. The final indicator reports that foreign and private domestic banks increased
medium- to long-term credit in 1993-2000 from 7.5 per cent to 17 per cent and from 10
per cent to 13 per cent, respectively, suggesting their increased confidence in India’s

financial market. Public-sector banks maintained the same level of exposure throughout

the sample period.

Management performance is assessed based on two indicators: (a) the ratio of credit to
deposits; and (b) the ratio of equity and reserves to debt (inverse of leverage). The first
indicator reports that foreign banks attempt to improve their income by expanding their
lending operations as compared with other domestic banks. The ratio of foreign banks
surged from 56 per cent in 1993 to 94 percent in 2000, while the two other types of banks
maintained the ratio at about 40 per cent over the same period. Given that foreign banks’
ratio of credit to assets is similar to other domestic banks (about 35 per cent of assets),
however, this simply suggests that foreign banks lowered the deposit dependence ratio,
Based on the second indicator, foreign banks are generally less leveraged than domestic
and public sector banks. Fourth, all three types of banks maintain a similar liquidity
position, accounting for about 15 per cent in terms of cash and balances with banks; and

about 50 per cent in terms of the sum of cash, balances with banks, and investment, This

reflects the CRR and the SLR.
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2.6 TESTING THE DIFFERENTIAL BEHAVIOR BETWEEN PUBLIC SECTOR,
FOREIGN AND PRIVATE BANKS

A statistical test was conducted to see whether the average levels of the following

indicators are the same for public sector, foreign, and private domestic banks: ROAA,
COST, INCOME1, INCOME2, PROV, and EQUITY.
Table 2.2 t Test values for Banks for the year 1996-2003

’ Foreign Private Foreign Private

Banks Vs Banks Vs Banks Vs Banks Vs
| Public sector | Public sector Public sector | Public sector
j* Banks Banks Banks Banks
1996 2000
ROA 3.834 0.873 ROA 4,132 2.793™
COST 5743 1.745° COST 0.041 3017
INCOME;, 2913 0.298 INCOME; 1.328* 0.316
INCOME; 5.672" 1.318 INCOME; -0.045 0.548
PROV 2377 -1.847* PROV -0.314 -2.032°
&UITY 11.53" 2.119° EQUITY -0.006 0.393
(1997 2001
' ROA 3129 23447 ROA 0.326 1196
COST -8.345™ -1.972* COST -4.889 -1.928*
TNCOME: 1.735° -0.611 INCOME; 4.584™ 9734
INCOME; 7.437° 0.424 INCOME: 2.116" 3.115
PROV 0.573 -2.965™ PROV 1.559 20.215
| EQUITY 3.824™ 2471 EQUITY 0.541 1327
1998 2002
ROA 5317 2317 ROA 0.044 1.547
COST 20.437 1.118" COST 20.765 0814
| INCOME; | 1.315 1572~ INCOME; | 2.837~ 1.073
' INCOME, | 3.731"" 20471 INCOME, | 2376~ 0.051
PROV 3572 0.031 PROV 2.161° -1.886"
EQUITY 0.547 20.314 EQUITY 0.562 0.017
1999 2003
"ROA 2913 2.653™ ROA -2.001 2.137
| COST 0.831 -3.115™ COST -3.832" 3.017% ]
| INCOME,; | 1.324 0.214 INCOME; | 2.828" 0421
INCOME, | -0.931 1532 INCOME; | 0.702 0419
PROV 179" -1.983" PROV 2,793 0.057
EQUITY 20316 -0.383 EQUITY 0.301 0353 ]

Note: The values reported are t- test values and *, ** and *** indicate significance at 10
percent, Spercent and 1 percent significance level respectively.



The results show that foreign banks have generally performed better than public-sector
banks in terms of all indicators (Table 2.2). A similar pattern is observed for private
domestic banks against public-sector banks. However, such differences were more
pronounced in the earlier period compared with later periods. This may suggest that
public-sector banks have made greater efforts to improve their performance as reforms

have progressed. A closer look is warranted and will be dealt with in the next chapter.

2.7 HYPOTHESES TESTING

This section assesses the extent of concentration in the banking sector and conducts

empirical estimation to test seven hypotheses developed above.

The First Hypotheses: The degree of concentration in the banking sector has been
declining in the reform period. This chapter tests this hypothesis by adopting two
approaches: (a) the m-bank concentration ratio adopted by (Sarkar et. al, 1998) and (b)
the Herfindahl Index adopted by (Juan-Ramon et. al, 2001). The m-bank concentration
measures (a) one-bank concentration ratio (market share of the largest bank or the State
Bank of India, (b) five-bank ratio, and (c) 1 0-bank ratio. Deposits are used to estimate the

m-bank concentration indicator.

2.7.1 Concentration Ratio
The ratios are commonly used to indicate the degree to which an industry is

oligopolistic and how the largest firms in the industry hold market control. The
proportion of total output in an industry that's produced by a given number of the
largest firms in the industry. The two most common concentration ratios are for the five
Iargest firms and the ten largest firms. The five-firm concentration ratio, as such, is the
proportion of total output produced by the five largest firms in the industry and the 10-

firm concentration ratio is proportion of total output produced by the ten largest firms in

the industry.

HERFINDAHL INDEX: A measure of concentration of the production in an industry
that's calculated as the sum of the squares of market shares for each firm. This is ap

alternative method of summarizing the degree to which an industry is oligopolistic and
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the relative concentration of market power held by the largest firms in the industry. The
Herfindahl index gives a better indication of the relative market control of the largest

firms than can be found with the five-firm and ten-firm concentration ratios.

The Herfindahl Index is defined as

HI= 100 * X k;2 or Z;"[share;]? where ki = Ki/ ZKiand i =1 to N where N is

the number of banks during the period under consideration.

This indicator has been calculated for the whole banking sector as well as for public
sector, foreign, and private domestic banks, respectively. The higher the indicator, the
greater the concentration of the banking sector. The lower limit of this indicator is
obtained as 100 divided by N and the upper limit is 100. The m-bank concentration
indicator reveals that the degree of concentration in the banking sector has barely
changed during the period 1996-2003(Table 2.3). Since most of these large banks are
public-sector banks, this indicates that public-sector banks continue to be dominant and
enjoy scale advantages over new banks. On the other hand, the Herfindahl Index shows
that the degree of concentration has declined consistently in the whole banking sector,
more or less in line with the first hypothesis. In addition, the concentration has declined
even within foreign banks, private domestic banks, and public-sector banks. Since the
lower limit (100/N) has also declined, this suggests that a number of new banks have

entered the market and exerted some competition at the lower end.
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Table 2.3.Concentration indicators, 1996-2003

N 1996 | 1997 | 1998 | 1999 | 2000 2001 2002 2003
' M-Bank concentration Ratio
| 1-Bank concentration Ratio | 23.8 |25.1 |21.7 |[208 |20.1 19.8 21.7 23.6
5-Banks concentration 473 |434 | 432 |447 |438 |454 |462 |63
_Ratio
10-Banks concentration 63.7 | 628 |639 64.8 62.1 65.6 62.9 64.1
Ratio
Herfindahl Index
All Banks 108 |89 83 |77 |71 6.8 72 |73
| Foreign Banks 134 130 [127 [119 [116 |107 |122 | 128
Private Banks 109 |103 |86 |64 |52 |51 |49 |55
| Public Sector Banks 147 |126 |111 |102 |96 |89 92 |89

2.8 EMPIRICAL ESTIMATION & RESEARCH FINDINGS

There are few studies that assess the impact of India’s reform program. Based on data
from 1993 /94 and 1994/95, (Sarkar et. al, 1998) have shown that foreign banks are more
profitable than public-sector banks, based on two indicators (profits divided by average
assets and operating profits divided by average assets). The profitability of private
domestic banks is similar to that of foreign banks, but private domestic banks spend
More resources on provisions for NPAs. Second, foreign banks are more efficient than
Private domestic and public-sector banks, based on two measures (net interest rate
margins and operating cost divided by average assets). Based on data from the period
1980-1997/98, (Sarkar et. al, 1998) have concluded that foreign banks, despite the
Superior quality of services they offer, have not been a competitive threat in Delhi, West
Bengal and Maharashtra, where their presence is greatest. This shows that competition
has emerged only at the fringe, since the entry of new banks has been at the lower end.
Domestic private banks have gained some market share in these regions, but the impact
on public-sector banks was small and gained at the expense of foreign banks. In Uttar
Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh, Bihar, Orissa, Gujarat and Punjab, public-sector banks have
been predominant before and since the reforms, thus no apparent impact from neyy
entries was observed. In Tamilnadu, Kerala, Andhra Pradesh, Karnataka, Jammy and

Kashmir and Rajasthan, private domestic banks have been more concentrated than in
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other regions and have experienced an increase in market share at the expense of public-

sector banks but the presence of foreign banks was small.

2.8.1 Regression Results of Public Sector Banks

In this study the progress of India’s financial reforms has been investigated via two
steps. In the first step, the overall impact of the financial reforms on public-sector banks
has been assessed by using pooled data. The performance measures adopted are ROAA,
COST and INCOMEI. Some of these indicators were employed from (Claessens et. al,
2000; Demirgii¢-Kunt et. al, 1997; Sarkar et. al, 1998). The time dummy (TIME) has been
introduced to capture time differences in the sample. Five control variables are picked

up to account for banks’ specific features and behaviour. They are:

(a) [DIVERSE]; diversification proxied by the sum of profits from securities and
foreign exchange transactions and brokerage and commissions/ assets

(b) [GBOND]J; investment in government securities/assets

(c¢) [PRIORITY]; lending to priority sectors proxied by lending to priority
sectors/assets

(d) [PUBLIC]; lending to the public sector proxied by lending to the public

sector/assets
(e) [SIZE]; size of the bank proxied by the log of each bank’s asset size

This analysis uses data from the Prowess database for 1996-2003 compiled by the Centre
for Monitoring Indian Economy Pvt. Ltd (See Appendix 5), which includes most of the
major banks in India. The results from this estimation are reported in Table 2.4. A
significant coefficient of the time dummy variable (TIME) would indicate that the

Particular year was different, which could be due to numerous factors, including

regulatory changes, if any, that happened during that year.
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adjustment period, but performance improved later on. Second, DIVERSE has exerted a
statistically  positive (negative) contribution to ROAA and INCOME1 (COST),
indicating that the diversification effect on the performance of public-sector banks is
favorable and thus the third hypothesis regarding banks’ engagement in foreign

exchange and securities business improving their performance is supported.

The statistically significant and negative (positive) impact of GBOND on ROAA
(COST) is present. This suggests that investment in government bonds limits banks in
the diversification of their asset portfolios and thus the fourth hypothesis is supported
that investment in government securities has worsened banks’ performance since it
limits the realization of the diversification effect. On the other hand, PRIORITY has
made a statistically significant and positive (negative) impact on ROAA (COST),
contrary to the fifth hypothesis. This implies that while lending to priority sectors is

generally regarded as the cause of NPAs, some lending activities have generated high

income and have allowed banks to improve cost efficiency.

2.8.2 Regression Results Of Whole Banking Sector

As a next step, the analysis examines the overall impact of the whole banking sector by
using pooled data of all commercial banks for 1996-2003. In addition to the approach
adopted above, ownership dummy variables ([FOREIGN] and [PRIVATE]) have been
used to capture differences in ownership. FOREIGN (PRIVATE) equals 1 if the bank is
foreign (domestic)-owned and equals 0 otherwise. Moreover, the age dummy (AGE) has
been used to c apture the differences between new and old banks. AGE is equal to 0 if

the bank existed before 1991 and equals 1 otherwise. The estimation results reported in

Table 2.5 are summarized as follows.
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Table 2.5.Regression results of whole banking sector

Explanatory variables

Dependent variables

ROAA COST INCOME,
037 21.31 7.31
| Constant (0.47) (3.67) (2.97)
FOREIGN 0.83™ -54.43 314~
(1.95) (-1.14) (2.54)
DOMESTIC 0.84" -63.55 0.49
- (2.93) (-1.41) (.76)
Time 97 -0.57 2.87 144"
| (-.96) (0.06) (1.98)
Time 08 -0.11 -15.65 0.59
\ (-0.29) (-0.34) (0.81)
Time 99 0.68" 3.83 0.11
(1.82) (0.12) (0.19)
Time 2000 0.23 84.37" 2.07"
L (0.67) (2.16) (1.98)
Time 2001 0.54* 11.75 96~
_ (1.79) (0.31) (1.89)
Time 2002 0.26 13.87 0.76
(1.21) (037) (89)
| Time 2003 0.24 7.64 0.57
(0.29) (0.31) (:98)
'DIVERSE 0.42™ -15.32" 0.7
(5.14) (-1.93) (5.71)
"GBOND — 038" 5,63 0.06~
(4.31) (3.97) (2.97)
 PRIORTTY -0.002 -0.93° -0.001
(-0.27) (-2.01) (-0.36)
PUBLIC— 0.021 0.23 0,02
(1.15) (0.14) (-2.02)
AGE 017 14.51 -0.65*
(-1.11) (0.62) (1.14)
SIZE 0.06 2774 021
(1.24) (-4.13) (0.68)
R 017 0.09 018
\ —_

Note: The values reported are t- test values and *, ** and *** indicate significance at 10
Percent, 5percent and 1 percent significance level respectively. The values in the brackets

are regression coefficient values.
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First, if the entry of foreign and private domestic banks brings in more skilled banks, the
profitability and efficiency of the banking sector is expected to be higher. The results
reported in columns 1-3 indicate that the coefficients of FOREIGN and PRIVATE in the
ROAA cquation were statistically significant and positive, although their coefficients
were not significant in the COST equation. Further, coefficients of FOREIGN are
positive and statistically significant in the INCOMEI1 equation. These results suggest
particularly that foreign banks perform better than domestic banks, and that ownership
matters, thus supporting the sixth hypothesis. Second, the coefficient of TIME is
negative (but statistically insignificant) initially in the ROAA equation of the whole
banking sector, but is positive and statistically significant in 1997 and 1999. The TIME
coefficient was also positive and statistically significant in the INCOME1 equation.
Third, DIVERSE has improved profitability and the cost and earnings efficiency of the
whole banking sector, in line with the third hypothesis. The coefficient of DIVERSE
shows that the diversification impact on ROAA and INCOME1 (and COST) was

positive (negative) and statistically significant.

Fourth, GBOND helps banks to increase holdings of safe, liquid assets, and thus
improve their liquidity position. At the same time it increases the opportunity to allocate
financial resources toward government securities in a declining interest regime and
hence increasing profit- ability . The results indicate that the coefficients of GBOND on
ROAA (and COST) were positive (negative) and statistically significant, thus not
Supporting the fourth hypothesis. Contrary to our expectations, however, the impact of
GBOND on INCOMEL was positive and statistically significant. Fifth, lending to
priority sectors and the public sector would be expected to lower the profitability and
earninés efficiency of the whole banking sector, reflecting that this type of lending is
characterized by direct lending. Despite the share of credit extended to priority sectors
accounting for more than 20 per cent of their total credit, the coefficients of PRIORITY
and PUBLIC with respect to ROAA turn out to be insignificant, contrary to the fifth
hypothesis. Moreover, the coefficient of PRIORITY on COST was negative and
Statistically significant, implying that some types of those credits have enhanced cost
efficiency. However, the coefficient of PUBLIC on INCOME1l was negative and

Statistically significant, suggesting that such lending lowers banks’ income eamings

43



capacity. Sixth, the coefficient of AGE with respect to ROAA and INCOME1 was

negative but statistically insignificant.

2.9 CONCLUSION

Since the financial reforms of 1991, the‘re have been significant favorable changes in
India’s highly regulated banking sector. This chapter has assessed the impact of the
reforms by examining seven hypotheses. It concludes that the financial reforms have
had a moderately positive impact on reducing the concentration of the banking sector (at
the lower end) and improving performance. The empirical estimation showed that
regulation (captured by the time variable) lowered the profitability and cost efficiency of
public-sector banks at the initial stage of the reforms, but such a negative impact
disappeared once they adjusted to the new environment. In line with these results,
Tables show that profitability turned positive in 1997-2000, cost efficiency steadily
improved over the reform period, and the gap in performance compared with: foreign
banks has diminished. Moreover, allowing banks to engage in non-traditional activities
has contributed to improved profitability and cost and earnings efficiency of the whole
banking sector, including public-sector banks. By contrast, investment in government
securities has lowered the profitability and cost efficiency of the whole banking sector,
including public-sector banks. Lending to priority sectors and the public sector has not

had a negative effect on profitability and cost efficiency, contrary to our expectations.

Further, foreign banks (and private domestic banks in some cases) have generally
performed better than other banks in terms of profitability and income efficiency. This
suggests that ownership matters and foreign entry has a positive impact on banking
sector restructuring. The above results suggest that the current policy of restructuring
the banking sector through encouraging the entry of new banks has so far produced
the fact that competition has occurred only at the lower

some positive results. However,

end suggests that bank regulators should conduct a more thorough restructuring of

public-sector banks. Given that public-sector banks have scale advantages, the current

approach of improving their performance without rationalizing them may not produce

further benefits for India’s banking sector. As 10 years have passed since the reformg

were initiated and public-sector banks have been exposed to the new regulatory
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environment, it may be time for the government to take a further step by promoting
mergers and acquisitions and closing unviable banks. A further reduction of SLR and
more encouragement for non-traditional activities (under the bank subsidiary form) may

also make the banking sector more resilient to various adverse shocks.
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2.10 IMPACT OF BANKING REFORMS: A GRAPHICAL REPRESENTATION

In this part of the chapter we try to present a graphical representation of the effect of
financial sector reforms, which started in 1991 by looking at some key ratios generally
used to analyze bank performances across the globe. A graphical presentation gives a
more comprehensive picture of the situation and moreover it justifies our conclusions
already arrived at in the Statistical analysis carried out earlier in the chapter. Each
representation will be followed by a brief explanation of the possible reasons behind the

trends depicted in the graph. The ratios we are including in the graphical analysis are

mainly related to profitability and efficiency, they are:

(i) Gross Profit (Loss)/Total Assets
(ii) Net Profit (Loss)/ Total Assets
(iii) Interest Income/ Total Assets
(iv)Interest Expended /Total Assets

(v) Spread/Total Assets

(vi) Intermediation Costs/Total Assets
vii) Net NPAs/Net Advances

(
(viii) Business Per Employee

2.10.1 Gross Profit (Loss)/Total Assets and Net Profit (Loss)/ Total Assets

Both the ca tegories of banks show a southward movement in the margins at the
begirml'ng of first phase of reforms due to a shift in income recognition norms and the
Net profit margins are negative for Public Sector banks showing poor profitability. The
contributing factors were high operating costs, disguised unemployment and excessive
political intervention. The private sector banks also saw their bottom lines being eroded
but managed to keep it on the positive side. The main reason being almost ng
intervention and the category of people they served. The figures were better if only the
New private banks were taken into account. In short the reforms were effective enough
to show that the top lines and the bottom lines improved though it was much better for

Private banks as compared to PSBs in terms of growth and in absolute terms.
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Figure 2.1:Gross Profit (Loss)/Total Assets
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Figure 2.2:Net Profit (Loss)/ Total Assets
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2.10.2 Interest Income/Total Assets and Interest Expended/Total Assets

With the beginning of first and second phase of reforms, there is a clear drop in the
interest earned and interest expended as the interest rates were deregulated and there
Was a huge drop in interest rates. But one thing worth noting is that in the case of PSBs

the rate of fall of the interest income is much more than the rate of fall of interest
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expended. In other words the rate of borrowing has dropped for lenders but the rates

offered for the deposits was incongruous with that of borrowing rates thus narrowing
down the spreads. One important reason for this phenomenon is the fact that there
exists a large gap between the deposit rates of one year G-Sec bond and the small saving
interest rate. Whenever the interest rate rise in the market, they do so with inflation and
the interest rate on small saving as the benchmark but when they fall they do not have
the same benchmark. But for the private banks the graph has moved exactly parallel
showing that their spread has not really narrowed down due to the falling interest rates.
A steep fall in the interest rate earned could be noted because of change in accounting
norms. Thus the reforms were effective in moving the interest rates to a market oriented

rate but in case of PSBs a fall in the lending rates could not be translated into an equal

drop in the deposit rates.

Figure 2.3:Interest Income/Total Assets
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2.10.3 Spread/Total Assets

Il‘lteresting enough is the fact that the spread has fallen really drastically for the private
banks due to their steadfast efforts in getting a firm hold on the market which is highly
sliced due to the increased service proliferation by Financial Institutions. The PSBs do

not have that steep a fall since the level of competition has not really reached its zenith,
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though it has become competitive to a great extent when compared to a decade ago
when the word competition was missing from the dictionary of PSBs. Another
interesting fact is that foreign banks did not witness that steep a fall in their spreads
which was mainly attributed to the fact that they served the top 2 to 5 percent of the
population and hence they need not offer very low rates of lending and a comparatively
high deposit rates as in case of private banks. This fact has forced the banks to offer

more fee-based services and to increase revenues from other sources (Non Interest
Income) to maintain their bottom lines.

Figure 2.4:Interest Expended/Total Assets
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2.10.4 Intermediation Costs/Total Assets

The intermediation costs are almost flat for PSBs over the past decade showing that the
reforms have not really had any glaring effects from the view of providing services to

customers at lower costs. Private banks have really gone a long way in providing

cheaper services to the customers or adding more value to the customer’s money. Twyo
things are important in this context. First the absolute level of intermediation costs are

very high for PSBs as compared to their private counterparts which shows that they are
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still having problem in the arena of utilizing their human resources effectively. Private
banks have overcome this problem by turning to the cost cutting models of outsourcing.
Second, the new private banks have grown on their businesses by betting on big
technology to drive their operations. As a result, business overheads were kept under
control despite break neck expansion needs and their gamble seems to have paid off.
The intermediation costs of new private sector banks are just about a third of the foreign

banks who provide sophisticated services but at a premium.

Figure 2.5:Intermediation Costs/Total Assets
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2.10.5 Net NPAs/Net Advances

Over the past ten years even though the level of Net NPAs to the Advances have fallen
there is no room for cheer because the Gross NPAs have been steadily rising on the other
side. It has already been mentioned in our Introduction that the gross NPAg of our
banking sector stands at a mammoth Rs.70, 904 crores taking the total to a staggering Rs
1,10,000 crores for the whole financial sector. This is the current account deficit of the
country or roughly about 5 per cent of our country’s GDP.The catch ig that as the gross

NPAs continue to shoot up despite all the reforms, the banks continue to make
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increasing advances thereby keeping the ratio down. So here again one needs to look
into the figures before drawing any sound conclusion regarding the effect of reforms on
the NPA levels in the country. Another important concern in this area is that figure for
the Private sector banks is pretty high considering the fact they have been into some
serious business only from 1995-96.Immediately after two years there was sudden spurt
in the ratio, but the banks were alert enough to bring it back to the original level from
where it started moving back. However, the ratio is much better if we take only the new
private sector banks into consideration. Hence we can confidently say that none of the
banks have shown any great improvement in this regard and this is one area, which
needs tremendous consideration from all categories of banks though the methodology of

handling the issue would be completely different as we move from one category to

another.
Figure 2.6:Net NPAs/Net Advances
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2.10.6 Business Per Employee

Another ratios that have gained significance increase in recent time are the Business

employee. However the problem with this ratio is that we cannot compare two

categories of banks to this figure, as it does not provide them with the level playing field

for the obvious reason. The major cause for this is that the PSBs with their twin objective

of social considerations and providing service to the maximum number of people are

burdened with too many customers with a very small balance and disguised

unemployment. On the other hand the private banks use a minimum professional staff

and generally provide service to the upper segment of the population. Thus, this ratio

alone cannot be used for interpretation of a banks performance

Figure 2.7:Business Per Emplovee
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Chapter 3
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS OF BANKS

3.1INTRODUCTION

We have seen in the last chapter that the Indian banking sector has been undergoing a
metamorphosis in the wake of the implementation of financial sector reforms and also the
adoption of international accounting policies regarding asset classification, income recognition,
provisioning requirements and capital adequacy norms. The Indian banking scene has changed
drastically with the private sector making inroads in an area hitherto dominated by large public
sector banks. Growing disinvestments is likely to impact the banking industry as well. There is
every possibility of privatization of public sector banks, leading to greater operational
autonomy. This has put pressure particularly on the PSBs to adjust to these exacting changes as
soon as possible. The new world order has ensured "Survival of the Fittest". New services are
the order of the day, in order to stay ahead in the rat race. Banks are now foraying into net
banking, securities, consumer finance, housing finance, treasury market, merchant banking and

insurance. With competition coming to the fore, the watchword in the Indian banking sector

today is improving the bottom line.

With the public sector no longer dominating the banking sector, and interest rates deregulated,
Competition is at an all-time high. Growing customer awareness has further compounded the
Problem. The focus is now on customer management. Time is money for the client, and most of
the banks are waking up to this concept. Convenience is the other watchword! This need is
being met through innumerable ATMs and Internet banking. Technology also is allowing
Personalization of services. Technology is allowing banks to operate efficiently. The credit
Worthiness of a prospective customer can be determined instantaneously. Banks can now offer
better service without any incremental cost. In sum, the banking sector, which was considered
dry in the last several years, has caught the investor fancy in expectations of changing
f®gulations and improving business conditions due to opening up of the economy. Entry of

Private ang foreign banks in the segment has provided healthy competition and is likely to

bring more operational efficiency into the sector.
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3.2 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF BANKS

Bank efficiency has always been an important issue in developing countries because most of
them have faced at least one banking crisis, if not more. The question of relative comparison of
banks by size, type of ownership, age has been at some point an issue or will become an issue in
the future. How good it is to let new banks in the market, should the domestic banking sector be
opened up, do small banks have a future in the era of globalization and banking market
consolidation etc. These and other questions will continue to dominate the discussion in the
banking arena. Therefore an understanding of a bank’s relative performance compared to the
market, or over a period of time is important for analysis, practitioners and policy makers alike.
Apart from traditional analysis of Financial Statement a more dynamic and vibrant
methodology is required. A common way to tackle this problem is an Econometric approach to

Measure various aspects of bank efficiency in a multi bank environment.

3.2.1 Literature Review

Itis usual to measure the performance of banks using financial ratios. (Yeh ,1996) notes that the
major demerit of this approach is its reliance on benchmark ratios. These benchmarks could be
arbitrary and may mislead an analyst. Further, (Sherman et. al, 1985) note that financial ratios
don’t capture the long-term performance, and aggregate many aspects of performance such as
Operations, marketing and financing. In recent years, there is a trend towards measuring bank
Performance using one of the frontier analysis methods. In frontier analysis, the institutions that
Perform better relative to a particular standard are separated from those that perform poorly.
Such separation is done either by applying a non-parametric or parametric frontier analysis to
firmg within the financial services industry. The parametric approach includes stochastic
frontier analysis, the free disposal hull, thick frontier and the Distribution Free Approaches
(DFA), while the non-parametric approach is Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) (Molyneux et
al, 1996). This approach has been used since “recent research has suggested that the kind of
Mathematical programmmg procedure used by DEA for efficient frontier estimation ig
Comparatively robust” (Seiford et. al, 1990). Furthermore, after (Charnes et. al, 1978) who coined

the term DEA, a ‘large number of papers have extended and applied the DEA methodology,
(Coellj, 1996),
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Taking specifically the Indian case, is evaluating Indian Banks performance a rather
straightforward issue. The answer is No. Earlier though, (Tyagarajan ,1975, Rangarajan et. al,
1972 and Subramanyam ,1993) have examined various issues relating to the performance of
Indian banks, none of these studies have examined the efficiency of bank service provision in
India. Actually when one makes an attempt to conduct some kind of Bank analysis to
differentiate good banks from the bad ones, there are so many other things which need to be
taken care of before the actual analysis can take shape. By merely using the standard ratios for
banks financial analysis, one can sometime to reach to conclusions, which could be far from the
actual. But at the same time there has to be some mechanism through which banks can be
compared and evaluated. The traditional analysis largely focused on parameters like Credit-
Deposit Ratio commonly referred to as CD Ratio, level of NPAs, Capital Adequacy Ratios and
the other usual earning ratios. Things have changed now and just having a high CD Ratio
doesn’t mean that you are a sound bank. The basic definition of banking business has changed,
largely due to the entry of Private Sector in the banking industry that have given a totally new

dimension to the banking business which was never thought of a decade ago.

The emphasis on allocational efficiency witnessed during the last two decades is giving way to
functiona] efficiency and productivity. The parameters for performance evaluation of banks
have changed drastically. The traditional yardstick of assessment of banks by the quantum of
businegs growth has given way to efficiency and economy of operations. The most traditional
Method to benchmark efficiency in the banking sector is the ratio analysis of different financial
Parameters (like ROA or ROI). However, these ratios give one dimensional, incomplete picture
of the process and fail to account for the interaction and trade off between the varioys
Parameters, Particularly, factors like assets, profits, number of employees, customer satisfaction
etc are extremely important in identifying the productivity of a bank. Thus a multidimensiong]
Perspective is essential and these financial ratios in many cases, ends up with self—contradictOry
Tesults and it is impossible to draw a meaningful conclusion. Lastly, there is little reliable
®Mpirica] research on bank efficiency in India although (Bhattacharya et al., 1997, Chatterjee
1997 and Saha et al. , 2000) have examined various issues relating to the performance of Indian,

banks This study measures relative efficiency of Indian banks subsequent to the period used by
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the above studies. Some of the techniques/methods used by

researchers/economists/media/etc across the globe are summarized below:

. The distribution-free approach (DFA) to estimating X-efficiency assumes that
individual firms exhibit constant inefficiency across time, and that inefficiency can be
revealed by estimating a panel cost (or profit or production) function and averaging
together the annual residuals for individual firms. (Young, 1987)

2. Cone ratio DEA (Data Envelopment Analysis) models are suggested for monitoring
and/or early warning systems to be used by bank regulatory agencies. (P. L. Brockett et.
al, 86)

3. Target setting: evaluating the ability of the branch offices to meet the targets established
by bank management. We then evaluate the targets themselves, and we find that the list
of targets can be substantially reduced without significant loss or distortion of
information to bank management. We then re-evaluate the performance of branch
offices on the basis of a reduced set of influential targets. (Lovell et. al, 95)

4. Input-specific technical efficiency: This model is applied to obtain estimates of
technical inefficiency specific to factors of production in the banking industry
(Mohamed, 86)

5. Frontier profit efficiency: Profit efficiency is determined using the thick frontier
approach, and estimated using both alternative and standard profit function

specifications to illustrate the effect of different assumptions regarding the
competitiveness of the output market. (Lozano, 92)
6. BUSINESS TODAY (Dec 22, 2002)

¢ Size and Strength (Deposits, Average Working Funds, Net Profit)

® Operations (Net interest income, Incremental low cost deposits/incremental deposits,
cost to income ratio, cost of Avg interest bearing funds, Fee income/total income)

¢ Earnings Quality (interest spread/avg working funds, Operating profit/avg,
working funds, ROAA)

®  Productivity (provisions/ operating  profit, Business/branch, operating
profit/employee, operating profit/ branch)

® Capital Adequacy (CAR, Tier I capital)
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® Asset Quality (NPA/Net Advances, NPA growth rate, Loan loss cover)

7. Economic Value Added EVA Methodology, (Stern Stewart, 96) Economic value-added
(EVA) is the after-tax cash flow generated by a business minus the cost of the capital it
has deployed to generate that cash flow.

8. Performance Measurement index for banks (J Sadakkadula et. al, 2000). A
comprehensive index taking into account Operating Profit to working funds, return on
Assets, operating profit margin, and net profit margin and dividing the individual bank
values to the industry average and summing it up.

9. Muti Variant Discriminant Analysis (Net other earnings/ast, Loss reserve /total loan,
Non interest income/total Asset, total loan/total deposit, Net operating income/total
asset): STEKPI Version, Malaysia

10. Comparative Analysis of Korean Banks Performance (Hong et. al, 2001) Core
Capital/asset, interest spreads, non interest income/average assets, overheads/ average

assets, domestic loan growth rate, domestic loan/deposits, non performmg loans/ gross

loans.
11. Self Organizing Maps using Artificial Intelligence, which is essentially classification of

banks based on some selected parameters in well-demarcated clusters, the properties of

which are studied. (Nag et. al, 2002)

12.BUSINESS INDIA (Nov25- Dec 8,2002)

Capital Adequacy (C.AR/D /E, Advances/Total Assets, G-sec/Inv, G-sec/Total Assets)

" Resouices Deployed (Asset, Liq/Total Assets, Inv/Total Assets, Adv/Total Assets,

Fixed Assets/Total Assets)
" Asset Quality (NNPA /Net Adv, Adv/Total Assets, ADV Growth, Inv/Tota] Assets,
Adv Yield, Inv Yield, Inv Growth)

* Management Quality (CRED/DEP, NP
" Earnings Quality (Net Profit, EPS Growth, Spread, Other Income/Net Interest oo,

JEMP, BUS/EMP, ROANW)

NP/TAA)
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* Liquidity (Lig/Total Assets, G-sec/Total Assets, Approved securities/Total Assets)

13. Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) has been widely used to measure efficiency
performance of different financial institutions like banks, insurance, and mutual funds.
Particularly in the banking sector, it has been applied to benchmark performance of

different banks or study the efficiency estimates of different branches of a particular bank.

3.3 DATA ENVELOPMENT ANALYSIS APPROACH

Over the past two decades, the measurement of financial institution efficiency using
Nonparametric frontier models has received considerable attention. However, while the
literature on the application of data envelopment analysis (DEA) to the area of bank
efficiency measurement is burgeoning, research on the salient properties of efficiency scores
as a tool of policy is comparatively rare. The paucity of empirical research in this key area
seems perplexing, especially when one recognizes that policymakers need accurate
assessments about the effects of their decisions on the institutions they supervise. Only two
Studies have been identified to date within this tradition of the bank efficiency measurement
literature_ The first is (Berger et. al, 1997), which specified a formal set of conditions that
Efficiency rankings derived from various frontier methods should meet in order to be useful
in 3 policy role. The second is (Barr et. al, 1993), which attempted to investigate the

Properties of DEA efficiency scores by studying the relationship between these scores and

traditional measures of bank performance.

The objective of this chapter is to measure the productive efficiency of banks in a devdoping
COuntry, that is, India. The measurement of bank efficiency is done using DEA. The objective
of thig study is to measure and to explain the measured variation in the performance ang
therefore the productive efficiency of Indian commercial banks. While many similay studies
have evaluated the performance of banking sector in the US and other developed Countrieg,
Very few studies have evaluated the performance of banking sectors in deVeI()ping

€Conomies. Earlier though, (Tyagarajan, 1975), (Rangarajan et. al, 1972) and (Subramanyam’

998) have examined various issues relating to the performance of Indian bankg, None of

ese studies have examined the efficiency of bank service provision in India. Some recent
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studies did measure the efficiency in service provision of Indian banks but they suffer from

certain limitations.

The main impetus for this study was the appointment of the Narsimham Committee (1997)
by the Government of India, with a mandate to suggest a program of banking sector reforms
S0 as to ‘strengthen India’s banking system and make it internationally competitive’. This
Obviously requires that the relative efficiency of Indian banks is measured and compared
with banking efficiency in other countries. Secondly, a scheme of voluntary redundancies
for bank employees is under consideration by the Indian Banks” Association. In this context,
the efficiency issues of banks in India have again come to the fore. Thirdly, Indian banking
is particularly interesting because of the diversity of bank ownership forms. Indian banks
can be classified into three ownership groups; publicly owned, privately owned and foreign
owned. It is expected that there will be performance variation across groups of banks. This
study will quantify and explain the performance variation. Lastly, there is little reliable
empirical research on bank efficiency in India although (Bhattacharya et al. 1997),
(Chatterjee, 1997) and (Saha et al. 2000) have examined various issues relating to the

Performance of Indian banks. This study measures relative efficiency of Indian banks

subsequent to the period used by the above studies.



DEA is a linear programming technique initially developed by Charnes, Cooper and Rhodes
in 1978 to evaluate the efficiency of public sector non-profit organizations. Sherman and
Gold in 1985 were the first to apply DEA to banking. DEA calculates the relative efficiency
scores of various Decision-Making Units (DMUs) in the particular sample. The DMUs could
be banks or branches of banks. The DEA measure compares each of the banks/branches in
that sample with the best practice in the sample. It tells the user which of the DMUs in the
sample are efficient and which are not. The ability of the DEA to identify possible peers or
role models as well as simple efficiency scores gives it an edge over other methods. As an
efficient frontier technique, DEA identifies the inefficiency in a particular DMU by
comparing it to similar DMUSs regarded as efficient, rather than trying to associate a DMUs
performance with statistical averages that may not be applicable to that DMU. DEA
modeling allows the analyst to select inputs and outputs in accordance with a managerial
focus. This is an advantage of DEA since it opens the door to what-if analysis. Furthermore,

the technique works with variables of different units without the need for standardization

(e.g. dollars, number of transactions, or number of staff).

3.3.1 Mathematical Formulation
A common measure for relative efficiency is,

Efficiency = Weighted Sum of Outputs/ Weighted Sum of Inputs

Efficiency of unit j = U1y1j + U2y2j +...... / ViXyj + VaXoj +.....

Where u; - weight given to outputi
y1j= amount of output 1 from unit j

V1 = weight given to output 1
X1j = amount of input 1 to unitj

The basic mathematical formulation of DEA has the following form: Maximize 1 subject to 2

B, = {i urbyrb} / {i vibxm} ........................... (1)
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R I
{Z urby:'j}/{z Vibxij} = 1' vj, j = 112- o oy N -.......(2)
r=1 i=1

(wherer=1,2,.....Randi=1,2,...,N)

*  Vij: observed quantity of output r produced by unitj=12,...N
* Xijj : observed quantity of input I used by unitj=1,2,.....,.N
* Urb : the weight (to be determined) given to output r by base unit b

* Vib : the weight (to be determined) given to input i by the base unit b

€:a very small positive number (non Archimedean infinitesimal

In our present study, we have applied the output -oriented (CCR) and (BCC) DEA model to

measure the efficiencies. We solve the following linear programming model.

m s
max ¢ + 5{2 s, + Z Sf}
i=1 r=1
st.Zé’xy+si—=xm,\7’i =12, ....,m
j=1

Zé’xy _sr+ = ¢yr0’vr = 1,2,....,5
Jj=1

S,s; s,t 20
Where xij and yy are the amount of ith input consumed and the amount of rth output

Produced by the jth DMU. If f ¢'= 1 and all the input/ output slacks are zero, then a unit js

said to be efficient.

3.3.2 Literature Review on DEA (See Appendix 1)

In this context it is worth mentioning some other studies that have been conducted
in other countries on banking industry efficiency using DEA Method. Some of the
studies done in US are Aly et. al, 1990, Elyasiani et. al, 1995, Grabowsky et. al, 1994,
Ferrier et. al, 1990, Miller et. al, 1996, Grabowsky et. al, 1988 and Yue,1992. Recently
researchers outside US also started examining the efficiency of these banks using the

DEA method. Berg et. al, 1993 and Forsud et. al, 1991 explore the efficiency of
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Norwegian banks and other Nordic countries. Fukuyama (1993, 1995) examines the
efficiency of Japanese commercial banks. Favero et. al, 1995 and Resti (1993, 1997)
deal with the Italian banking industry. Noulas et. al, 1996 look at the Indian public
sector banks. Pal et. al, 1998) again did it for Indian banks. An international survey on the

efficiency of financial institutions can be found in Berger et. al, 1997.

Two approaches are commonly used in applying DEA in banking:

* The production view, in which branches are viewed as using labor, capital, space, etc to
process transactions, make sales of financial products, etc;
* The intermediation view, in which branches are viewed as collecting funds and deposits

from the neighborhood and intermediating them into loans and other income-earning

activities.

These two views are complementary and can be integrated into an overall assessment, as
ShOWn

Figure: Integrating DEA Assessments in Banking

Resources Deposits ' -

EnVil‘Onment Market Loans Production

—————— » | Efficiency & | Efficiency _ 5
Intermediation view Production View

The choice of inputs and outputs in DEA is a matter of long standing debate among
researchers. Most of the DEA studies follow an intermediation approach. Withip the
intermediation approach, the exact set of inputs and outputs used depends largely on data
availability. As already stated DEA is sensitive to the choice of input-output Vvariables. Thijg
is strength of the technique, since it reveals which of the input-output variables neeq to be

closely monitored by bank management to improve efficiency.

3.4 DEFINITION OF BANK INPUT AND OUTPUT VARIABLES

One of the main difficulties in the measurement of bank output is that there is no consensyg

in the literature on how to define or measure these services. Broadly speaking, bank output
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consideration is whether the variables should be based on currently available data or new
measures developed. It is generally desirable to stay close to the kinds of input and output
measures currently used by management for performance evaluation. Management is
already familiar with these measures and has accepted them as being informative. In

addition, data on these variables are already being collected and therefore, new data

collection systems are not needed.

Management should be involved in the selection of inputs and outputs. The omission of
pertinent variables can limit the managerial usefulness of the DEA analysis. Also, remember
that the inputs and outputs do not have to be reduced to a common unit of measure. Third,
the inputs and outputs should be comprehensive. That is, they should fully measure the
activities of the organization under evaluation and should also be operationally meaningful
in the sense that they should be commonly used, and hence, familiar to officials concerned
with the evaluation and control of these activities. Finally, the values of the variables should
be controlled (e.g., by audit and review processes) so that they cannot be easily manipulated
or carelessly reported without some significant chance of detection and correction. DEA

results and the interpretation of these results can be significantly affected by missing data or

misreported data.

3.5 METHODOLGY

3.5.1 DEA Model Used in the Study

The first step in the analysis is the measurement of bank performance. Following
Bhattacharya et al. 1997, performance has been associated with technical efficiency
(hereafter refereed to as ‘efficiency’). It is the ability to transform multiple resources into
multiple financial services. According to Coelli et. al, 1996, the constant returns to scale
(CRS) DEA model is only appropriate when the DMU is operating at an optimal scale. Some
factors such as imperfect competition, constraints on finance, etc. may cause the firm to be
not operating at an optimal level in practice. To allow for this possibility, Banker, Charnes
and Cooper in 1984 introduced the variable returns to scale (VRS) DEA model. In this study,
technical efficiency has been calculated using variable returns to scale (VRS) input oriented

BCC model of the DEA and Constant returns to scale CCR Model methodology both. The
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input-oriented model determines the minimal input efficiency measure. In addition to a
proportional decrease in inputs in order for a farm to be efficient, there might be slacks that
allow for further unproportional reduction of some inputs (Coelli et al., 1996). The output-
oriented model measures the proportional increase in output that can be attained with
constant input (Thiele et. al, 1999). Slacks in this type of model give information about the
possibility of an unproportional increase in some outputs. We are using both the BCC and
CCR Model to separate Technical efficiency into pure technical efficiency and scale
efficiency so as to find reasons for inefficiencies. Following the scale properties of the above
two models, [Cooper et al, 1994] give the definition of scale efficiency; for a particular DMU
the scale efficiency is defined as ratio of its overall technical efficiency score (measured by

the CCR Model) and pure technical efficiency score (measured by BCC Model).

The Tests (Two Models)

In the test, To measure efficiency as directly as possible, that is, management’s success in
controlling costs and generating revenues (that is, x-efficiencies), two input and two output
Variables, namely, interest expenses, non-interest expenses/operating expense (inputs) and
net interest income/spread and non-interest income (outputs) have been used (hereafter
referred to as Model A). A second DEA analysis was run with deposits and staff numbers as
inputs and net loans and non-interest income as outputs (hereaftér referred to as Mode] B).
In the Model B, where a less direct approach is taken to measure efficiency, deposits replace
interest expense, staff numbers replace non-interest expenses and net loans become proxy
for net interest income. The two models have been used to show how efficiency scores differ
when inputs and outputs are changed. The second test has been carried out only for the year

2001. The input and output variables considered are:
Table 3.1. Input and Output Variables for Model A and Model B

Model A Model B
Input Variables Output Variables Input Output Variables
Variables
Interest Net interest Deposits Net Loans
Ex income
\Op%?ﬁig Non-interest Staff Non-interest
_Expense income Numbers income
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3.5.2 Data Used

The present study uses the available published data for the years 1997-2002 compiled by the
Indian Banks’ Association (IBA) and Reserve Bank Of India Report. As per this database, in
the year 2001-2002, there were 27 public sector commercial banks, 34 private sector
commercial banks and 42 foreign banks. Of these 103 banks, the data on some of the inputs
and outputs of nine banks (1 private sector and 8 foreign) were not available. Hence these
banks were excluded from the sample and due to data availability problem at the individual
bank level some more banks got excluded. The final sample thus had 27 public sector
commercial banks, 20 private sector commercial banks and 21 foreign ownership banks.
Thus, the total observations consisted of 68 banks. Time series data on all the outputs and

the inputs from 1997 to 2002 will be used in the Empirical Analysis. (See Appendix 2 for the

list of banks considered)

3.6 EMPIRICAL RESULTS

3.6.1 First Test

Table 3.2 reports the mean efficiency results for the whole sample, the nationalized banks, the

Private and foreign banks for the year 1997 through 2002. Several conclusions emerge.

Table 3., Efficiency Results under Constant return to scale (CCR Model)

1999 | 2000|2001 | 2002
Banks 1997 | 1998
- 05534 | 0.6526 | 0.6652 | 0.6655 | 0.6690
paplic Sector Banks 3’2283 06178 [0.6267 | 0.6217 | 0.6615 | 0.6488
g‘:\a.‘te?;nlf S o3 [0.8394 | 0.8895 | 0.8397 | 0.8050 | 0.8118
51! banxs ' : 14 | 0.6864 | 0.6918 | 0.6904
Overall Mean 0.6920 | 0.6944 | 0.69

First, the overall technical efficiency for the whole sample is 69% and it is almost stable over the

i can produce the same quant
SiX-year period. Accordingly, the banks, on an average p quantity of output

by Teducing the levels of input by 31%.

Ones from the groups and show a continuous Inc
ed nearly the same for the whole period and it s

of 67.69% in 1997 to 66.34% in 1998 and

Second, the foreign banks appear to be the most efficient

rease in efficiency from 1997 to 2002. Third, the

efficienCy of the nationalized banks has remain
around 67%, however it went down from a high

65.26% in 1999 and recovered to 66.90% in 2002. One possible explanation for this could be the
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decline in banks net income since these banks have to report all their non performing assets and

make provisions for them.

Table 3.3 reports the result on pure Technical efficiency. As can be seen the pure technical
efficiency for the whole sample ranges between 80.53% and 84.94%. Again, the foreign banks
are most efficient, while the efficiency for public and private sector banks show a decline. High

ratio of non-performing assets to net advances seems to explain decline in pure efficiency.

Table 3.3.Efficiency Results under Variable return to scale (BCC Model)

[ Banks 1997 ] 1998 [1999 [2000 [2001 [ 2002
Public Sector Banks | 0.8497 | 0.8279 | 0.8233 | 0.8369 | 0.8509 | 0.8587

Private Banks 0.8423 | 0.7847 [0.8165 |0.7271 | 0.7454 |0.7176

[ Foreign Banks 09097 | 0.9342 [0.9339 [0.8777 [ 0.8484 [0.9088
Overall Mean 0.8494 | 0.8298 | 0.8276 | 0.8053 | 0.8165 | 0.8235

Table 3.4 reports the result on Scale inefficiency. The major source of overall inefficiency for the
Nationalized banks is scale inefficiency. For private banks we observe that in the first three
Yyears, the scale inefficiency dominates, while in the last three years, the pure technical
inefficiency is larger than scale inefficiency. If anything, the last observation suggests that the
Private sector banks have moved closer to the right size but they got worse in utilizing their
inputs, Competition from foreign banks may have hurt private banks in their ability to attract

Customers in the metropolitan areas, as both private and foreign banks are concentrated in these

areas only.

Table 3 4, Scale Efficiency

Banks 1997 1998 [ 1999 [2000 [ 2001 | 2002

Banks
Public SecrorBanks [ 0.7967 | 0-8013 | 0.7927 | 0.7948 | 0.7821 | 0.7791

Private Banks 0.7479 | 0.7873 | 0.7675 | 0.8550 | 0.8874 | 0.9041
FOreign Banks 0.8283 | 0.8985 | 0.9525 | 0.9567 | 0.9488 | 0.8933
Overall Mean 0.8147 | 0.8368 | 0.8354 | 0.8523 | 0.8473 | 0.8384
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3.6.2 Second Test

i i h able 3.5

Table 3.5. Efficiency Score of Bank categories

1B
[ Model A | 1\/(IiodeMin -
d | Min Max | Mean | Stan
N Mean | Stan o 1
o 0.18 0.28
Public 27 0.78 0.08 0.67 1 0.45
Sector
o 0.55 1 0.60 0.30 0.05 1
Private |20 [0.84 0.11 . l
s 0.56 1 0.80 0.19 0.44
Foreign |21 089 | 0.14 . |
% 0.12 0.55 1 0.62 0.24 0.05
All 68 0.83 . .
[ Banks

f Indian banks was 0.83 as per Model A and 0.62 as per Model B.of
The mean efficiency score o fits within the range of the scores found in other overseas studies
the study. The efficiency score fits efficiency. “The mean efficiency value was 0.86 with a range
but is lower than the world”m:anean efficiency score that is lower than the world mean implies
0f0.55 (UK) to 0.95 (France). .Am ks to further improve efficiency so as to achieve world best
that there is a need for Incilar;:;aieeds to help banks by creating an appropriate policy
Practice. The government a

tes efficiency. In the Table 3.6, we present number of banks by
€vironment that promo
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Table 3.6: Number of banks in four quartiles of efficiency scores by bank ownership

—

Model A

Model B

_

Private

Foreign

Total

Public

Private

Foreign

Total

Lowest
Efficiency (Q1)

Public
1

2

“~

3

6

7

2

3

-

15

Next to Lowest
Quartile (Q2)

13

2

7

22

10

8

4

Next to highest
Efficiency

Quartile (03)

8

6

23

6

17

Highest
efficiency

—uartile (Q4)

17

14

Total

2]

68

27

20

21

68

Banks
frontier
(Efficiency

on the

[N

11

11

Score=1)

The above table shows that as per Model A, of the 11 banks on the frontier, 5 were foreign banks
While as per Model B, out of the 11 banks on the frontier 7 were foreign banks. Further, it could
be seen that as per Model A, out of the 17 banks in the highest efficiency quartile (Q4), 5 (30%)
are foreign banks and 7 (42%) are private sector banks. As per Model B, out of 14 banks 8 (58%)
are foreign banks in the Q4. This means that as a group more foreign banks are in the highest
efficiency quartile than public or private sector banks. Their preponderance in Model B is,
Particularly, noteworthy. It shows that foreign banks are much more efficient as a group in use
of inputs of staff and deposits as compared to public or private sector banks. As a group, the

Public sector commercial banks have displayed lower efficiency level in both the models.

The banks that were on the efficiency frontier under both models included State Bank of India,
Bank of Baroda (two public sector banks), ICICI Bank, UTI Bank (two private sector) anq Citi
Bank, Bank of America, Deutsche Bank, ABN Amro Bank, Chase Manhattan Bank, (five foreign
banks). The minimum efficiency score in Model B for private sector bank was 0.05. Thig was
bECause two banks, Bank of Nainital and Bareilly Bank had scores of 0.05 and 0.06 respectively.
These outlier cases are because of peculiarity of the region in which these banks operate, They

e flush yith deposits but have few avenues for lending. These banks invest funds in
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government securities (which is not considered here as output due to non-availability of data)

hence these banks show low efficiency scores.

3.7 ANALYSIS OF THE FINDINGS

The scores computed using Model A and Model B need some explanation. As already stated
DEA is a flexible technique and produces efficiency scores that are different when alternative
sets of inputs and outputs are used. In Model A, we have used prices of inputs (interest and
non-interest expenses) as the input variables while in Model B, mainly quantities of inputs
(deposits and staff numbers) have been used as input variables. Foreign banks as a group
appear to be more efficient users of input quantities to produce a given output as compared to
the public sector banks and private sector banks. This means that there are inefficiencies in use
of these two inputs (deposits and staff numbers) between the public sector and private sector
banks, which these banks need to remedy to achieve increased efficiency. On the other hand,
foreign banks need to focus on pricing aspects (interest and non-interest income and expenses)
of their inputs and outputs to achieve higher efficiencies. The lower scores for public sector
banks in both the models could be because these banks are in the transition phase and could
have higher amount of fixed assets employed which have not generated good returns because
of political interference and other issues while the Private banks need some more time to
improve upon their advantages and with more mergers and consolidations happening in this

sector, the inefficiencies due to scale will be reduced and the gap between private and foreign

banks will be narrowed down further.

The efficiency estimates as per this study compare well with the score estimated by
Bhattacharya et al. (1997). In their study the efficiency scores ranged from 79.19 to 80.44 in the
Years 1986 through 1991. In the study of Saha et al. (2002) where efficiency scores have been
estimated only for 25 public sector banks the estimates ranged from 0.58 to 0.74 in the year 2001
and the mean score was 0.69. The inputs and outputs, number of firms in the sample and the
Year are different in the present study compared fo these two studies. Bhattacharya et a1,
analyze data for the prederegulaﬁon years while this study does so after sufficient period has
elapsed since deregulation. The banks have taken steps to lower the ratio of Non-Performing
Assets, which has been brought down from 20 per cent in 1995-96 to 12 percent in 2000-2001
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(Rangarajan, 2002). This would help in increasing interest income an input in Model A. The
banks need to continue their efforts to reduce the percentage of nonperforming assets to
improve efficiency. Another important reason affecting the efficiency of public sector banks, in
particular, is the high establishment expenses as a percentage of total expenses. In the year 2000-
2001, the ratio was 20.13 for public sector banks, 9.87 for private sector commercial banks and
7.66 for foreign banks. The public sector banks have introduced the voluntary redundancy

scheme for staff, which is successful and has helped in bringing down this ratio and thus

improve efficiency scores further.

3.8 THE LAST WORD

Using published data, this paper worked out the production efficiency score of Indian banks
for the year 2000-2001. The scores were calculated using the non-parametric technique of Data
Envelopment Analysis. The study shows that as per the Models, the private sector banks have a
higher mean efficiency score as compared to the public sector and foreign commercial banks in
India have been the star performers. Most banks on the frontier are foreign owned or private
sector banks. The study recommends that the existing policy of bringing down non-performing
assets as well as curtailing the establishment expenditure through voluntary retirement scheme
for bank staff and rationalization of rural branches are steps in the right direction that could

help Indian banks improve efficiency over a period of time so as to achieve world best practice.
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3.9 AN OBJECTIVE METHOD FOR RANKING THE PRIVATE SECTOR BANKS

In the previous part of the chapter we have seen how Private Sector banks in India have done

comparatively better than their counterparts in the public sector. In this part of the study we
extend our analysis further and make an attempt to compare these private sector banks within

themselves and try to find out which banks are really the best performing banks in the country.

The study is an attempt to develop an objective method for ranking the Private Sector banks on

the basis of four performance criterions namely: (a) Business Performance, (b) Efficiency, (c)

Safety and Soundness, and (d) Labor Productivity. In turn 40 indicators measure these

performance measures.

This is to develop an objective method for ranking the banks. At present, several newspapers

and magazines are carrying out this exercise, but these methods use weights, at some stage or

the other, which are determined by subjective considerations. These methods have the inherent

problem of changing the ranks by changing the subjective weights, and, thus, bias gets built in,

either intentionally or unintentionally. The moment one starts the exercise by evaluating one

Parameter as more important than the other, one is essentially letting his subjective judgment

take over objectivity. Therefore, what has been attempted in the study is that, ab initio,

Parameters have not been given weights. These weights have been determined in an objective

Manner, This is where the study departs from the usual ratings available in which parameters

are chosen, ab initio, on the basis of subjective judgment.

There are techniques available to determine the importance of a parameter, but these are rather

complex. Another objective of this study is to arrive at a rather simple method to rank banks,

Which anybody can use. A method, which can give a comprehensive view of a bank by

mmrporaﬁng as many performance indicators as possible. Mostly, the available methods uge a

few of these indicators; besides, these methods do not take into account the inter—relationships
among thege variables. To that extent, these mode
the rating models is that they should be based on published data, which, anyway, all the
existing models do use. Some of these are not simple enough for general readers to understang,
AS these are mostly brought out by newspapeis and magazines, it is presumed that thege

shoulq be intelligible to general readers. The method presented here is not only simple but 3] 50

Is lack insight. Another important aspect of
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easy to work with. The method, besides giving ranks, also throws light on certain other aspects

of banking, as can be seen in due course.

Data have been collected from the balance sheets of the banks and the RBI Report on trend and

Progress of Banking in India, 2000-2001.Four aspects of a bank’s performance has been studied:

a)
b)

Business Performance
Efficiency

Safety and Soundness, and
Labour productivity, comprising 11,19,7 and 3 indicators respectively. Thus, in all 40

indicators have been focused on. These indicators are mentioned in the table. The

indicators have been selected by following the Return on Equity (ROE) decomposition

Analysis.

3.9.1 Ranking of the Private sector Banks

For the purpose of ranking the 17 private banks, the following methodology has been followed,

which is given step-by-step, below:

1.

First Step: The 17 banks were sorted out in descending order (from best to worst)

according to the values posted by them in respect of each of the indicators belonging to

the four aspects studied. (Table 3A)

Second Step: In respect of each of the aspects (Business Performance, Efficiency, Safety
and Soundness, and Labour Productivity) the number of times a bank occupied the 1st,
2nd, 17t positions (since there are 17 banks) was computed. The number of times that a
bank appeared in different positions equaled the number of indicators under each aspect
studied. e.g. the business performance aspect had 11 indicators, and hence, each bank

would appear 11 times in total across the 17 positions. The results are presented in the

Table 3B.
Third Step: Weights
were 17 banks, the wei

15 rank-17, 2nd rank-16, 3rd rank-15,......
d in Table 3C.

were assigned to each rank in the descending order. Since there
ghtage pattern was as follows:

17th rank-1. Weights were then normalized

These weights are presente
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4. Fourtl : > g
1 Step: The sum of the number of times a bank appeared in the 17 k
opes 2 ranks as

weighted by the ‘e-menti '
y the above mentioned weights was calculated. These sums are
. s are presented in

Table 3D in respect of all the four aspects studied.

SJI

F‘ i - . -
ifth Step: on the basis of the above-mentioned values presented in Table 3D and 3E
able 3D and 3E, the

Table 3G.

To arri :
arrive at the total ranking over all the four aspects, Steps 2 to 4 were repeated, i.e., fi
c , L.e., first, on

4 Uy nd, 3 d 1 il T
C i POSIthHF‘»

(since there were 17 banks) in total was computed.

Next, weights, as mentioned in ste

times a bank appeared in the 17 ranks

ba i
anks were ranked as per these weighted sums

Table 3.7 List of Indicators

|

Business Performance Indicators

r.No

wlofNfov[a] v =]m

—
=

Indicators Code
Growth Rate in Deposits B1
Growth Rate in Investments B2
Growth Rate in Loans B3
Growth Rate in Net Profit B4
Growth Rate in Core Net Profit B5
Growth Rate in Provisions and Contingencies | B6
C: D Ratio B7
C+1: D Ratio B8
Market share” in Deposits B9
Market share* in Loans B10
B11

—
—

Market share® in Investments

p 3, were assigned to each rank. Sum of the number of
0

as weighted by the weights was calculated. The 17

74



Efficiency Indicators

Sr.No Indicators Code
1. Return on Net Assets E1
2. Return on Assets B2
3. Equity Multiplier B3
4. Asset Utilization Ratio E4
S Profit Margin E5
6. Interest Income/Average Assets E6
7. Non-Interest Expenses/Total Income E7
8 Total Interest Expenses/ Total Income E8
9 Provisions and Contingencies/Total Income E9
. 10. Wages and Salaries /Total Income E10
11. Operating Expenses /Total Income E1l
12, Net Interest Margin E12
13. Burden EF13
14. Interest Expenses on Deposits/Total Income El4
15. Interest Expenses on Non-Deposits/Total Income El5
16. Commissions, Exchange, Brokerage Income /Average Assets El16
17. Net Profit from Exchange Transactions /Average Assets E17
18. Interest /Discount Income from Loans and Bills/Average E18
Assets
19. Interest Income from Investments/Average Assets E19
Safety and Soundness Indicators
L Total CRAR S1
2. | Tier-I Capital Ratio 52
3. | Net NPA Ratio S3
4. Gross NPA Ratio S4
S. Growth Rate in Contingent Liabilities S5
6. Total Contingent Liabilities /Total Assets S6
7. Ratio of Loans to Sensitive Sector to Net Advances S7
Productivity Indicators
L Business per Employee Rs.lakh P1
2. Profit per Employee P2
3. Staff Costs per Rs. 100 crore of Average Assets P3

* Market share is in relati

on to 17 Private sector Banks
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Table 3.8

Indicator Wise Ranking of Banks
A. Business Performance Indicators

76

2000-2001 2001-2002
BANK | B1|B2|B3|Ba|B5|B6|B7|Bs|B9|B10|B11|B1[B2|B3|B4a[B5| Be | B7| B8 [ B9 | B10o]B1
JKB [17[15 17|13 |1a] 4 [t |12[3] 1[5 Jws[uf[s[3[2[3][1][1]a]1 ]
B |9 138 | 1a|s 0|6 ]|s8[17]1]2]3|17[1ua|3|w3|13|1w0]4af6|3] 4|3
UWB | 3|3 | a3 | 3212|153 |14 14|13 [1][4]2|[14]14] 9 |16|[11[13] 14| 12
IDBI 6 146 121 1312|855 4 (6|96 |15(15]14|11|9}|5] 5 4
BSB 316 1616|178 |31 ]15]12] 14 [13]17)17[17}17]|15]| 7 |2 [15] 13 | 15
CEN 161171 1]15]l15]15| 6 |16 6| 6 7 110]2|9|2|5|5]|5]15]6]6 6
BOR |15|5 15|14 12|10 7 |13] 7| 8 | 8 |9 ]|6][12]1]1]) 8 |8|13|]7]| 8 8
FB 5121312 |3 6|78 7 |w]wel1i2lw|s8]o]2]3]6|8] 710
ICICI 1216151717 |1nn|2]2(Bj1n]15|5]3 |47 [4|enn|2]|7]|a]n]|4
SIB |2 11| 2126|3135 6] 15 |16 [14]5 [1]a]4]|13[12]10]16] 16| 16
[HDFC| 1 [ 1| 7[5 |2 |17 6|9 fte|13 1221 |1]9]w0]1]i15]5/[1]n2]|n
BOP w99 f11]5 2 5110 2 3 2 3113|185 7 6 [10]17{ 1 3 ”
W 8 1121101 1 |13[9 171411117 | 9 |12/10)3 |11 |3 ]|16|17]8 |1 15 9]
VB T liol2l17[16]1a]0|6[0]10]un]7fte|l0]i2]ul7 [9[a]w0]10]13
GTB |7 |7 |11lo9|1n|1]9]|5 |44 |1 |4]|8[4]6|8| 46|44 |2]2 1
CSB M13l13]10][ 9 1m|1nf17y16 |17 |87 |15(16]|16|17|14]14[17] 17 | 17
UTI > T2 1816 8|7 |w]aflolole6|nji5{7|10]12]12[13]3[9][ 9 |7
Table 3.8(cont’d) B. Efficiency Aspect (2000-2001)
Bank |E1E2TE3 | Ea|E5 | E6 | E7 | E8 | E9 | E10 | E11 | E12 | E13 | E14 | E15 | E16 | E17 [ E18 | E19
JKB (5317 i1 1614|176 |11 |13[8 |8 |16 [5 |1 |16 [10 [5 [4 |17
B |7 |3 [5 153 [15]11[2 |14 3 4 9 6 2 15 |11 |1 10 |16
UWB e 15 T2 (3 |7 |2 |9 |6 |01 10 |1 12 |7 10 |5 14 |16 |3
IDBT Ti5 317 (12 1t (12125 |6 |16 [16 [6 |15 [9 [6 |4 [T6 [15 |7
BSB 119 16 [12]9 |5 [12[12]5 [5 [18 |7 |6 |17 {8 |13 [2 [10
CEN T s 1e (35 (8 |6 %8 |7 |7 [10 [ |1 17 |7 [3 |6 |1
BOR e 1o (a7 (13 |3 [5B[4 [ |14 [14 [14 [15 18 7 |8 |1 |1
FB T Ts 1519 |4 (100l |! 17 117 |2 17 |5 4 14 |2 , 3
ICICI 3 1 3 2 1 5 1 8 16 |2 2 11 1 11 5 1 4 3 T3
SIB oot 7 |50 [5 [1B [15 [4 [16 J10 ]9 |13 [12 1373
HDFC 2 14 (1312 |5 |3 (2 |° |15 (4 [3 [7 |3 |8 |1 |9 [1579 37
BOP 1515 15 [0 (9 [14]3 |3 |V 6 6 12 |4 3 14 [6 7 5 3
NB T e T T e 16|17 |17 [3 |15 |9 |17 {13 |17 ]I 6 (17 15T
VB ot tots 1 (7 17 [0 |2 [ [T 2 [3 [0 s %
GTB 5 TR 3 2 4 4 7 12 11 5 8 4 13 2 11 R 5
CSB =167 18 |6 |8 |6]2 9 12 |15 |9 B 112 15 {6 [T 1
UT] > T2 [T |2 1 14 11319 1 3 2 16 |3 12 |9 73




Table 3.8 (Cont’d)

B. Efficiency Aspect (2001-2002)

77

Bank |E1|[E2[E3[E4|E5|E6|E7|E8|E9|E10| E11 | E12 | E13 [ E14 | E15 | E16 | E17 | E18 | E19
KB (9 [9 (8 [13]9 [17 |3 |7 |8 [10 [10 |13 |6 1 17 |6 6 2 17
IIB (118 |5 |16]8 [14]8 [5 [14]4 [4 9 [5 [5 [15 [9 |2 19 116
UWB |12 |12 [16 |5 [12 |7 |6 |9 [12]14 [8 [6 [10 |7 |11 |7 |11 16 13
IDBI |15 |14 |4 |15 |14 |13 |12 |8 [10]16 |16 |5 |16 |9 |5 |2 [16 |12 15
'BSB |17 |17 |7 |10 |17 |10 |10]16 |17 [15 |15 [16 |15 |11 |16 110 |12 |7 13
CEN [10]1w06 |11 ]10]([3 [16]12]9 [5 [5 |4 [11 |13 [8 |17 [1 13 |12
BOR (5 |11 [17 [14 [11 [12 [13 (11 |4 |9 11 |12 [12 [12 |6 5 10 [11 | n
'FB 2 |2 (1218 |2 [4 |15t [1 [17 [17 |1 17 |2 |4 |12 [13 |1 14
ICICT [1 [1 |2 [2 |1 |8 |1 [4 |15]1 1 8 1 6 7 1 4 13
'SIB |7 |6 |1316 |6 |5 |9 |6 |6 |12 |14 [3 |12 |8 |9 |13 8 15
HDFC |4 |5 [14 |3 |5 |2 |11 ]15]3 [3 |3 |14 |4 [15 |13 |11 |15 |15 |3
[BOP [8 [7 |9 |12 |7 |16[2 |2 [16]6 |6 [10 |3 [4 |10 |8 |3 |6 |15
NB 166 [1 |17 ]16 |15 )17 [17 |2 |8 7 17 (7 17 |1 16 [17 [17 |1
VB 3[13(i0of9 [13]9 (7 J10([11 7 12 |7 13 110 |3 3 12 |5 10
| GTB [3 [3 [11]4 |3 [6 [4 [3 |7 |13 |9 |2 |9 [3 [z ]2 [8 [10 |38
CSB 14 [15 |15 |7 [15 (11 |5 (13 |5 (11 |13 |15 |8 14 (14 [15 |5 13 [9
UTT |6 |2 [3 |1 |2 |1 |14 [13]2 [2 11 |2 |16 [2 |12 |9 |12 |3
Table 3.8(Cont’d)
C. Safety and Soundness Aspect
2000-2001 2001-2002
Bank [S1 Sz [S3 |S4 |[S5 [S6 |[S7 [S1 [S2 [S3 [S4 [S5 [S6 |s7
JKB |73 o Tz (9 |12 (17 |17 [4 [7 [8 [7 [15 [17 |17
IIB 2 1 7 12 |2 12 |7 |3 [4 |9 12 [12 |13 [12
UWB |5 3 8 8 14 (15 [14 |10 |13 |12 [11 [10 [15 |8
IDBI 11 14 |14 |14 |4 11 |4 15 [16 [13 [13 |9 8 1
BSB 6 11 17 |15 |10 |9 16 |17 |17 [17 [17 [16 |10 |18
CB ] o 17 |5 7 |5 [9 |14 [10 [8 [2 |7 |7
BOR 12 1? T it |5 |1 |18 |15 |11 |10 [8 |6 T
FB 9 ) 2 3 13 |13 |6 6 6 4 5 11 |14 [5
ICICT |2 1 1 9 10 [3 |2 1 1 2 7 13 1
SB 5 :6 6 |6 |8 |4 |16 17 |5 |6 |6 |7 [5 |u
\\.
HDFC 1 3 |3 |4 |6 |6 |l 1 3 |2 (3 1 [3 |3
BOP 515 15 |1 |1 |8 [ [8 |5 |4 [ [ T¢
Em =16 |17 |15 |16 |10 [12 [9 |14 [16 [5 |9 |9
VB % o |15 |6 |17 [8 |9 U |12 |15 |14 |3 [12 |3
GTB |7 7 T13 |13 |7 |3 |12 [8 |10 |7 |9 Jé6 [4 [0 ]
CSB oo i 16 2 [ B % |1 (6 [ [7 [ 153
@3 2 4 2 3 2 2 5 2 3 1 2 ) 12




Table 3.8 (Cont’d)
D. Labour Productivity Aspect

2000-2001 2001-2002
Bank P1 P2 P3 P1 P2 P3
JKB 5 10 6 5 8 10
I1B 4 3 3 8 7 3
VB 10 7 15 12 13
IDBI 7 9 7 6 6
BSB 13 13 14 11 17 15
CB 6 12 5 6 9 5
BOR 9 17 12 12 11 9
FB 12 5 17 13 4 17
ICICI 2 1 2 2 1 1
| SIB 14 11 13 15 10 12
HDFC 1 4 4 3 2 )
- | BOP T 6 8 10 5 3
NB 17 15 16 17 15 T3
[ UWB 16 16 9 16 16 >
CSB 15 14 11 14 13 14
GTB 8 8 10 7 14 1
UTI 3 2 1 1 3 3
Table 3.9
Frequency Distribution of Ranks
A. Business Aspect 2000---2001
—_—
Bank | Ranks
st | 2nd | 3rd 4th | 5th 6th | 7th | 8th oth | 10th | 11th | 12th | 13th | 14th | 15th 16 | 17t
JKB 2 - |t |® [+ [~ [- |- {-|f- |- [t v v |1 |- |2
w1 1 |1 |- |- [t [- |3+ It 4- 1. f- qr - - 1
owe T Tz - - |- |- |- [-[- [t [t T2 J1 -7~
BT |1 - |- |t |2 |2 |- [t ]-1- [I° 2 |1 |1 - - 1=
BSB |1 |- |1 |- |- |} I° ol R e 0 R N BN EAR
I N I I LS il Sl T s e S e - -
BOR 1 i i 1 |- 2 |12 |- 1 - 1 1 1 2 N "
FB —1— T2 (3 |t |- [2 | [- [} |- |- |- |- |- |1 |-
cier Tz - |- |- [2 ] [-}f- f2 4t 41 |- |1 [1 [-]
SIB -T2 (1 1% |- |t |- |- |- |- [* |- |t |- j2 |2 T-
HDEC |2 |- |- |! [} |- - ; —t 2 |t |- - |t
— 12 |- |- |- - - - - - -
;losp - 3 1 — T~ [T |2 |t |t [T [T [1 |- |13
W —T . 1 1 1- |- |[- |4 2 1 - 1 N .
IS rn e B 5 B S S i b B R R
m — — 7 1- |- |- |1 1 2 - 2 1 - T 15
Ut [~ 2 |- L - [2 (112 I i L S e RN R
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Table 3.9 (Cont’d)
A. Business Aspect (Concluded)

2001-2002

Bank Ranks

1st | 2nd [ 3rd | 4th [ 5th | gth Zth | gth | 9th | 10t [ 11th | 12th | 13th | 14th | 15th | 16th [ 17tk
JKB 31 |2]1]2]- -1 -1 - 1 - - - 1
 1IB - - 2 | 2 - - - - - 1 - - 3 1 - 1 1
UWB |1 | 1 1 -1 1 1 1 3 - 1
IDBI - | - -1l 212 -1-12 1 1 2 -
BSB - 1 - - - - 1 - - - 3 - 2 - 3 4
CB 2l =]-]13]3 -1 1 - - - . 1
BOR 2 | - =« ) - [1]1]4]1 - - 1 1 = B _
FB T 11 -1-|t[1]2]t]t{- : S
ICIcT | - [ 1 |1 T 11 21-1-1]-12]-]T-131]-71-
SIB [ - -[-[2[1]-]- 1 |1 [t [t [ v -3 7-
HDFC |3 1 - | -1 |- |- |- [*[ [ v 2] -]-]*1]-1]-
BOP |11 2 - |ttty -| v |- -| V|-~ ) -
NB T -T21-1-1-1-11]1 1 1 - - 1 1 1
VB - - - = - - 2 - 1 3 1 2 1 - = 1 N
GTB 112 1-14]|-]2|-12]-* - g G e 5 - - -
CSB = - . B p - 1 1 < - - - _ ) 1 - 7
UTI - T11-1-12|-]12]1 1 2 1 - 1 N - -

Table 3.9 (Cont’d)
B. Efficiency Aspect
2000-2001

Bank Ranks

T [ 2nd [ 37 | 4t | 5 | TG | 7 | gt | o [ 10t [ 11 | 120 [ 13% | 14th [ 150 [ 16th | 17tk
JKe T T— - T1 21| [2|-|‘Y[2|-|2]2]-]3]?2
1IB areaEnEl B EEE 1 2 - - 1 3 1 .
UWB [1[1 |2 TT213]-|1[3 [ |t | -|2]-]1]-
e — 1T - [t]-|t}el-1-]3]s3]-
BSB - 1 B . TT_—I_ 1 2 1 2 3 2 . = ; T
CB T T1 -] - | —> 13 ]2 |-]1[2]- 11 3 | 2 |1 I
Bon - T—T-Til -1-12|2|=|%s]~1-{& | @ |2 ]L1]38
FB 4 5 _ ) 2 —-._—_-._ = 1 2 - - 1 1 1 - 3
Clor s 1515z 12] - -t~ |- (21 ti-4t-1-11]-
SIB — 72 - 1|1 [t|5 [t} 8- 12]1]-
HDFC 1 3 3 3 —i_—-_,—-l—_r__}__ 3 - 1 1 - 2 = | -]
BOp 3 N 1 = —__-_"_-__FT_E_. - - 2 3 - - 1 - N
NB : —peE o & [1 ] = 3 - 1 . 1 1 3
Vﬁ—.—‘—‘—k_ 1 1 - = TT__E_ - 4 2 2 3 - - N "
GTB | - ——Ta 2|1t -[2Q2]t)-1-]-7T-7
CSB i =T TZ HE R EEENE R
UTT Jafa|z|2]-|-[-1"] 22| -] -] t]1] - 5




Table 3.9 (Cont’d)
B. Efficiency Aspect (Concluded)

2001-2002

Bank

Ranks

Ist

2nd

3rd

4th

6th

7th

10th

11th

12th

13th

14th

15th

16th

17th

JKB

IIB

UWB

[1DBI

Nl =] N

—

p—
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— QO] =] N '

—l W] =] o] N
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— 1 Q] ] =] =]
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N =] oY

Q| ] =] W
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W N =] =]

SIB

N| ==

= N =] = | =]

(HDFC
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[SUY NG ey
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) N
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Table 3.9 (Cont’d)

Safety and Soundness Aspect

2000-2001

Ranks

1st

3rd

4th

5th

gth

10th

14th

15t

16th

17th

Ny

1

N

Wl N

1
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=INEN
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[Ury Sy S
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Table 3.9 (Cont’d)
C. Safety and Soundness Aspect

2001-2002

Ranks

1st

2nd

3rd

4th

5th

6th

7th

oth

10th

11t

12th

13th

14th

15

16th

17th

1

1

N}

=l Y] 1

1

N =] =

N =]
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[e—y gy SNl

N - v
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1

[Sy ey
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Table 3.9 (Cont’d)

. Labour Productivity Aspect

2000-2001

Ranks

st

3rd

4th

gth

10t

12th

14th

15th

J6th

17th

1
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Table 3.9 (Cont’d)
D. Labour Productivity Aspect(Concluded)

2001-2002
Bank Ranks
1st | 2nd [ 3rd [ 4th | 5th | Gth 7th | 8th | 9th | 10th | 17th | 12th | 13th | 14¢th | 15th | 16th | 17tk
| JKB - -1 - - 1| -] 1 - R - - -
IIB - A -l -] {1 - - - - - - - _
UWB | - | - -1 -] - -1 - - 1 1 - - N -
T R I M N B I I
I T N I A I I I N R
B [ - 1-T1-J [ -[-1t{-1-1-1-1-1-7]-T-
BoR | [l
I s B N N N I I 1
SIB - - - - - - - - - 1 - 1 - - 1 N -
HDFC | - [ - [ 2 - N P e A 1 - - - - " - -
BOP -] - -1 -l 21 -]-1- - - - - - - - -
NB A 1 -1 -1-111-1- - - - - - 1 1 -
VB R | - - -1 -111 - - - - 1 1 - - "
GTB R 1 - 11 -1-1-1-° - 1 - - 1 - n -
CSB T -1 -1-1-11]-1{-1°- 1 - - 1 - - -
UTI T 121 -1-1-1-1-1-1: - - - _ - - - -
Table 3.10
Weight Pattern
Rank Weight Normalized weight
1. 17 0.1111
3. 16 0.1046
3. 15 0.0980
Y 14 0.0915
3 13 0.0850
. 12 0.0784
5 11 0.0719
5 10 0.0654
9. 9 0.0588
10. 8 0.0523
11. 7 0.0458
12. 6 0.0392
13. 5 0.0327
14. 4 0.0261
15. 3 0.0196
16. 2 0.0131
17, 1 0.0065
Total 153 1.0000
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Table 3.11

Weighted Sums
2000-2001 2001-2002
Bank B E S P Bank B E S P
JKB 0.627 0.895 0.222 0216 |JKB 0.961 1.118 0.333 0203
IIB 0.732 1.242 0510 | 0288 |IIB 0575 Tiaa 1 0399 1 0330
UWB | 0732 1.235 0.353 0144 | UWB 0.575 1.026 0.307 0.131
IDBI 0.732 0.948 0.353 0.144 | IDBI 0.647 0.856 0333 5039
| BSB 0503 1105 | 0275 | 0235 | BSB 0327 | 0621 0.105 | 0.124
CB 0510 | 0915 0.444 0203 | CB 0.830 1150 | 0438 | 0222
| BOR 0.549 0614 0.301 0.105 | BOR 0765 | 0948 | 0314 | 0.144
| FB 0830 | 1268 | 0497 | 0131 | FB 0660 | 1288 | 0490 | 0.131
|ICICI | 0.634 1.621 0647 | 0320 |ICICI | 0680 1706 | 0608 | 0327
SIB 0.621 0.954 0.386 0.105 | SIB 0.503 1203 | 0516 | o0.111
| HDFC [ 0.660 1.399 0569 | 0203 | HDFC | 0.788 1209 | 0725 | 0248
| BOP | 0850 1.183 0366 | 0203 | BOP 0.804 1255 | 0379 | 0248
NB 0.503 0.647 0.392 0085 | NB 0542 | 0765 | 0392 | 0.105
VB 0.464 1.098 0242 | 0092 | VB 0529 | 1078 | 0366 | o0.124
GTB 0.843 1.366 0.399 0137 | GTB | 097 1.451 0314 | 0.157
CSB 0.405 1.000 0.418 0183 | CSB 0.261 0817 | 0353 | 0.144
UTI 0.804 1.510 0.634 0327 | UTI 0.588 1.366 0.634 0.320
CV(%) | 21.94 24.90 30.54 46.77 | CV(%) | 30.08 24.02 35.78 44.61
Table 3.12
—_— Aspect ~wise Ranks of NBs
2000-2001 2001-2002
| Bank [ B E S P |[Bank| B | E s T P
KB 10 15 17 5 JKB 2 10 12 7
E 3 2 3 mB__ |1 9 7 5
UWB |9 7 12 10 UWB | 11 12 16 T
IDBI |5 13 12 13 IDBI |9 14 12 12
BSB |12 9 15 16 BSB | 16 17 7 "
CB 13 1 6 6 CB 7 8 3 2
BOR 1 2 15 BOR | 10 3 1 5
FB\ 32 51-,7 5 12 FB 14 4 5 T
ICICT 3 1 1 2 ICICI |! 1 3 -
SIB 11 12 10 13 SIB 15 7 4 13
HDEC |1 3 3 6 HDFC | 5 6 1 3
BOpP 3 3 11 3 BOP |4 5 9 3
NB (15 T 16 17 NB 13 16 8 R
VB 16 10 5 6 VB__ |8 11 10 3
GTB [ 1 8 11 GTB |3 2 5 2
CSB_ (%7 [u 7 5 CsB |7 |5 |u |3
UTI |3 2 2 1 UTI 6 3 2 3
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Table 3.13.

Frequency Distribution of Ranks: All four Aspects

(2000-2001)

Bank

Ranks

2nd

3rd

4th

5th

6th | 7th

§th

gth

10th

lllh

12th

13th

14th

15th

16t | 17t

' JKB

1

1

1

IIB

1

UWB

IDBI

1
1
1

BSB

CB

BOR

FB

ICIcT | 2

SIB

HDFC

BOP 1

NB

VB

GTB -

CSB -

UTI 1
_‘—‘—'—‘—-—-

Frequency Distribution of Ranks:

Table 3.13 (Cont’d)

All four Aspects

(2001-2002)

st

3rd

4th

=4
o
=

a
)
L
N

]
=
@]

.
5th

NRRENCHAERREREER

Ranks

6th 7th

gth

gth

10th

11th

12th

14th

15th

16 | 17th

1

1

1

1

1
1
1
1
1

1
1
1

I

I
Lo
[
—
I
2
=
1
i
-
I
|
1
el
1
I
I
I
I
oo
I

1
1
1
1

BEBBEOHRONGED:

84



Table 3.14

Overall Ranks of Banks

| Bank 2000-2001 Bank 2001-2002 % change
Point Rank Point Rank
' JKB 0.163 13 JKB 0.268 8 64.4
IIB 0.353 3 1IB 0.261 9 26.1
| UWB 0.248 8 UWB 0.144 13 -41.9
IDBI 0.163 i3 IDBI 0.131 14 -19.6
BSB 0.098 17 BSB 0.052 17 -73.5
CB 0.216 9 CB 0.320 5 48.1
BOR 0.105 15 BOR 0.196 11 86.7
FB 0.307 5 FB 0.288 7z -6.2
ICICI 0.386 2 ICICI 0.392 1 1.6
SIB 0.170 12 SIB 0.203 10 19.4
HDFC 0.340 4 HDEC 0.373 2 9.7
BOP 0.301 7 BOP 0.333 4 10.6
NB 0.105 15 NB 0.124 16 18.1
VB 0.196 10 VB 0.157 12 60.2
GTB 0.307 5 GTB 0.301 6 2.0
CSB 0.183 11 CSB 0.131 15 -28.4
UTI 0412 1 UTI 0.359 3 5
CV (%) 42.66 CV(%) 43:85

3.9.2 Analysis of the Results:

If we take a close look at the rankings of the Private sector banks, we see that the three new

generation private sector ba
winner in almost all respects of performance whereas in the old generation Private banks, the

Notable performers are Federal Bank, Jammu & Kashmir Bank and The Bank of Rajasthan Ltq.

Some other notable observations are:

1. When it comes to Business Performance, ICICI Bank leads the table followed by Jammuy &
Kashmir Bank and Global Trust Bank. Bank of Punjab and HDFC Bank take the next two
positions. If we compare this performance with the previous year we find that ICIC] Bank
has made a major improvement whereas HDFC Bank has slid few positions. Bank of
Punjab and Jammu & Kashmir Bank has shown a huge improvement whereas IDB] Bank

and Indusind Bank have shown a drop in their Business performance. The worst

performers are Benares Stat

nks namely ICICI Bank, HDFC Bank and UTI Bank emerge a clear

¢ Bank Ltd and Catholic Syrian Bank consistently.




)

If we take a look at the Efficiency parameter we find that ICICI Bank leads the table again
(topper also last year) followed by Global Trust Bank and UTI Bank. Federal Bank and
Bank of Punjab hold the next two spots. Looking back at the previous year we find that
the major gainers are Centurion Bank and South Indian Bank while most of the other

banks have maintained their same level of efficiency except for Benares State Bank Ltd

which has seen a further drop in its efficiency levels.

When it comes to Soundness and Safety of the banks, HDFC Bank, UTI Bank and ICICI
Bank share the honors yet again very closely followed by South Indian Bank and Federal
Bank. As compared to last year, Jammu & Kashmir Bank and Vysya Bank have shown

huge gains whereas Global Trust Bank and United Western Bank show a drop in the

safety levels on Capital Adequacy and risky assets measure.

Finally, looking at Employee productivity levels, the results are on expected lines, the best
players are yet again HDEC Bank, UTI Bank and ICICI Bank, Bank of Punjab, Centurion
Bank etc. whereas the laggards are Nainital Bank, Benares State Bank Ltd etc. As compred
to the last year most banks have shown an improvement barring few.

If we look at he overall picture HDEFC Bank, UTI Bank and ICICI Bank, Bank of Punjab,
Centurion Bank etc are the best performers whereas the poorest banks are IDBI Bank,
Nainital Bank, Benares State Bank, Catholic Syrian Bank etc. The rankings are more or lesg
same as compared to last year except for some minor changes. The notable exceptions are

Jammu & Kashmir Bank, Centurion Bank and Bank of Rajasthan who have witnessed

better results whereas IDBI Bank and United Western Bank have slid considerably.
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3.10 COMPARING THE INCOMPARABLE

In the earlier part of the Chapter we attempted to analytically compare Public and Private sector
banks using various tools and usually commended the Private Sector banks for their repeated
g é
excellent performance. This conclusion is a very naive observation because both the categories
of banks work almost in two different worlds and it would be highly inappropriate to jump tc;
any sort of conclusion before looking into the validity of such a comparison. In other words it is

not advisable to compare an orange with an apple. Some of the aspects that will make tt
< i are the

comparison more meaningful are discussed below.

3.10.1 The Backdrop

It is a story of growth. The regime of liberalisation in the 1990s aimed at giving impetus to
¢conomic growth. Thus were born the new private sector banks among many other initiatives.
Once established, the new private sector banks promised to be among the leading growth
Segments of the Indian economy. The stock market was also enthusiastic about these banks.
HOWever, the initial euphoria gave way to growth pangs and barring a couple — HDFC Bank
and ICICI Bank — the rest seemed to falter. In most industries, only a couple of companies
8raduate from the small to mid-size to large companies. It thus appeared that this might be true
for the new private sector banks too. Non-performing assets piled up, profitability slipped and
8Towth seemed to elude the rest of the banks. Things now appear to be changing. The promise
of a revival is in the air as a couple of other private sector banks — IDBI Bank and UTI Bank
Start to make rapid strides. The Reserve Bank of India has granted fresh licenses to twq new
banks Kotak Mahindra and Rabobank. After all, it just may not be the story of HDFC Bank and

I _ . :
CICI Bank alone. The future continues to be promising, though the distances to trave] continue

fo be huge.

3.
10.2 Advantage Private Banks

3.
10.2 () Capturing Market

When they were set up, the agenda for the new private sector banks was to capture as mych

Market share as possible. They have achieved it in most respects. New banks accounteq for 6.5
Per cent of the demand deposits and nearly 3 per cent of the savings deposits in the bankjng

SYstem ip, March 2001. It is likely to be higher at the end of March 2002. In March 1996, the
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proportions were 1.6 and 0.3 per cent respectively. The inflows into the savings accounts of new
banks grew at 122 per cent annually between March 1996 and 2001. The rate of growth in
demand deposits was more modest at 53 per cent. Clearly, the retail foray has spelt success for
new banks (Krishnamurthy, 2002). Continued success in their attempts to increase the inflow of
demand and savings deposits is important to rein in costs. That new banks continue to account
for a smaller share of the total pie suggests that the prospect for growth in the next two-three
years continues to be bright. On the asset side, the share of new banks in loans and advances
(including investments) has increased from around 1.7 per cent at the end of March 1996 to 6.7
per cent March-end 2001. On an average, the rate of growth has been 55 per cent each year.
Investments in government securities have increased at a higher rate of 71 per cent. On a
relative basis, new banks have been less successful in capturing share on the asset side than on
the liability side. Interestingly, new banks have had greater success in lending against bills
Purchased or discounted than in areas such as cash credit or working capital advances. This
Suggests that the going for the banks in terms of building relationships (which will get reflected
In cash credit or working capital advances growth) has been difficult. On the contrary, banks
are likely to downplay their achievements thus far. Predictably, the profitability of new banks
has been superior to the industry average. Shareholder funds have risen on an average at
around 34 percent for new banks compared to the industry’s 11 per cent. The steady and
Significant increase in shareholder funds place the new banks at an advantage. This is the one of

the pillars of the foundation on which the strategy to capture market share from established

Public sector majors is being built.

3.10.2 (b) Focus on Strategy

The focyg rightly turns to strategies for achieving rapid growth. The success of HDFC Bank and
ICICy Bank was largely because of their focus on the triple A-rated companies. That helped
reduce Jeye] of n on-performing assets and increase profitability. Other banks were lesg focussed
on the triple A sector (Krishnamurthy, 2002). To an extent, the difference in the degrees of
ccess of the varioiis private sector banks may have been due to the differences in theiy target
“Ustomers, However, other banks may not have focused on the non-triple A rated Segment out

of choice, 1f HDEC Bank and ICICI Bank could focus on the triple A segment and grab market

88



shares from larger public sector rivals it was because of the support of their larger parents —

HDFC and ICICI.

In fact, ICICI and ICICI Bank teamed up to sell their products. Lacking such support, other
banks have had to look at assets of lower quality. Now, other banks too are eyeing the triple A
segment. For banks such as IDBI Bank and UTI Bank, incremental growth is coming more from
companies in the top rated category. In the last couple of years, this was reflected in the
reduction in the net non-performing assets proportion and rising profitability in the case of both
IDBI Bank and UTI Bank. Apart from the triple A segment, the focus seems squarely centred on
retail banking. The promise of larger spreads and lower delinquency appears to have whetted
the appetite of these new banks. However, here too, HDFC Bank and ICICI Bank have left the
others far behind. Their brands are much stronger than those of the other new banks. The larger
Public sector banking rivals are also proving adept at building brands. Greater efforts at brand
bUilding may be necessary for new banks to build quality retail assets. The growth in the retail

accounts of IDBI Bank and UTI Bank in the last year has been impressive.

3.10.2 (c) Low Costs

A focus on the retail segment is also essential to become a least cost provider of services. The
tWo sources of Jow-cost resources are demand deposits, essentially belonging to the corporate
sector, and savings deposits, originating from the retail segment. The efficient use of resources
by the corporate segment may ensure that demand deposits do not grow at a rapid rate in
future, Thus, to augment the base of demand deposits, new banks will have to capture market
Share from old banks. On the other hand, savings deposits continue to grow at a rapid rate.
Thuyg, augmenting their low cost resource base may prove less of a problem. Interestineg,
HDEc Bank, the most successful of the lot, has the highest proportion of low-cost liabilities,
Demang and savings deposits account for 30 per cent of its total resources. That the most
Successful new bank has also one of the least cost bases among Indian banks is no coincidence,
For the other banks, the ratio is less than 20 per cent. That has had its impact on spreads and
prOﬁtability, Future growth is also predicated on remaining low-cost service providers on a
Telative basis. Public sector banks are tasting success in reducing their costs of operationg, With
theijy size of operations they could prove to be more than a handful for the new banks, Indeeq,

With their low costs of operation, HDEFC Bank and ICICI Bank are in a position to counter their

89



larger PSU rivals. However, for the others, it is essential to augment low-cost resource bases.
Thanks to the success in their retail foray, UTI Bank and IDBI Bank have been able to reduce

operations costs in 2002. These gains need to be sustained to pitchfork these banks into the

league of their larger rivals

3.10.2 (d) Retail Thrust

The thrust into retail banking by the new banks is another crucial factor that will determine the
extent of the success enjoyed by the new banks. Growth in retail assets (car loans, home loans,
commercial vehicle loans, personal loans, loans against shares, loans against RBI bonds, credit

cards) has been outpacing the growth in lending to the corporate sector by a significant margin.
Given the easy liquidity scenario, which is boosting the demand for credit from households, the

rate of growth may remain high. This has implications for new banks. Importantly, the spreads

in retail lending are much higher than lending to the triple A-rated companies. It may even be

as high as what lending to lower rated companies generates. Due to this HDFC Bank says that it

will lend largely to the triple A-rated sector in the case of corporate lending and would prefer

fetail lending for riskier exposures. It is also quite clear that almost all new banks find logic in

such a strategy. In short, retail lending will be favored over lending to lower rated companies.

Perhaps, it is this factor that has made new banks remain at the forefront of the explosion in

lending to the retail sector. However, their profitability from retail lending will be determined

by the quality of their retail assets. If the proportion of non-performing assets is higher than

What has been accounted for by the banks in the pricing of their assets, then it could have 5
debilitaﬁng effect on the new banks’ profitability. This may become evident only with time and

there is a need to keep an eye on the rate of growth in non-performing assets of the new banks

3.10.2 (e) Size and Scale

Size wag the advantage of the new private sector banks. They were small and it seemed they

Ould grow faster by capturing market shares from the public sector banking behemothsg

However, if growth faltered then size could no longer
ntage. For example, without the rapid scaling up of operations, it

be an advantage. It could, on the other

hand’ prove to be a disadva

May pe difficult to break-even. In fact, loans may have been priced assuming a particular rate of

8rowth, S5 without adequate growth, profitability will be affected. Without adequate
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profitability, the proportion of non-performing assets could rise and capital adequacy might
become a problem, affecting future growth. Thus, the rapid scaling up of operations appeared
to be a must to take advantage of their strengths as new banks. To a large extent, banks such as
HDFC Bank, ICICI Bank, Centurion Bank and UTI Bank have been successful in ramping up
Operations since 1996 to 2001. The growth rate of loan assets at these banks has been impressive.
In 2002, however, Centurion Bank has slipped up. In addition, only in HDFC Bank and ICICI

Bank cases have the level of non-performing assets been relatively lower.

Growth at the other new banks has been less impressive although higher than the average for
the banking industry. Other consequences of lower growth, such as reIatively higher non-
Performing assets and lower profitability, have also been evident in other new banks. For
HDFC Bank and ICICI Bank, faster growth helped attract capital at attractive rates, especially in
HDFC Bank's case. This fuelled further growth. Inorganic growth through acquisitions has also
been possible for these two banks because they were able to scale up and achieve adequate
Profitability, The future is predicated on continued ramp up in the scale of operations. The
Merger of ICICI with ICICI Bank may have already given them the necessary size. However,
€ven for them, ramping up operations are necessary to hide the non-performing assets acquired
from ICICI and diversify asset portfolios. HDFC Bank may have already become as large as
Corporation Bank. Still, ramping up operations is necessary to compete with larger rivals such
as the State Bank of India and ICICI Bank. Moreover, ramping up is necessary to convert new
brancheg and new products into profit making centers. If growth is essential for ICICI Bank ang
HDFC Bank, it is even more so for the others. Banks such as UTI Bank and IDBI Bank have
already started seeing rapid growth in operations. They may need to sustain the Pace of growth

and €xplore the inorganic route to achieve the necessary size and strength. They will alsq need

“Apital infusions and perhaps, the induction of a partner to achieve growth.
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3.11 WHO IS THE BEST

As is evident from the Table 3.15, income as a percentage of total assets is lower for public

sector banks. But then, you need to understand their compulsions to support all government

Table 3.15 Banking Statistics 2001

— n
Other . Spread Contingent
Income Income as ]CE)P er;tmg Income as aN(};Aosfas Liabilities
as a% % o xp. 118 a % of ! as a % of
Total %o of Total Total Total Total
of Total Assets ota Assets ota
Assets Assets Assets Assets
PSU Banks 10.20 1.28 2.52 2.70 2.90 26.29
Old Pvt
68 2.18 2.33 3.20 26.90
 Banks 11.26 1.6
New Pyt 1.42 1.87 1.10 78.04
Banks 9.19 1.66 .
Foreign
60 3.21 3.85 1.00 342.01
Banke 12.47 2.6
Sector 10.39 1.43 2.49 2.72 2.70 52.63
Average ) '
L_YtTage

Source: RBI Report "Trends & Progress of Banking in India", 2001

schemes, even schemes that do not make business sense, not by a long chalk. Would you believe

that despite lending 40% of its assets to the priority sectors, SBI's manages to earn such high

Profits? (Mind you, SBI lends to the needy,
lending_) Also consider the higher interest spread that public sector banks earn despite their

“mpulsions to support pro-government
based income that these banks earn. But look a

Will notice contingent liabilities as a percentage of to

look more like insurance companies. Profitability at what ris

unlike private banks that tweak the rules of priority

policies. People will point to the lower non-fund-
few more columns ahead in the table and you
tal assets. The new private sector banks

k? It is a fact that the NPA levels

and Operating efficiencies of public sector banks are not that impressive. But then, these have to
do with the environment in which these banks function. After all, the "PSU" label over a period

i : i Iso a lackadaisical attitude. Whi
of time hag grown to signify not just ownership but also a lackadaisical a e. While the labe]

TMains, the environment is fast changing leveling the playing-field for the old nationalizeq

bankg and the new private panks. And the public sector banks are donning battle gear to not
°nly ensure their survival but also to sustain growth rates.
The comparison between the PSBS and the private sector banks will continue to enthrall, If |55t

year, Private sector banks like UTI and HDFC topped the list, this year's honors go to the public
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players. So have the PSBs outperformed the private players? The answer is in the negative as
the private sector banks have done equally well; only they do not have the same percentage
change in growth as that of the public sector banks. It is just that the PSBs had a small
denominator to work on. For a loss making bank or a bank with low profits any marginal
increase in profits would result in a larger percentage change in profits. For example, for HDFC
Bank, the net profit this fiscal is Rs. 297 crore and in the last fiscal it was Rs. 210 crore. This
resulted in a percentage change in the net profits of around 41 percent even though the absolute
change is Rs. 87 crore. For IDBI Bank, the net profit this year is Rs. 52 crore and the net profit
last fiscal was Rs. 19 crore; this would result in the percentage change of 171 percent even
though the absolute change is only Rs. 33 crore. However, this logic does not hold good to some
of the PSBs like Canara Bank, which have performed well. Do the PSBs have an advantage over
the private sector banks. The PSBs already had well diversified portfolio investments, which
came handy; besides they were able to collect deposits at a lower cost compared to the new
§eneration private sector banks (even compared to the old generation private sector banks) and
despite being a late entrant into the retail banking sector, they could do retail banking business

ata higher rate of interest in the non-competitive areas where the private banks do not have a

Significant presence.

3.12 WHY THE DIFFERENCE: SOME CRITICAL ISSUES

With the Jiberalization of the Indian economy through the reforms initiated, the banking sector
OCcupies a pivotal role in the process of achieving higher economic growth and also in
improving social well-being. The public sector banks in India have the twin tasks of meeting
Social obligations and at the same time generating adequate profits to meet the costs associated
With growth. At present, the public sector banks have dual markets to cater to. The two distinct

Markets are rural and semi-urban on one hand and urban and metropolitan on the other. Rural

and semni-urhan markets, with which the PSBs will be dealing predominantly, wil] have
illiterate customers whose demands are relatively simple involving banking transactionsg of a
Simple nature. The PSBs will mainly perform the role of inculcating the savings habit in the
fWal and semij-urban segments and also the monetisation of the rural economy. In contrast, the
PSpg are finding it tough in urban and metropolitan markets. The customers here are

*Ssentially sophisticated and vociferous in getting prompt and efficient customer service, The
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markets provide the avenues for PSBs to improve their profitability position substantially as
these activities are considered to be profit-spinning operations for the banks. In such a scenario,
competition from private sector banks is also coming to the fore because of their strong
foothold in the urban and metropolitan areas. It would be interesting to note how the public
sector banks will be able to cope up with the competition they will have to face and also adjust
themselves to changes in the banking environment in urban and metropolitan areas. These

conflicting objectives in serving different markets efficiently explain why public and private

sector banks cannot be compared.

With a lion’s share in deposits, huge geographical spread of customers and continuous
expansion in the number of branches, we observe that the public sector banks experienced a
quantum jump in the volume of workload at the branches. The limited infrastructure and
Manpower were inadequate to serve a large clientele, thereby aggravating the problem. This
led employment of a large number of people, who only later served to decline the profits of the
banks, due to the rising employee costs. During this time, the efficient and personalized service
rendered by some private panks was well appreciated by customers, whose frontiers of
knOWIedge, awareness and expectations had grown over the years. Nevertheless the
adVantages of having a diversified network of customers and branches can never be ignored.

Also we see that public sector banks have been quick to sense the changes and adopt

tEChnology to improve their efficiency. Also the recent voluntary retirement schemes, will help
the public sector banks get their business to shape and this deadly combination of rise in the

Number of VRS offerings has made the public sector banks more robust in their operations.

Presentjng the other point of view, we observe that even though the lack of reach of private

sector banks does not loom large, it will do so some day, and then the rejuvenated public sector

banks will stand tall.

Another area of concern is, income as a percentage of total assets is lower for the public sector

bankg But then we need to understand their compulsions to support all government schemes,

even schemes that do not make business, not by a long chalk. It is important to realize that

Public sector banks like the SBI have a higher interest spread despite their compulsiong tq

. 0, . . .
Support pro- government policies and lending 40% of its assets to the priority sectors. However

the Private sector banks seem to have an upper hand in the non-fund based activities, which
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enhance their profitability. In fact, non-fund based revenues for a large number of these banks
are as high as 15% of their total revenues. Consequently their contingent liabilities are also
high. Even though it is prone to the risks of an insurance company, these liabilities pertain

predominantly to the outstanding forward exchange contracts and derivatives, where the risk

of default is minimal.

Access to developed technologies also gives an enviable position for private sector banks.
Technology gives banks a good reach without having to invest in the branch network and the
Private sector banks were the first to recognize this fact. They also provide the convenience of
bank'mg, ie. anytime, anywhere banking through alternate channels. However nowadays even
the public sector banks have taken the technology bandwagon and set to woo customers.
Another hidden dimension to this fact is that, private sector banks are able to provide efficient
and personalized services to the better-off clientele they serve, who are willing to pay higher
Service charges for a service also rendered by the public sector banks in India. Selectivity in

luring Jucrative customers and charging a high price for service rendered to them has enabled

Private sector banks to improve their quality of customer service significantly.

Therefore we realize that there is an array of issues, which makes the comparison of public and
Private sector banks difficult. When the private players first made their foray into the Indian
banking sector, PSBs had an advantage, in terms of the brand image, infrastructure, ang
Penetration across the country. The pressure of competition forced PSBs to take a serious look at
their gy expenses and at the ways and means to minimize them. Qut of these deliberations
“ame the mych talked about VRS schemes, which at lest for the time being ahs worked wonders
With the bottom lines of most of the PSBs. That aside, what is really heartening is the change in

the attitude, work culture and profit orientation of PSBs. The fruits of healthy competition in the

bankiﬂg sector finally seem to be reaching out to the customers.

3121 Long-Term Sustainability is the Key

The COuntry is experiencing a slowdown and there are no signs of economic TeCOVery in the
Neay future. This means it would be difficult for corporates to pay back debt on time, This mj ght

Tesult i , large portfolio of loans turning bad. Added to this are the tougher Provisioning
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requirements, which would come into effect soon. It is good that the PSBs have cut costs
especially on the employee front. But they would have to work on hiring and retaining the key
talent. It would be very difficult for banks to make such windfall profits and they have to
concentrate on the core business of banking rather than on additional profitability sources. It is
too early to say whether the PSBs are out of the woods (Kumar, 2001). To confirm this point
these PSBs have to show clearly that it is the banking business, which is the contributor towards
the bottom line. Unless there is a proactive approach from the management of banks to stand as
viable entities rather than just pleasing the regulators, it becomes difficult for them to survive in

the long run.  As for the future of banking, it seems to be perfect. Whether the players are

public or private, there seems to be just enough room for all of them.

3.12.2 On a Positive Note

When private players first made their foray into the Indian banking sector, PSBs had an
advantage, in terms of the brand image, infrastructure, and penetration across the country.
LOgically they should have gone on to become the best players in the banking sector but the
Public sector legacy, mounting NPAs, huge man power costs lowered productivity of these
banks and in the initial round they made a poor show losing out badly to new enthusiastic
Private players. The pressure of competition forced PSBs to take a serious look at their own
eXPenises and at ways and means to minimize them. Out of these deliberations came the much
talkeq about VRS schemes, which at least for the time being has worked wonders with the
bottom lines of most of the PSBs. That aside, what is really heartening is the change in the

attituds, work eultiie and profit orientation of PSBs. The fruits of healthy combination in the

banking sector finally seem to be reaching out to the customer.
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Chapter 4
THE NON PERFORMING ASSETS SAGA

4.1INTRODUCTION

During the years after independence, the Indian Banking environment was insulated
from the global context and was denominated by state controls of directed credit
delivery, regulated interest rates, and an investment structure that did not participate in
this vibrant banking revolution. Suffering from the dearth of innovative spirit and
choking under undue regimentation, Indian banking was lacking objective and
prudential systems of business leading from early stagnation to eventual degeneration
and reduced or negative profitability (Kannan, 2001). Continued political interference,
the absence of competition and total lack of scientific decision-making, led to
consequences just the opposite of what was happening in the western countries.
Imperfect accounting standards and opaque balance sheets served as tools for hiding the
shortcomin gs and failing to reveal the progressive deterioration and structural weakness
of the country's banking institutions to public view. This enabled the nationalized banks
to continue to flourish in a deceptive manifestation and false glitter, though stray
Symptoms of the brewing ailment were discernable here and there. NPA is a brought
forward legacy accumulated over the past three decades, when prudent norms of

banking were forsaken basking by the halo of security provided by government
OWnership.

Non-performj_ng Asset (NPA) has emerged since over a decade as an alarming threat to
the bankjng industry in our country sending distressing signals on the sustainability and
ndurability of the affected panks. The positive results of the chain of measures affected
under banking reforms by the Government of India and RBI in terms of the twq

Narasimhan Co ittee Reports in this contemporary period have been neutralized by
the j]1 effects of this surging threat. Despite various correctional steps administered to

S0lve and end this problem, concrete results are eluding. It is a sweeping and al)

Pervasive virus confronted universally on banking and financial institutions. The

Severity of the problem is however acutely suffered by Nationalized Banks, followeq by

the Spy group, and the all India Financial Institutions. It is not wrong to have pursued
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social goals, but this does not justify relegating banking goals and fiscal discipline to the
background. But despite this extravagance the malaise remained invisible to the public
eyes due to the practice of not following transparent accounting standards, but keeping
the balance sheets opaque. This artificially conveyed picture of "all is well' with PSBs
suddenly came to an end when the lid was open with the introduction of the prudential
norms of banking in the year 1992-93, bringing total transparency in disclosure norms

and ‘cleansing' the balance sheets of commercial banks for the first time in the country

(Jalan, 2002). NPA has affected the profitability, liquidity and competitive functioning of

PSBs and finally the psychology of the bankers in respect of their disposition towards

credit delivery and credit expansion.

Itis a fact that the problem of bad loans is plaguing the banking system for quite some

time. The quantum of bad loans, called inelegantly as NPAs is a fairly high proportion of
total loans. The percentage of net NPA to advances of scheduled commercial banks
(SCBs) in India was 6.2 per cent on March 31, 2001, according to the Reserve Bank of
India report on Trends and Progress of Banking in India. The relative level in the U.S.
Would be less than 2 per cent. Given the fact that the total capital and reserves of SCBg

Were around 5.23 per cent of total assets, one might jump to the conclusion that NPA

Was more than the capital and reserves. But, the net NPA amounting to Rs. 32,468 crores

Tepresents less than half of capital resources at Rs. 67,741.47 crores. This is because a

80od chunk of the assets of banks comprises investment in Government securities,

Which is fully realizable and risk-free. Further, all NPAs are not irrecoverable and banks

do have some securities to back up the NPAS. Therefore, it is clear that the Indian

banking system is basically safe.
except perhaps in the area of democracy,

In any comparison between India and China,
China comes out on tops Certainly, iIn industrialization, export performance; in the leval

of discipline among the populace and adherence to law, China should rank better.

Therefc.n_;_. banks in China would, one might presume, be healthier than Indian banks.

Facts portray a contrary picture. As per the Banker magazine (a sister publication of
y

Financia] Times of the U.K.), the level of NP
China, Commercial Bank of China and Bank of China were 25.01 per cent and 28.8 per

A to total assets in the two biggest banks in
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cent respectively in 2000. As against this, NPAs of Indian banks were 2.5 per cent of total

assets (not advances) as on March 31, 2001. Banks in India are thus in a much better stat
ate

of health than their counterparts in China.

4.2 A BIRD'S EYE VIEW

To start with, let us take a look at the magnitude of the problem. In India non
performing loans (NPL) of the past have continued and further fresh cases of NPLs have

led to increase in the NPA levels as shown in the table below:

Table 4.1: Net NPA as percentage of net advances

ear INetN'PA B Net NPA as °_'/o.>‘0<f|
1 - net advances

1996 17,567 10.7

1997 18,297 3.9

1998 02,340 3.1

1999 03,761 7.3

2000 28,020 7.6

001 26,596 7.0

2002 07,856 7.0

r.com/trade/bank/bank non perf_assets.htm

Source : http:/ /eastindiavyapaa

As at 31.03.2002 the aggregate gross NPA of all scheduled commercial banks amounted

to Rs.63,883 Crore. The Table below
Rs.13,068 Crore or more than 25% in the last financial

gives the figures of gross and net NPA for the last

four years, It shows an increase of
year, indicating that fresh accreti
effected, thus signifying a losing ba

on to NPA is more than the recoveries that wer
e

ttle in containing this menace

Table 4.2; NPA Statistics -All Scheduled Commercial Banks

w %-age of Gross %.age Py fN‘
Year Total |5,0ss NPA[Net Advances Net NPA! NPA to total | NPA t et
Advances advances ad O net
vanc
%99 352697 | 50815 325522 25734 14.4 73&
195 3000] 99406 | 58722 | 39702 {0 147 76 ]
o0aaer e | 60a08_| 4442z | S0 127 2
20015¢ | 526329 | 32632 i
20012002 so6766 | 63883 | 2= 11.4 T R

S . ges .
Ource: www.indiainfoline.com
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The apparent reduction of gross NPA from 14.4% to 11.4% between 1999 and 2002
provides little comfort, since this accomplishment is on account of credit growth, which
was higher than the growth of Gross NPA and not through appreciable recovery of
NPA. There is neither reduction nor even containment of the threat. The gross NPA and

net NPA for PSBs as at 31.03.2001 are 12.39% and 6.74% are higher than the figures for

SCBs at 11.4%and 6.2%.

4.3 GENESIS OF NPAs

NPA surfaced suddenly in the Indian banking scenario, around the Eighties, in the
midst of turbulent structural changes overtaking the international banking institutions,
and when the global financial markets were undergoing sweeping changes. In fact after
it had emerged, the problem of NPA kept hidden and gradually swelling unnoticed and

unperceived, in the maze of defective accounting standards that still continued with

Indian Banks up to the Nineties and opaque Balance sheets. In a dynamic world, it is

true that new ideas and new concepts that emerge through such changes caused by

social evolution bring beneficial effects, but only after levying a heavy initial toll. The
Process of quickly integrating new innovations in the existing set-up leads to an
immediate disorder and unsettled conditions. People are not accustomed to the new

models. These new formations take time to configure, and work smoothly. The old ig

Cast away and the new is found difficult to adjust. Marginal and sub-marginal operators

are swept away by these convulsions. Banks being sensitive institutions entrenched

dEGply in traditional beliefs and conventions were unable to adjust themselves to the

Changes, They suffered easy victims to this upheaval in the initial phase.

Cong equently banks und erwent this transition-syndrome and languished under distresg

and banking crises surfaced in quick succession one following the other in many

Countries, "Since the mid-eighties, banking crises have come to the forefront of economic
analysis. Situations of banking distress have quickly intensified and in the process, have
become one of the main obstacles to stability to the financial system. According to

Lin dgren et. al. (1996), 73 per cent of the member countries of the Internationa]

Monetary Fund's (IMF) experi
Problems from 1980 to 1996. More imp

enced at least one bout of significant banking sector

ortantly, such crises have resulted in severe bank
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losses or public sector resolution costs. As Caprio et. al, 1996 observe, such costs
amounted to 10 per cent or more of GDP in at least a dozen developing country episodes
during the past 15 years. Recent studies by Honohan, 1996 provide the estimated
resolution costs of banking crises in developing and transition economies since 1980 are
pegged at US $ 250 billion reinforce this view.” But when the banking industry in the
global sphere came out of this metamorphosis to re-adjust to the new order, they
emerged revitalized and as more vibrant and robust units. Deregulation in developed
capitalist countries particularly in Europe, witnessed a remarkable innovative growth in
the banking industry, whether measured in terms of deposit growth, credit growth,

growth intermediation instruments as well as in network.

44 NON PERFORMING ASSET: DEFINED

According to the securitisation and reconstruction of financial assets and enforcement of

{4 3 rn "
Security interest ordinance, 2002 “non-performing asset (NPA) means “an asset or

account of a borrower, which has been classified by a bank or financial institution as

sub-standard, doubtful or loss asset, in accordance with the directions or guidelines

relating to asset classifications issued by the Reserve Bank”. In other words, an asset is

classified as non-performing asset (NPAs) if dues in the form of principal and interest

are not paid by the borrower for a period of 180 days. However with effect from March

2004, default status would be given to a

any advance or credit facility granted by bank toab
then the pank will have to treat all the advances/credit facilities granted to that

borrower if dues were not paid for 90 days. If

orrower becomes non-performing,

borrower as non-performing without having any regard to the fact that there may stil]

eXist certain advances / credit facilities having performing status (rbi.org.in).

45NPAs IN GLOBAL CONTEXT

5.1 Comparisons of NPAS in India and other countries

We take a look at Japan and China and other Asian nations in contrast. The total NPA in

Japan is estimated at $1.26 trillion . | |
I8 $600 billions, that is 45% of its GDP in Malaysia 48% of its GDP, in Thailand 41% of its

GDP, i Taiwan 27% of its GDP, Compare this with NPA at 4% of India's GDP. Where is
’ iwan o ’

s, equivalent to about 26% of Japan's GDP. In China it
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the compari
parison? Yet despi
rorms | pite all pressure Japan has steadfastly refused to
iversalized by the w accept th
west d by thewest. But surprisingly we have. Universali i
stern strategvy to k : ersalized NPA .
5 ee i , rul
23 ep global banking and finances under its thumb. I eisa
. It is tailor mad
ade

to suit equi :
quity-driven e ie .
) en economies, that is, the Western ones. In the US wi
: where 55% of th
e

houset
oholds are linke
it 4 o linked to the stock market, equity constitutes most of b
i ebt playing ) ost of business fi
c 7 1 - v V
playing only a limited role. In contrast in India less than 2% of .
¢ o of household

savings is inv 1
este S '
ed in stocks. The result India is debt-driven with more th
re than 2/3 of th
e

business f
unds being provided b i
y debt. It is the other wa i
ay round in the US dri
iven by

high :
equity a : de :
ty and low debt. Where, with such low debt, interest or pri
’ : principal remai
ams

overdue for
more than 180 days, the deb
s t may be automatic
é atically regarded
@ as non-

pPerformin

. I . -

g. In contrast in India where debt in business is two times th
- eqUitY; if the

Ed
r C tl a l Clbe e a
CS I'IO]I-

erf . .
performing without further appraisal.

452 Level of NPAs

India‘s P

SUg e i
gests that public banks find it difficult to lend without generating 1
g arge non-

pErfOrrnin
g assets. India’s private and foreign banks have 1
ower NPAs than th
e public

bank
s, although their NPAs are also high b
arable with other countrie

y international standards. However the t
otal

level
of NPAs i
s is comp s. The various levels of NPAs acr
across

countriec ;
tries is compared in the Table 4.3

Table 4.3: Net N PA as percentage of net advances in the world

__________-—-—-‘—""'_'—r'—"_'_'

i Net NPA as % of
i net advances

Tndia {22

Ghana _QQ_O____._.————
Mexico _}_{5__9_._.__.——-———
sA e

So
Urce: .
e: www.indiastat.com
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However, several points of differences with respect to NPAs across various countries

have led to difficulty in comparisons. Five major areas are being discussed below:

453 Technique of classification of loans:

In India the bank loans are classified on the following basis.

* Performing Assets: Loans where the interest and/or principal are not overdue

beyond 180 days at the end of the financial year.

* Non-Performing Assets: Any loan repayment, which is overdue beyond 180

days or two quarters, is considered as NPA.

NPAs are further classified into sub-standard, doubtful and loss assets. Most of the

countries observe similar classifications. However the technique of classification (in

days) of the above varies across various countries as is shown in the Table 4.4

Table 4.4; Technique of classification of Assets across various countries

l’\

( Idenhfled’ refers to reco
dependmg on the type of credit)

Particulars India | Brazil
Sub standard | 180-
assts 290 30-60
" >720
oubtful & not
-180
assets identi 60-18
S fied* | |
>60,
>720 >1 80
Loss assets & . | or
identi ~360
fied %k

& USA , Japan, Malaysia,

S Nepal | Kuwait, France, Germany,
4 Australia.

180- 720-

365 1080 A

365- 1080-

540 1800 150

>540 >1800 | 365

S

gmzed by the internal/external auditor of the bank or RB.

So )
Urce: www.financeasia.com
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4.5.4 Level of minimum provisioning required

Banks and other FIs have to make the following provisions in their books for advances,

which are considered NPAs. These norms vary across countries as shown in Table 4.5

Table 4.5: Level of minimum provisioning required in the world

India USA | Nepal | Korea | Malaysia, Kuwait, Sri
Particulars Lanka, Bangladesh,
(%) (%) (%) (%) Brazil, Indonesia (%)
Substandard | 15 |25 20 20
assets
Doubtful assets | 20-50,100* 50 50 7 50
Loss assets 100 100 100 100 100

*Upto 1 year old doubtful asset -20%,1 to 3 years -30%, over 3 years -50% for secured
loans and 100% to the extent of which advance is unsecured.

Source: www.financeasia.com

4.5.5 Treatment of multi loan customer

Ifone loan is non-performing, the other loans of a multiple-loan customer are treated

differeHﬂy in various countries as shown in Table 4.6

Table 4.6: Treatment of multi loan customer
211 g Countries
M India, USA, New Zealand, Japan, Malaysia, Brazil, UK,
o Gern{an éanada, Nepal, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh
Yes Australia, France, Kuwait, Indonesia, Korea

SOurce: www.financeasia.com

The dift . h treatment of multiple loans often leads to comparison problem
erence in suc

ACross the various countries.

. As
456 Recognition of interest income on NP

not contain accrued but unpaid interest/

. do
Intem"f‘tlonally the income statements
in France and Germany. The non-

5 . t
prmcipal while loan is non-performing excep
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recognition of interest on loans after they become NPA prevents further inclusion af
such assets in the books of the debtor. The interest incomes do not always cease to
accrue immediately after they are labeled as NPAs. The number of days in arrears after

which interest income cease to accrue across the countries is given in the table 4.7

Table 4.7: Recognition of interest income on NPAs

Country Days | Remarks
Brazil 60 -

USA, Australia, Indonesia, | 4, ]
Nepal, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh

] ] . In Malaysia accrual has to be
Japan, Kuwait, India, Malaysia 180 suspended to first day of default
Varies | Decision by directors

Varies | Depends on credibility of debtors

| United Kingdom
Korea

Source: www.financeasia.com

4.6 A CLOSER LOOK

In the background of these complex changes when the problem of NPA was belatedly

recognized for the first time at its peak velocity during 1992-93, there was resultant

chaos and confusion. As the prob]em in large magnitude erupted suddenly banks were

unable to analyze and make a realistic OT complete assessment of the surmounting

Situation. [t was not realized that the root of the problem of NPA was centered

elsewhere in multiple layers, as much outside the banking system, more particularly in

untry,
rest of the economy. As has happened elsewhere

the transient economy of the €0 as within. Banking is not a compartmentalized

and isolated sector delinked from the
I the world a distressed national economy shifts a part of its negative results to the

banks are made ultima
sses. The unpreparedness and structural weakness of

banking industry. In short, tely to finance the losses incurred by

Constituent industries and busine
ging scenario and de-risk itself to the challenges

Our banking system to act to the emer
thrown by the new order trying to switch over to globalization were only aggravating

d hasty judgm
the authorities during the last two-decades towards

B s . ts led to a policy of ad-hoc-i :
the Crisis, Partial perceptlons an en | 1sm, which

Characterized the approach of

finding solutions to banking ailments and dismantling recovery impediments.

105



Continuous concern was expressed. Repeated correctional efforts were executed, but

positive results were evading. The problem was defying a solution.

Table 4.8: Segment wise Distribution of Gross NPAs

-—Borrowing Segment wise Gross NPAs as on March’31, 2002
Amount (Rs. Crores) Percentage to total NPAs
| Distribution of Gross NPAs
Public Sector units 1334.05 2.44
 Large Industries 11498.10 20.99
Medium Industries 8658.69 15.81
Other Non priority sectors 9516.62 17.37
Agriculture 7311.40 13.35
Small scale industries 10284.97 18.78
| Other Priority Sectors 6169.33 11.26
Total 54773.16 100.00

Source: www.indiainfoline.com

The threat of NPA was being surveyed and summarized by RBI and Government of

India from a remote perception Jooking at a bird's-eye-view on the banking industry as a

Whole delinked from the rest of the economy. A bird's eye view is distinct, extensive and

even sharp, but it is limited to the view appearing at the surface or top-layer. It is a not

th view. Restricted merely as a top-layer view it is partial and is

N exhaustive or in-dep
where a bottom-to-top-view alone can enlighten the

N0t even a top-to-bottom view,
correct contributing factors. Flying at a great height the bird can of-course survey a wide
area, but it perceives only a telescopic view of the roof- top and not the contents that
eXist inside the several structures. A simple look at the whole provides summarized

Perception, But it is not a homogeneous whole that is being perceived. RBI looks at the

bankmg industry's average on 4 macro basis, consolidating and tabulating the data

Submitteq by different institutions. It has collected extensive statistics about NPA in

i s i ks,

ifferent financial sectors like commercial ban ;

COOperatives NBEC etc. But still it is a distant view of one outside the system and not
es, L

financial institutions, RRBs, urban

the felt i f ffering PaffiCipant. Individual banks inherit different cultures ang
iew of a su . |
they B di sectors of the economy that do not possess identical attributes.
ance diverse

as among the 29 public sector banks themselves, between

There are distinct diversities

differen hical regions and between different types of customers using bank
geographica
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credit. There are three weak nationalized banks that have been identified. But there are
also correspondingly two better performing banks like Corporation and OBC. There are
also banks that have successfully contained NPA and brought it to single digit like

Syndicate (Gross NPA 7.87%) and Andhra (Gross NPA 6.13%). The scenario is not so

simple to be generalized for the industry as a whole to prescribe a readymade package

of a common solution for all banks and for all times.

47 FUNDAMENTAL REASONS FOR HIGH NPA LEVELS

As a first step to the analysis, the institutional and infrastructural factors that are

fllndamentally responsible for the problem are outlined:

47.1 The legal environment

The foundations of corporate governance mechanisms are the laws that provide

Protection to the suppliers of finance and legal institutions that enforce these laws. The

former determine the power of the suppliers of finance and the latter the speed and
efficiency with which they can be used. The results of a survey on NPAs in Indian banks
conducted by Siddique et al (1999) showed that the legal environment has been hostile
to banks. They found that 27 public sector and 6 private sector banks filed suits for the
Tecovery of 46.38 per cent of their NPAs in 1999-2000 but were able to recover 4.32 per
cent only and a significant portion of suits have been pending for more than a decade.
The legal route for recovery of dues is longer when cases are referred to the Board for
Industria] and Finance Reconstruction. This is because special provisions of the sick
Industrial Companies Act, 1985 (section 22) bar banks from taking action in such cases,

nks and market discipline

47.2 Public ownership of ba
Director, Public Sector in the World Bank’s poverty

Cheryl W.Gray, then Interim

Reduction and Economic Management Network, outlined three aspects of a well

economy (Gray, 1997). In addition to enacting

5 o
Unctioning legal system for a market g .
a broad set of efficient supporting institutions

Market friendly laws and establishmeﬂt of

mand for 1aws and efficient institutions. Credit friendly

Gray emphasizes creating 2 de _
institutions are ineffective unless banks demand them,

1 .
aWs and efficient supporting o
ent through recapitalisation or bad debt buyouts

Repeated bails-out by the governm
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destroy the incentive for banks to use friendly laws and efficient institutions. A recent
example of a similar phenomenon is found in the Southeast Asian currency and banking
crisis. Implicit guarantees provided by the government to banks for their lending to the
corporate sector led to inadequate credit appraisal and risk management by banks. This
created a financial sector vulnerable to external shocks. Though, theoretically, the public
controls state firms, de facto the control rests with the bureaucrats. These bureaucrats
have control rights but no rights to cash flows generated by the firm resulting in little

concern for performance .The lack of managerial incentives to control NPAs in public

Sector banks owing to state ownership also creates the danger that banks may not make

use of friendly laws and institutions. The Indian public sector banks suffer from this

syndrome. A market mechanism to deal with this problemis to allow the public sector

banks to approach private investors for equity. Already concerns about high NPA levels

have seen bank stock prices suffer on the stock market in the recent past.

473 Political interference

The Indian banking system has been extensively misused for political reasons in the
(=

PaSt. A large part of their bad debts are a legacy of this mis
the Npas in priority sector advances of public sector banks are 46 to 49 per cent of their
form only 30 to 32 per cent of their tota]

use. As shown in Table 4.9,

Overall NPAs while priority sector advances
Advances, The first Narasimhan committee report refers to

: : ea of directed credit and suggests that
credit guidance imposed on panks in the ar 8o
icro credit guidance erodes the ability of

the dangers of the micro

direCted credit be phased out gradually, M
And directed credit places obstacles in efficient

banks to manage credit risks. _
he large —scale loan write —offs ordered by

Management of portfolio risk. In addition t
e and lawlessness among borrowers. Thig

Politiciang promote a culture on indisciplin .
hostile legal environment.

"5 to the problems of banks already functioning 4
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Table 4.9: Contribution of Priority Sector NPAs to overall NPAs in public sector
banks

1997-98 | 1998-99 | 1999-00 | 2000-01 | 2001-02
32.04% | 348% | 346% |353% |33.02%

% of priority sector advances to
| total advances

% of Gross NPAs in priority
sector advances to total Gross
NPAs

1640% | 448% | 4376% | 44.16% | 4232%

Source: www.rbi.org.in

474 Competition, liberalization and gambling

V. Sunderarajan, Deputy Director, Monetary and Exchange affairs department, IMF

suggested that all liberalization steps be subject to a systemic stability test (IMF survey,

1999). The test consists of answering the following questions:” what are the structural

are needed to protect the financial system against various

at are foreseen in the short to medium term given the

Institutional measures that

risks and sources of instability th
planned liberalization?” Liberalization of interest rate controls and entry conditions

often aims at improving the officiency of banks by generating competitive pressures.

However that can lead banks to take excessive risks. Every bank has the option of

at yields rela
e gamble pays off and imposes costs on the depositors

i : " vely little or in an inefficient “gambli
Mvesting in a “prudent asset th trvely € gambling

asset” that yields high returns if th
A bank can offer higher deposit rates and attract

and deposit insurers if it fails.
in the gambling asset to achieve a higher growth

additiona] deposits .it can then invest

t et. al (1998) studied the empirical relationship between financial
et. al,

fate. Demirigiic- Kun el '
liberalization and financial sectors crises in a number of developed countries. They
'eported that banking crises are more likely in 2 Jiberalized environment a few years

after liberalization has begun-

has gone through both interest rate and entry conditions
y

) studied the imp
etitive efficiency through deregulation. They found

The Ingj ing industr
ian Banking indu act of the structure of the banking

liberalization. Sarkar et. al, (1998

mdustry in efforts to increase comp
of Indian

ported that after

publiC sector banks serves as a non—regulatory

that th k
e twor .
large branch ne the entry of new private sector banks in
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India the market share of foreign banks in the market for deposits suffered. This was
because the new entrants were primarily competing with these banks. In this context the

recent trends in the NPA profile of the players is interesting. In the past 3 years the
NPAs of the public sector banks have been falling while those of private and foreign

banks have been rising. It appears that intense competition in a small segment of the

market is pushing private and foreign banks to take excessive risks. A more definite
picture on this trend will emerge over the coming years. However, the “systemic

stability test” points towards the dangers of excessive competition and the need to be

cautious.

475 Inadequate Risk Management Practices

The foregoing discussion has focused on systematic issues. The level of NPAs varies
vious that some banks are better able to manage credit risks

8reatly among banks. It is ob
n others. This underscores the importance of

in the fact of existing constraints tha
k management should be proactive

. . , 'S
Internal, risk management systems 1 banks. Ri
among banks can further improve their

rather than reactive. Information networking

lisk Management abilities.

176 Lack of prudential regulation

n financial statements present

Risk Mmanagement practices can be effective only whe
The income recognition norms being followed by

ACcurate picture of the level of risk. ‘
income earned on bad debts in their book

banks 1y i d recognition of
to 1992-93 involved I
prior to 199 reflect the level of bad debts

inancial statements did not

ON an accrual basis. Thus, their f
o of their health. This allowed the situation to

Ad presented a misleading 105y pictur

degenerate considerably pefore it was detected.
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48 NPA in INDIAN BANKS- THE PUBLIC VS PRIVATE BANKS DEBATE

481 Background

In this part of the chapter we attempt to explore a very common issue of discussions on
various economic forums. The issue is about the NPA levels in Public and Private sector
banks and trying to test the validity of the argument that the private banks have
outperformed the public sector banks when it comes to the NPA levels. The private

banks, especially the new generation private banks have been here for almost a decade

now and it would be just appropriate to see their levels of NPAs. Time and again it has

been said that when it comes to the level of Non Performing Assets, the private sector

banks have managed to keep it down to a respectable level. With their team of
C C o

Professional managers and the state of the art credit appraisal systems, they have been
able to keep a check on the NPA level. The public sector bank because of their faulty
credit practices and no sound credit appraisal system already carried a huge legacy of

NPAs and it came to the surface only when the Narsimham Committee on financial

reforms made it mandatory for all banks to disclose their non performing assets

according to the international practice of NPA accounting. Also the public sector banks

were forced to lend to sectors such as Small-scale industries and other priority sectors

Which hag a higher chance of default given the very nature of these loans.

and are just a decade old and are mainly driven by

The private banks on the other h
a profit motive have been able to perform

Market, They are technology savvy and with

Very well in their earlier years just after inception. Although the m
ry nominal but then their target customers have

arket share that they

have cornered for themselves is still ve

been the niche segment. The most disturbin
e already been
ublic sector bank to have such a high level of NPAg

g thing about these private banks is that

althOugh " ow, they hav saddled with lots of Non Performjng
ey are sO new,

assets, It ig quite reasonable for a p ‘ o
d the overall business objectives but for a private

Blven their style of functioning an .
rming assets and that too in such quick time ig

banks ¢, have such levels of Non pecfo
olicy makers at these banks. In this part of

really alarming and a cause of concern for p

this very aspect of NPAs wherein an attempt would be

the chapter we try to look at
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made to see is the picture really gloomy for Public banks and how Private banks are

only marginally better when it comes to NPA levels (Swain, 2001).

According to the Economic Survey for 2002-03 tabled in Parliament, the gross and net
non-performing assets (NPASs) of commercial banks have been declining as ratios of
advances and total assets across all bank groups. During 2001-02 gross NPAs stood at

Rs.70,905 crore and net NPAs at Rs.35,546 crore which were 10.4 per cent and 5.5 per
cent of the gross advances respectively. They have been lower than gross NPAs at 11.4

per cent of advances and the net NPAs at 6.2 per cent of advances in the previous year
i.e. 2000-01 and 12.7 per cent and 6.8 per cent respectively in 1999-2000. The NPAs across
all commercial banks have also been declining when compared with their total assets.

During 2001-02 gross NPAs were lower at 4.6 per ce

in 2000-01 and 5.5 per cent in 1999-2000. The net NPA
nt in 1999-2000. The gross NPAs of

nt of the assets against 4.9 per cent
s to the assets also declined to 2.3%

in 2001-02 from 2.5 per cent in 2000-01 and 2.7 per ce
s and 4.9 per cent of assets were

Public sector banks at 11.1 per cent of gross advance
higher than those of private sector panks and foreign banks in India. The private banks

had 9.6 per cent NPAs to their advances and foreign banks had 5.4% at the end of 2001-

02. The gross NPAs of these banks were 4.
TeSpectively. The gross NPAS of Banks increased by Rs.7,164 crore to 70,905 crore in

2001-02 from Rs.63,741 crore in previous year:

4% and 2.4 per cent of their assets

The Survey noted that this increase was

Mainly on account of the inclusion of an amount of Rs.4,512 crore in the gross NPAs

“Onsequent to the merger of ICICI with ICICI Bank.

182 The Public Sector Banks: On a sticky wicket

The gross non-performing assets — loans defaulted by borrowers — of all commercial
ared to a whopping Rs 58,554 crore during the

b : .

anks (mCIuding public and prlvate) sO
815 cror
own and poor performance of the banking sector.

PSBs) have crossed the Rs 50,000 crore mark and

Year ended March 2001from Rs 50, e in the previous year, indicating the rising
|
®Vel of loan defaults, economic slowd
Q) .

 this, NPAs of public sector panks (

s , Rs 45,653 crore in 1999-2000, the R
hot up to Rs 51,710 crore In 2000-2001 from eserve

Bank of India said in a report released today The whopping Rs 6,000 crore jump in gross
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e o e e C sha
ars A hOﬂ l are O e

NPAs .
s was accounted by the State Bank of India (SBI) group. The largest co |
‘ ¢ mmercia

bank o5 = .
reported a Rs 3,000 crore rise in NPAs to Rs 18,641 crore from Rs 15,525
;D2D Crore.

I_IO\VGU:- .
er, the RBI report did not give individual NPA figures of other commercial
mercia

banks. *
S. 3 1 TS L .
The high level of NPAs is really a cause for concern. The quantum of rise i
rise in

NPA
S ]'] S o iy i
ast year was more when compared to previous years. The BHi and Banksniesd
G eed to

dot
ak(—_‘ NAQ ” - ’ .
measures urgently to bring down NPAs,” admitted a banker.

Alth oot
ough our analysis will primarily focus on Private Sector banks, we will start with
r 4 C l -1

Publi
ic sector banks and their problem of NPAs to get a comparative picture. Here is
: 2isa

PSBs. Public sector b
ate sector counterparts. These banks are likely

look
at the NPA levels of few anks (PSBs) have always been viewed

as th i i '
e poorer cousins of their priv

Candidates for the i ; '
government s new asset reconstruction program.

Tab
le 4.10: NPA and other related Gtatistics for some Public Sector Banks

2001-2002
Current Net NPAs NPAs NPAs Capital
BANKS market price as o, of total Gross Net adequacy
Dena B ks advances  Rscrores Rs crores ratio %
T~ Atk 12 163 1996 1227 7.6
Stat R 32 6.0 3722 2304 107
~ Bank of India 241 5.6 JEAREI ARSI N
Ban::b NAHanal Barik 49 5.3 4139 1810 10.7
Oiie of Baroda 59 5.1 ARG ToE e 1B
An d;ltal Bank of Commerce 46 3.2 951 453 11.0
Co ra Bank 16 2.5 524 237 10.6
COrPOIation Bank 116 2.3 587 253 17.9
Urtesy: Business Standard, Capital Market, (March, 2002)
d Progress of Banking in India for 1998-99, the net

ACC .
ording to the report on Trend an

NP
q As moved up from Rs 91,232 crore in 1997-
eclining trend of NPAs of comun s witnessed till the year 1997-98 could not

be .
Sustained in 1998-99, the r€P°

98 to Rs 24,211 crore in 1998-99. “The

ercial pank
t said. Analysts

ustrial slowdown
g it difficult to raise fresh resources to

said many companies defaulted on

the' "
Ir loan repayments due to the ind in the last two years. Many

Proj T
Jects are stuck and promoters were findin
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complete their projects. However, the gross NPA as a fraction of total assets declined to
6.7 per cent in 1998-99 from 7 per cent in 1997-98, while net NPAs as a percentage to

total assets declined from 3.3 per cent in 1997-98 to 3.1 per cent in 1998-99. The rise in

NPAs indicates that various measures undertaken by the banks and the RBI to eliminate

the menace of NPAs have not made any impact. The setting up of quasi-judicial body,

Debt Recovery Tribunals has also failed to make any progress in bringing down NPAs.

The RB] report claimed that there has been a marked improvement in the loan portfolio

‘ : - “hriority sector’. ~“Sector wise analysi
of public sector banks in the category of “priority sector’. ~*Sector e analysis of NPAs

of PSBs indicates that the share of NPAs of priority sector has declined from 50 per cent

at end March 1999, the report said. During the year

Atend March-1995 to 43.7 per cent
s to gross advances declined to 15.9

1998-99, the RBI report says, the level of gross NPA

Per cent in 1998-99 from 16 per cent in 1997-98 mainly on account of a marginal

eduction in sub-standard and doubtful assets and concomitant increase in standard
= C [e

: li tor banks sh
assets, According to the report, while the NPAs of public sector banks showed a

Marginal decline an increase was witnessed in all other bank groups. ““During the year
, C

1998-99, number of PSBs with net NPAs up to 10 per centincre
e of 10 per cent to 20 per cent declined by

ased by one to 18 and the

Mmber of banks with net NPAs in the rang

e t,f’ t_
One tq eight, with one bank continuing to show NPAs above 20 per cen he report

Saj ; also pointed out that in case of foreign
'd: The RBI's annual report on banking trends p

banks' those with net NPAs up to 10 per cent declined from
9 in the last year. The number of foreign

34 to 27 over the year and

preceding year. For old private sector banks, the number of them with the net NPAs
. Fo

be] 2000 while those above 20 per cent were 3

ow 10 inst 21 in 1999-
per cent was 17 as aga s done by the RBI shows that NPAs of

3 aga; alysi
8ainst nj] i o years. An analy
il in the last three Y on of public sector banks, the other

different bank gro ups showed that with the exceptl

i i during 1999-2000.
reign banks witnessed increases durmg 000

an
X 8roups - private sector and fo
NPA of public sector banks is more acute

, in some respects, the P ,
than, Private banks. b pth icture is somewhat blurred. The NPA was 6.7 per cent of
e banks, but the

ot 5.4 per cent for private sector banks and 2.2 per
amst -

V .
Nces for public sector banks ag
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cent for foreign banks in 2001. However, for the older private sector banks, that is, other
than those that started in the 1990s, the NPA was 7.3 per cent that is higher than the
public sector banks. These are average figures. Looking at figures of individual banks,
some of the private and foreign banks reflect a pathetic figure as compared to the public
sector. The highest level in public sector bank was in Dena Bank (18.29 per cent) and
four others have higher than 10 per cent. The highest figure among all banks was for a

foreign bank, Bank International Indonesia at 50.75 per cent and four other foreign

banks have more than 20 per cent. Among them Dresdner Bank, a German bank with

2405 per cent also figures. Three Indian private sector banks have more than 20 percent,
the highest being 23.70 per cent for Benares State Bank Ltd. Thus, public sector banks

have been able to manage their loans better than the private sector, including some of

the foreign banks.

4.8.3 Is Ownership Important

Of the total non performing stock o
almost 85%. The PSBs share in the total advance was

f 66.4 thousand crore in 2002, 56.5 thousand crore

was carried by Public sector banks,

only 75%, so clearly PSBs continue to perform worse than other groups. But, in terms of
ormance since 1999, they have actually out shown domestic,

their incremental perf
Privately owned banks. Incremental NPLs of PSBs between 1999 and 2002 amounted to
only 2.6% of their incremental gross loans during the period. As compared to this, non-
Nationalized domestic banks, excluding the new banks of the post reform period, had
Incremental NPLs amounting to 7% of incremental loans. The corresponding percentage
for newer privately owned banks is even higher, but is muddied by the merger. Thus,
e PSBs an inherited albatross of NPLs, their response

although public ownership gave th
een better than that of the non-nationalized

to the new regulatory environment has b
rprising. The connectedness that gave

banks. That this should be so is not altogether su

tise to the problem in PSBs in the first place could, in'obv
although such dilution of public ow

ar that acceleration of privatization is necessarily the

erse enable easier correction, at

.. ; nership as has take
least initially. By extension, P &

Place ig clearly welcome, it is not cle

way to go (Kamesan, 2002)-
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d capital markets during the nineties. The divested PSBs at 10.03% gross NPLs i
: S s in

2002, o
, outperformed even old private sector banks which remained at 11%. Although th
' e

Repor
port takes care to acknowledge that non-divested PSBs experienced the sharpest

decline :
e in NPLs, it concludes, “It was found empirically that in the case of Indian
C

bank;
in 4 e .
g sector, ownership did impinge on the efficiency of banks”. There is an implied

Cﬁusa]i r :
ty, running from divestment to performance, which is not supported by the

selecti
io : :
n process for divestment. Causality ran from performance to selection, certainly

s, which includes st
and Bank of India. OBC in particular, had

of five divested bank ar performers of the PSB group

SUCh
5 )
as Oriental Bank of Commerce

Consj . -
stently outperformed the old generation private sector banks and astonishingly

as well. The non-divested sample of fives on

SOme
of the new generation private banks
UCO Bank and Punjab and Sind Bank

the
other hand includes United Bank of India,

Whj
ch
are cases for poor performance-

484
4 On A Positive Note
t . .
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However the percent decline goes with a rise in the absolute levels of NPLs from 58.7
thousand crore in 1999 to 70.9 thousand crore in March 2002. The latter fieure include'

an extra 4.5 thousand crores on account of the merger of some of the noew privatelS
owned banks with the financial institution that spawned them. Even if this unwelcomz

transfer i i
is subtracted, there remains an absolute st
1 E stock of 66.4
4 thousand crore of gross

NPLs in March 2002, implying an addition of 7.7 thousand crores of non-performing

loans since 1999. The beast is yet far from tamed.

48.5 Poor Cousins: Old Generation Private Banks

The emergence of NPAs left these banks busy fire-fighting through the late 1990s. That

we .
vas when the best banks from both the public sector and the newly licensed segment

anks invested in technology, stealing a march

Crafted strategies to grow rapidly. These b
anks. The old private banks now look like poor

over others, including the old private b
sector banks such as HDFC and UTI Bank. The

Cousg A
Sins of the successful new private

w
0¢s of these banks stem from:

* Cost of funds: This is higher than that of public sector banks by 75-100 basis

points. The cost for such new entities as HDFC Bank is even lower. Importantly,

exible to the falling interest rate regime

their cost of funds has also not been as fl
ow-cost deposits accounted for

as the cost of funds for public sector banks. L
of the total deposits for old private banks. The ratios, for

nearly 23 per cent
per cent for SBI and 41 per cent even for a new bank

instance, were higher at 36
such as HDFC Bank.

¢ than that of public sector banks

* Wage costs: These are only marginally lowe

1ly higher than that of the new generation banks.

while being substantia

similar to what is seen in many afflicted public

2, only J&K Bank and Vysya Bank had a
per cent. For City Union Bank,

* NPAs: The level of net NPAs is

sector banks. At the end of March 200

net-NPA-to-net-advances level of less than 5
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i < : s. In

additi . :

ition, ATMs are helping new banks add saving bank customers and red
. educe

the cost of funds.

per branch is around 30 per cent lower

Lower business per branch: Business
t ; ; .
han that of public sector panks. The historical factor of larger proportion of

and rural areas is beginning to haunt the old private

b : ,
ranches in the semi-urban
ba . .

anks. In fact, growth n operating income was on an average lower than even
arch 2002. This can only

areas that are practically recording

3BI's n the o ended M be attributed to the spread of

b . :
ranch network in the semi-urban and rural

no growth because of the poor industrial climate.

g System

&
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B\QM 4,847 [5.6% 2.0% 64.7%
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on Gross NPAs

e and the discussion

formed everybody in the race to bring down

t have out per
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NPA lev )
vels. Except for ICICI Bank, which has to face huge NPAs because of the reverse
mer e r' - =
ger with its parent, all other banks have managed to keep it below 4%, which is

COH] a o o .
parable with International standards. But the other side of the picture is not so rosy

If y
ou | ; X : .
ook in absolute terms, these new generation private banks have already

accumulate o~
ulated more than Rupees 9 billion worth of NPAs and they have just completed a

dECad .
Gomg by just this fact, it 15 not a good sign for times ahead because these banks

W'@re .

all professionally managed, had the best of technology and with almost no

BOvern

, ment and political interventions. With all the freedom a bank would be looking

or, if o . o " 7
still you pick up such high levels of NPAs, it's not a positive signal. Moreover

their ;
I'in A .
cremental NPA levels have been increasing, a cause of worry for most of these

banks,

4.9 R
EADING BETWEEN THE LINES

Thug
We see that the scenario of NPAs is not s0 healthy when it comes to Indian banking

The amount of NPAs our banking

althg

u ;
8h the worldwide picture is even gloomier.
on for concern. We have also seen the reasons behind

SYstem ;
m

IS saddled with is a reas
are Loans to petroleum sector (Rs
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he main culprits
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huge levels and find out that t
nd to the infamous Enron power project (Rs
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1 institutions. This is
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down their NPA levels in the post reform period (the incremental NPA levels have

dropped to as low as 2% for some banks in this category). Actually some of them have

performed even better that these old generation private banks. However the analysis

vestment of nationalized banks and more teeth to them

also suggests a case for further di
assage of SARAFESI Act, 2002 the times

when it comes to asset recovery. With the p
ahead are going to be very promising for these banks and if the government removes the
legal hurdles and the ARC concept does click, these banks will be the banks of future.
However this does hold true for only some PSBs like Oriental Bank of Commerce, SBI,

maining like
n the overall performance of this category.

Corporation Bank etc whereas the re the UCO Bank, Indian Bank etc would

be a serious drag to these PSBs bringing dow
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target of bringi g
ging the gross NPA level of banks with an international
é al presence to 5

slow. The tw i i '
e two leading banks with an international presence Bank of Barod
< , Be of Baroda and State
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i e facts demonstrate i
that elght
years after

the .
commencement of reforms i1 1992 the problem is still far from being solved
g solved.
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this part of the Chapter, we examine the hypothesis that the problem of NP
0 As of

olved becauseé of improper sequencing of reforms. Th
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Indi
dian banks remain uns

g is being stressed by researchers and institutions such
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im

portance of proper sequencin

rim committee of the Board of Governors of tl
he

a
s IMF and the World Bank. The inte
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F, constituted in the aftermath of the
998.This communiqué

goutheast Asian currency and banking crisi
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stressed the importance of “orderly and
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ued a communiqué in 1
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the aegis of the IMF in July 1999
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poorly sequenced” liberalizat
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ntial shocks. In a conference orgamzed under

sequencing financial sector reforms. One of the
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Participants deliberated on the issue of
o the then Director, Financial Policy and
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peakers at this conference Gerard Caprl
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4.10. "
1 Analysis of Relevant Reform Measures

(e C

of an aili
dllln‘% banking s L 1 ( 1 en
£ ing sector (IM 001) The . i
\ F, 7 . These are: ¢ ontainment
phase when StGpS B
o] are

taken to 1|
hal 5 AT :
t the 5puad of the problem: a restructuring phase when instituti 1
- itutional,

f@llabil' 1
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d recapitalisation steps carried out:
g . and, a fundament
al reforms ph
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‘Nhen th
e deeper causes are addressed through long-term fundamental ref Tl
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other h
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damental reforms aim at creating conditions that ensure that the crisi
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s the impression that their bad debts lved by someone else.

nk legislation has not yet been

rms shows that ba
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panies Act Amend
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rmed. The crucial Sick Industrial Com
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re-look f
or the thi s A6 T
ird time in the past few years. In the aftermath of t
J £ ath of the bad debt
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aced by ' anks i
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The magnitude of NPAs in Indian banks continues to remain at a worrisome level.
Moreover, the trend of reduction in NPAs has reversed in the past two years .An
analysis of the sequencing of reforms measures carried out post 1992-93 reveals that a
large part of the fundamental reform required to tackle the problem of bad debts has
either just commenced last year or still on the anvil. It should have been scheduled much
earlier in the reform process since such fundamental reforms take a long time to
implement. This improper sequencing is precisely the reason why the NPAs’ problem
has become chronic in Indian banks. This analysis throws up suggestion for future
action by regulators and policy makers. One, legislative reforms are needed both to
contain the level of existing NPAs and to prevent building up of large NPAs in future.
Two, infrastructure reforms are needed to make DRTs effective. Three, a time reduction
in directed credit is required. The inclusion of new sectors in directed credit is required

The inclusion of new sectors in directed credit in 1998-99 is a step in the right direction.

Four, enactment of legislation against loan write-offs is needed. Five, the government
apitalization of banks which should aim at a

should announce a long term policy on ¢
8radual withdrawal of government assistance. These are measures that create an

nvironment conductive to preventive buildup of NPAs in the future.

AIong with the above fundamental reform measures, the resolution of existing NPAs in
propriate vehicles. If the setting up of as asset

banks should be carried out through ap
alternative plan

unce an
Teconstruction fund is not planned the government should anno

of action.
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411
TRIMMING THE NPA.... THE SARAFESI ACT, 2002

n]e S e
ecurit i . : .
isation and Reconstruction of Financial Assets and Enforcement of Securit
uril y

Intere
st i ; C
Ordinance, 2002, puts lending institutions in control when it comes to

fecover;

in o . : . ,

g money from defaulting companies. This ordinance establishes powers fo
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cr ¢ £
edlt()rs to ta}\(‘.’ over H‘lanagelﬂent COntl‘Ol Of a bOl‘I‘OWEl‘ Company 11p0n def"ll lt
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of courts in ¢
takes the judicial system out of the loan
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a 5 e b ¥
assets without the intervention ases where 75% of secured credito
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dE(j'
ide t . ;
o do so. This means that the ordinance

ducing the difficulties
an end to references made to BIFR under SICA

fecovery process f
ess for banks thus re and delays associated with debt

fecovery

| ry. Moreover, the ordinance puts
l.e_ Sh’ -

engthening the hands of the lending institutions. This ordinance has also

o of a default, and classification of an

Provid
ed a well-defined recovery timeline. In cas

an notify the defaulting company in writing to

asset
as a NPA, the lending institution €
e next 60 days after which it can explore other

fully g;
y discharge their liabilities within th

and asset disposal. Moreover, if the promoters

Options i :
s including management change
or the loans, their

inst the order but only

assets can also be attached and sold.

hav .
e
given personal guarantees f
after depositing 75% of the

Theb
. orrower can appeal in DRT, aga
oy ) : i i
mt claimed, This ordinance also prov1des lenders wide ranging powers for
applicable in cases where the

rdinance is not

reco
very through different means: The o
Rs. 100,000/~ and the amount due is less than

Value

209 of the security interest is 1ess than
% , ;
°of the principal and interest thereon (www.rbi.org-1m )

The
Act deals with three aspects:

ecured creditor (Banks/Financial

ty Interest by S

L Enforcement of Securl
Institutions)

2. Transfer of non- performing assets to Asset Reconstruction Company (ARC),
which will then dispose of thos¢ Jssets and realize the proceeds:

) for securitisation of assets-

To provide a legal framework

So
urce: www.rbi.org.in
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4.11.1 Working of an Asset Reconstruction Company (ARC)

Bank . :
nks can set up asset reconstruction companies (ARCs) to take over their NPAs at an
C C

a . .
ppropriate price, relieving them of the hassle of carrying worthless assets on their

balan
Ce s / : y ;
sheets. Moreover, they will have the power to seize and sell assets held as

C : .
ollateral, making loan recovery. The ARC reportedly would buy the problem assets of

bz : . ,
anks and issue units equal to asset value will be placed with the banks The units will be

carried i , ;
arried in the books of the bank at face value which will be the appraised value of the

loz — . :
an. These units will carry 100% capital requirements. Will the banks be able to write

back 5 .
ack provisions on loans transferred? Since the loan would move from its loan portfolio

to its j : =
its investmerit bogk. The ARC units have 10 be carried at book value until such time

t ’
hat they are redeemed. Will there be capit
praised value of the loan.

al gains for then ARC if they collect the NPA
and the recovery is over and above the ap

The loans taken over by the ARC will not be loss assets but primarily doubtful and sub-

st : s .
andard assets and companies in working condition. ARC will take on corporate loans

a .
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1 be Jifted off the backs 0
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b
urden of collecting loans wil
n for assets and liabilities

thei
eir efforts on marketing loans and t
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cover the outstanding against the loan.

beople, recovery agents, and the law courts to re

They are talking of Rs.50000 milli
A

RC. The cost of administering thes
and loss statement of ARC. The capital Inc
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COme and recovery as a profit on sale of asset?
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e loans will be booked as an expense in the profit

ome from interest if any will be booked as
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The collections from loans recovered will go t
RF will make a tidy profit and plough

t :
fe price at which the asset was bought then the A
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4.11,
2 Issues to be Addressed
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Chapter 5
INTERNET BANKING
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Internet Transactions
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dre . .
m therefore well suited for Internet channel delivery. However, closing of a home
Orteq _
8 8e and per%onal financial plarming are complex transactions, which typically
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longer 1
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Pro-active services to Web users who tend to be an institution’s most profitable

us ;
tomers and cost effective target marketing.

The question raised at the beginning of this report was whether or not Internet banking
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Chapter 6
CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT

51INTRODUCTION

Cust
Omer . "
k has always been at the center stage of any business organization. Its capacity to
QEP the 1;
e : : , 4
lifeline running of business nouses can never be undermined. But, of late, as an
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al’e very -
uch visible and based on certain principles:

ake of Jiberal import policies and open doors

the £,

r

¢es of demand and supply- And in the W
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e as consu ade N1 e king 1n true

available to him mer have m

g new ones is P

m for the organiza

and opportunities
roving a tough challenge. As a

Sg
g old customers and winnin

Tesy] .
tions that want to grow in
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s due to unrecov
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2LITERATURE REVIEW
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